# AUTOMORPHIC FORMS ON UNITARY GROUPS

### E. E. EISCHEN

### Contents

1. Introduction	1
1.1. Why work with unitary groups?	4
1.2. Who is this manuscript for?	6
1.3. Acknowledgements	7
2. Unitary groups and PEL data	7
2.1. A first glance at unitary groups	8
2.2. PEL data	10
2.3. Weights and representations	18
3. Automorphic forms on unitary groups	19
3.1. As analytic functions on Hermitian symmetric spaces	19
3.2. As functions on a space of abelian varieties with PEL structure	21
3.3. As global sections of a sheaf	24
3.4. As functions on a unitary group	25
3.5. Representations of $G(\mathbb{A})$ and automorphic representations	29
3.6. <i>q</i> -expansions	30
4. Automorphic <i>L</i> -functions for unitary groups	31
4.1. <i>L</i> -functions	31
4.2. Strategy for proving algebraicity of certain values of <i>L</i> -functions	33
4.3. The doubling method, in the setting of unitary groups	36
4.4. The doubling method, revisited from the perspective of algebraic geometry	44
4.5. Algebraicity of Eisenstein series	46
5. Project: Producing examples of automorphic forms on unitary groups	47
5.1. Inspiration from Siegel modular forms	47
5.2. Constructing vector-valued automorphic forms on unitary groups	48
References	50
Index	58

# 1. INTRODUCTION

This manuscript and the accompanying lectures have two main purposes:

- (1) Introduce automorphic forms on unitary groups from several perspectives.
- (2) Illustrate some strategies in number theory (especially concerning algebraicity of values of automorphic L-functions), exploiting the fact that structures associated to unitary groups provide a convenient setting in which to work.

The author is grateful for support from NSF Grant DMS-1751281. This manuscript is currently a work in progress. It was last updated on March 4, 2022. Please send feedback to eeischen@uoregon.edu.

We start with some familiar examples. Since it can be easy to get bogged down in sophisticated machinery, it is prudent to keep some familiar, yet relevant, examples in mind from the beginning. In the mid-1700s, Leonhard Euler proved that the values of the Riemann zeta series  $\zeta(s) = \sum_{n\geq 1} n^{-s}$  at positive even integers are algebraic (rational, in fact) up to a well-defined transcendental factor. More precisely, he proved that for each positive integer k,

$$\zeta(2k) = (-1)^{k+1} (2\pi)^{2k} \frac{B_{2k}}{2(2k)!},$$

where  $B_{2k} \in \mathbb{Q}$  is the 2*k*th Bernoulli number (the 2*k*th coefficient in the Taylor series expansion  $\frac{te^t}{e^t-1} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} B_n \frac{t^n}{n!}$ ). A century later, Ernst Kummer proved that far beyond merely being rational, the numbers  $-\frac{B_{2k}}{2k}$  arising in the values of  $\zeta(2k)$ , which turn out to be the values at 1-2k of the analytic continuation of  $\zeta(s)$ , satisfy striking congruences mod powers of a prime number p [Kum51]. Rather than viewing these properties as a cute curiosity, Kummer was interested in information they encoded about cyclotomic fields. Indeed, he showed that p does not divide the class number of the cyclotomic field  $\mathbb{Q}(e^{2\pi i/p})$ if and only if p does not divide the numerators of the Bernoulli numbers  $B_2, B_4, \ldots, B_{p-3}$ , in which case he could prove special cases of Fermat's Last Theorem [Kum50a, Kum50b].

The Riemann zeta function is the Dirichlet L-function attached to the trivial character, but one could also ask what happens if we replace the trivial character by, say, some nontrivial algebraic character. In this case, once again, we obtain algebraic values at certain integer inputs, and the values have algebraic meaning. Furthermore, in the twentieth century, these L-functions began to play a significant role in Galois-theoretic statements. For example, picking up where Kummer had left off a century earlier, Kenkichi Iwasawa linked the behavior of Galois modules over towers of cyclotomic fields to p-adic zeta functions (padic analytic functions encoding the congruences first observed by Kummer). It turned out that the congruences observed by Kummer encoded not only information about the sizes of class groups but also about structures of collections of class groups, viewed as Galois modules [Iwa69a, Iwa69b].

So far, our discussion has only concerned *L*-functions attached to characters, but automorphic forms on unitary groups are already lurking nearby. From class field theory, we have a correspondence between Hecke characters and representations of abelian Galois groups. In fact, a Hecke character of  $\mathbb{A}_L^{\times}$ , the ideles of a number field *L*, is an automorphic form on  $GL_1(\mathbb{A}_L)$  or, equivalently when *L* is a CM field, on idelic points of the general unitary group GU(1) of rank one. In other words, we have a correspondence between Galois representations of abelian extensions and automorphic forms (and of their *L*-functions), at least in this simple case. The values of such *L*-functions can be shown to be algebraic, up to a well-determined transcendental factor.

One of the most powerful techniques we have for proving such algebraicity results (as well as for proving analogues of Kummer's congruences) is to express the values of these L-functions in terms of modular forms, i.e. automorphic forms on  $GL_2$ . These are closely related to automorphic forms on the general unitary group GU(1,1) of signature (1,1), thanks to Isomorphism 4 below. It turns out that structural aspects of modular forms are useful for proving results about these L-functions, including about the rationality and congruences exhibited by their values at certain points. In the simplest example of this phenomenon, the rationality of  $\zeta(1-2k)$  follows from the rationality of the Fourier coefficients in the nonconstant terms in the Fourier expansion of the Eisenstein series of weight 2k and

level 1,

(1) 
$$G_{2k}(q) = \zeta(1-2k) + 2\sum_{n\geq 1}\sigma_{2k-1}(n)q^n,$$

where  $q = e^{2\pi i z}$ , z is a point in the upper half plane, and  $\sigma_{2k-1}(n) = \sum_{d|n} d^{2k-1}$ . This is the simplest implementation of an idea of Erich Hecke (that was later fleshed out by Helmut Klingen and Carl Siegel, as explained in [BCG20, Section 1.3] and [IO06]) to study algebraicity of values of zeta functions by exploiting properties of Fourier coefficients of modular forms [Kli62, Sie69, Sie70].

Moving a step further, we could investigate properties of the values of a Rankin-Selberg convolution of a weight k holomorphic cusp form  $f(q) = \sum_{n\geq 1} a_n q^n$  that we assume to be primitive (i.e.  $a_1 = 1$  and f is a common eigenfunction of the Hecke operators of level N) and a weight  $\ell < k$  holomorphic modular form  $g(q) = \sum_{n\geq 0} b_n q^n$  with algebraic Fourier coefficients  $a_n$  and  $b_n$  for all n. That is, we consider the zeta series

$$D(s, f, g) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{a_n b_n}{n^s}.$$

Goro Shimura proved that for all integers  $k, \ell, m$  satisfying  $\ell < k$  and  $\frac{k+\ell-2}{2} < m < k$ ,

(2) 
$$\frac{D(m, f, g)}{\langle f, f \rangle} \in \pi^k \bar{\mathbb{Q}}$$

where  $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}$  denotes an algebraic closure of  $\mathbb{Q}$  and  $\langle , \rangle$  denotes the Petersson inner product [Shi76, Theorem 3]. A key step in proving Expression (2) is to express the values of D(s, f, g) as a Petersson inner product involving an Eisenstein series. More precisely, Shimura and Robert Rankin proved in [Shi76, Ran52] that

(3) 
$$D(k-1-r,f,g) = c\pi^k \langle \tilde{f}, g \delta_{\lambda}^{(r)} E \rangle,$$

where  $c = \frac{\Gamma(k-\ell-2r)}{\Gamma(k-1-r)\Gamma(k-\ell-r)} \frac{(-1)^r 4^{k-1}N}{3} \prod_{p|N} (1+p^{-1})$  (with N the level of the modular forms), E denotes a particular holomorphic Eisenstein series of weight  $\lambda \coloneqq k - \ell - 2r$  and level N,  $\tilde{f}(z) \coloneqq \overline{f(-\bar{z})}$ , and  $\delta_{\lambda}^{(r)}$  is a Maass-Shimura differential operator that raises the weight of a modular form of weight  $\lambda$  by 2r. In fact,  $\delta_{\lambda}^{(r)}E$  is also an Eisenstein series but, unlike the Eisenstein series we have encountered so far in this manuscript, is not holomorphic (although it is nearly holomorphic). Expression (2) then follows from the algebraicity of the Fourier coefficients of the Eisenstein series E, the fact that the Maass-Shimura operator preserves certain properties of algebraicity, and the decomposition over  $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}$  of the space of level N modular forms of weight k into an orthogonal basis of cusp forms (so the pairing in Equation (3) becomes a scalar multiple of  $\langle f, f \rangle$ ). In Section 4, we will see a vast extension of this idea of expressing L-functions in terms of Eisenstein series (and other automorphic forms) to glean information about rationality properties of the values of L-functions.

Much more broadly, one might ask about analogous behavior for L-functions associated to other arithmetic data. In the 1970s, Pierre Deligne formulated vast conjectures about certain values of L-functions at integer points [Del79]. His conjectures concern L-functions attached to motives M, which include L-functions attached to algebraic Hecke characters (i.e. the example mentioned above) and to holomorphic modular forms (the next natural example to consider, given their connection with 2-dimensional Galois representations). Roughly speaking, he conjectured that if an integer m is critical for the motive M, then L(m, M) is a rational multiple of a period associated to M. The details of how to formulate

our aforementioned results about Artin L-functions in this setting are the subject of [Del79, Section 6]. More generally, though, this conjecture extends well beyond the low-dimensional examples discussed so far. In parallel with the case mentioned above, Ralph Greenberg also extended Iwasawa's conjectures (concerning *p*-adic aspects) to this more general setting [Gre89, Gre91, Gre94]. Meanwhile, the Bloch–Kato conjectures predict the meaning of the order of vanishing at s = 0 of L(s, M) [BK90].

Given that we just named three significant sets of conjectures about L-functions, it is natural to seek tools to prove them. At present, our main route is through automorphic forms and automorphic representations (generated by automorphic forms). That is, rather than dive in and prove such conjectures directly for the data to which the L-functions are attached, the most fruitful approach to date has been to work with automorphic forms associated to that data. In our familiar examples above, we saw that automorphic forms on  $GL_1$  and  $GL_2$  played key roles. We also noted, though, that we could instead view these automorphic forms as being defined on unitary groups. In fact, it turns out that the relative simplicity of the above cases (relative to aspects of the higher-dimensional situation, which is absolutely not a suggestion that the already sophisticated 1- and 2-dimensional cases should be considered simple!) obscures the fact that unitary groups can be more effective than  $GL_n$  (the group with which most people would probably be inclined to start) for extending certain techniques from dimensions 1 and 2 to higher-dimensional settings.

1.1. Why work with unitary groups? Unitary groups form a particularly convenient class of groups with which to work, due to certain algebraic and geometric properties. In particular, in analogue with the case of modular curves in the setting of modular forms, unitary groups have associated moduli spaces with integral models. This enables us to study algebraic aspects of automorphic forms (which arise as sections of vector bundles over Shimura varieties, in analogue with modular forms that arise as sections of a line bundle over modular curves). While the locally symmetric spaces for  $GL_n$  for  $n \ge 3$  lack the structure of Shimura varieties, systems of Hecke eigenvalues for  $GL_n$  can be realized in the cohomology of unitary Shimura varieties [Clo91, Sch15, HLTT16, Shi11]. Related to this, we also have substantial additional results about Galois representations in this setting (e.g. [Ski12, Che04, Che09, CH13, Har10]), which enable us to study *L*-functions of Galois representations by instead studying *L*-functions of certain *cuspidal* automorphic representations.

In addition, thanks to representation-theoretic properties of unitary groups, we have convenient models for the *L*-functions associated to certain automorphic representations of unitary groups. These models are useful both for proving analytic properties and for extracting algebraic information (and even *p*-adic properties, as seen in [EHLS20]). In fact, additional automorphic forms (*Eisenstein series*, of which the function  $G_{2k}$  from Equation (1) is the simplest case) come into play in the study of these *L*-functions, so that we can eventually turn questions about *L*-functions into questions about properties of automorphic forms.

Working with unitary groups has enabled major developments (which go beyond the scope of these lectures but several of which are mentioned here as motivation for studying automorphic forms on unitary groups), including a proof of the main conjecture of Iwasawa Theory for  $GL_2$  [SU14] and the rationality of certain values of automorphic *L*-functions (including [Shi00, Har97, Har08, Har84, Gue16, GL16]), as well as progress toward cases of

the Bloch–Kato conjecture (including [SU06, Klo09, Klo15, Wan19]), and the Gan–Gross– Prasad conjecture (many recent developments, including [Xue14, Xue19, Zha14, Liu14, Yun11, JZ20, He17, BP20, BPLZZ21]).

Because of their well-established power but also because many challenges remain, automorphic forms on unitary groups continue to play a significant role in research in number theory. Current research spans a variety of topics. In addition to applications to sophisticated problems like those mentioned above, there are also fundamental challenges associated with studying unitary Shimura varieties themselves (which arise independently of the automorphic theory but substantially impact the automorphic theory and associated L-functions). While unitary groups are related to symplectic groups and there is overlap in approaches to the two classes of groups, unitary groups generally present more challenges (including in terms of geometry, e.g. as documented in [RSZ21] and [EM21b]) than one sees in the symplectic setting. At a more basic-sounding level, there is still much progress to be made even for computing examples on low-rank unitary groups (although some progress has been made under certain conditions, e.g. in [Loe08, Wil21]).

Given all this, this manuscript and the accompanying lectures focus on the following topics:

- Introduction to automorphic forms on unitary groups from several perspectives (including analytic, algebraic, and geometric), as well as connections between those perspectives
- Aspects of *L*-functions associated to certain automorphic representations of unitary groups, with a view toward algebraicity results
- Constructions of examples of automorphic forms on unitary groups

1.1.1. Why present this particular set of topics (and not others) here? One could fill hundreds of pages discussing automorphic forms and their roles (even if one restricts to unitary groups) and still have a lot of ground left to cover. For this manuscript, the author has aimed to select a cohesive and relevant collection of topics that give readers a taste of some fundamental parts of this area while also meeting three key criteria:

- (1) These topics have arisen repeatedly in recent research developments, including those carried out by this manuscript's author.
- (2) These topics are closely tied to questions that the author gets asked.
- (3) These topics are appropriate for graduate students and others getting started in this area.

To assist readers who hope to explore further, this manuscript cites many papers that go into further details about specific topics. There are also a number of excellent, more extensive resources (such as books) that cover a lot of related material on automorphic forms, and readers are also encouraged to delve into those resources, for example [GH19, Bel09, Bum97, aut, Shi00, CHLN11].

Given the three key criteria here, those familiar with the author's research might wonder why the manuscript barely mentions p-adic automorphic forms and p-adic methods. While p-adic methods meet (at least) the first two key criteria, it is imperative to understand the basics of analytic and algebraic aspects of automorphic forms on unitary groups before moving on to the p-adic setting. An additional prerequisite for successfully working with padic automorphic forms is a strong understanding of p-adic modular forms (the  $GL_2$  setting), which is at odds with the focus of this workshop (namely, the beyond  $GL_2$  setting). In fact, as discussed in [Eis21, Section 1], all known constructions of p-adic L-functions appear to be

adaptations of the specific techniques employed in the proof of the algebraicity of the values of the corresponding *L*-function. (For example, Serre's approach to proving Kummer's congruences and constructing *p*-adic zeta functions in [Ser73b] builds directly on the ideas of Hecke, Klingen, and Siegel employing the constant terms of Eisenstein series summarized above. For additional examples, see Remark 4.2.3.) So this manuscript covers a subset of the prerequisites necessary for embarking on a study of *p*-adic methods for automorphic forms on unitary groups.

One advantage of several of the topics presented here is that the broad strategies or ideas here might be transferrable to other groups, even if the technical details of how to carry out those strategies are specific to the group at hand. For example, the recipe for proving algebraicity of critical values of L-functions employed by Michael Harris in the setting of unitary groups (including in [Har97, Har08]) has also been successfully adapted to certain other cases. Indeed, his strategy is an extension of the one introduced by Shimura for proving algebraicity of critical values of Rankin–Selberg convolutions of modular forms (on  $GL_2$ ) mentioned above. Technical ingredients (like Shimura varieties) that play a crucial role in Harris's work are not necessarily available for other groups, but nevertheless, the recipe can be inspiring for how to proceed in other settings. To give a specific example, note that the overall strategy for proving algebraicity of critical values of Spin L-functions for  $GSp_6$  in [ERS22] is an (admittedly substantial, when it comes to certain technical issues) adaptation of Harris's (and Shimura's) approach, even though this setting lacks what appear at first to be crucial ingredients from the unitary setting. Thus, while a primary goal is to prepare readers to work with automorphic forms on unitary groups, a significant secondary objective is to help readers gain some intuition that might apply more broadly.

1.2. Who is this manuscript for? This manuscript is for graduate students and others who are getting starting started doing research involving automorphic forms on unitary groups. It introduces aspects of some core topics that can serve as a launchpad for mathematicians hoping to explore further. The manuscript is especially aimed at those looking to understand connections between algebraic, geometric, and analytic aspects of automorphic forms on unitary groups.

Deservedly, there has been much recent attention on the setting of unitary groups. As questions received by this lecturer suggest, though, there is demand for an accessible entry point, as it can be challenging to enter such a developed and dynamic field. A key aim of this manuscript is to provide a welcoming entrance to some of the extensive work in this area. Exercises related to the material presented here can be found in the problem sets prepared by Lynnelle Ye.

1.2.1. Recommended material to learn first. This manuscript is written for readers who are already familiar with automorphic forms on  $GL_2$ , i.e. modular (and Hilbert modular) forms. You will get the most out of this manuscript if you already know about modular forms and some of their uses in various settings. This includes the classical analytic perspective (e.g. as in [Ser73a, Chapter VII] and [Kob93, Chapter III]), the algebraic geometric perspective (e.g. as in [Kat73, Section 1] and [Gor02, Chapters 1 and 2]), and the automorphic or representation-theoretic perspective (e.g. as in [Gel75] and [Bum97]). Not knowing some of this background material will not be problematic, but not knowing most of it will make it difficult to have the intuition necessary to follow portions of the material presented here. If you find that you need to develop your understanding of the  $GL_2$  setting further before proceeding, there are also other excellent resources for learning the fundamentals of modular forms, including [Miy06, DS05, DI95, BvdGHZ08, Ste07, RS17] and the online resources from the Arizona Winter Semester 2021: Virtual School in Number Theory.<sup>1</sup>

If you know the  $GL_2$  case well, then you will have the intuition necessary to pause periodically and think about how the material presented here specializes to the n = 1 case. Especially when you are stuck, it can be useful to specialize to the setting of modular forms to see what insight that more familiar setting offers. Sometimes this will be particularly helpful (for instance, when studying algebraicity of values of *L*-functions, which follows from an extension of Shimura's approach in the setting of modular forms). Even in cases where the n = 1 case is too simple to offer much insight into the case of higher rank groups (e.g. singular forms are just constant functions in the n = 1 case), it can still offer a helpful reality check along the way. What might at first look like abstract formalities or a mess of heavy notation<sup>2</sup> will often instead become a natural extension of what you already know from the setting of modular forms for  $GL_2$ .

1.3. Acknowledgements. This manuscript would not be possible without the expertise and perspective I gained while working with my collaborators on research projects concerning automorphic forms on unitary groups. In particular, I would like to thank Ana Caraiani, Jessica Fintzen, Maria Fox, Alex Ghitza, Michael Harris, Jian-Shu Li, Zheng Liu, Elena Mantovan, Angus McAndrew, Chris Skinner, Ila Varma, and Xin Wan. Conversations I had with each of these collaborators substantially shaped my understanding of automorphic forms on unitary groups. I am especially grateful to Mantovan for her insightful answers to my questions about geometry, which have clarified my understanding of some of the geometric aspects of the material presented here. I am also especially grateful to Skinner and Harris, as well as my postdoctoral mentor Matthew Emerton, for helping me get started in this area and patiently answering my questions. I hope that this manuscript serves as a resource for some of their (and others') future students (and perhaps saves them from some of the tedious sort of questioning to which I subjected them when I did not have access to such a written resource).

I am grateful to the people who provided feedback on portions of earlier versions of this manuscript, including Utkarsh Agrawal, Francis Dunn, Maria Fox (who is also a discussion leader for this course), Sean Haight, Andy Huchala, Angus McAndrew, Phil Moore, Yogesh More, Sam Mundy (who is also the project assistant for this course), Samantha Platt, Wojtek Wawrów and Lynnelle Ye (who also wrote problem sets that accompany the Arizona Winter School lectures). I am also grateful to the organizers of the Arizona Winter School (Alina Bucur, Bryden Cais, Brandon Levin, Mirela Ciperiani, Hang Xue, and David Zureick-Brown) for organizing the workshop and inviting me to be a lecturer.

## 2. UNITARY GROUPS AND PEL DATA

Before introducing automorphic forms on unitary groups, it is prudent to establish some basic information about unitary groups and PEL data. This section includes properties of associated moduli spaces and certain representations that will occur in our definitions of automorphic forms in Section 3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>https://www.math.arizona.edu/~swc/aws/2021/index.html

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>To help readers keep track of the notation, this manuscript includes an index.

2.1. A first glance at unitary groups. Readers who are already familiar with unitary groups are encouraged to skip this short introduction to unitary groups and start with Section 2.2, where we associate a unitary group to PEL data. This section briefly introduces unitary groups to make sure all readers, including beginners, start off having seen at least basic definitions of the groups with which we work.

Let K be a quadratic imaginary extension of a totally real field  $K^+$ . Let V be an *n*-dimensional vector space over K, and let  $\langle,\rangle$  be a nondegenerate K-valued Hermitian pairing on V, i.e.  $\langle,\rangle: V \times V \to K$  is linear in the first variable and conjugate-linear in the second variable, and

$$\langle v, w \rangle = \overline{\langle w, v \rangle}$$

for all v and w in V. Note that we can linearly extend any such Hermitian pairing to a  $K^+$ -algebra S and the S-module  $V \otimes_{K^+} S$ .

**Definition 2.1.1.** The unitary group associated to  $(V, \langle, \rangle)$  is the algebraic group  $U := U(V, \langle, \rangle)$  whose S-points, for each  $K^+$ -algebra S, are given by

$$U(S) = \left\{ g \in GL_{K \otimes_{K^+} S}(V \otimes_{K^+} S) \mid \langle gv, gw \rangle = \langle v, w \rangle \right\}.$$

This is a group scheme defined over  $K^+$ . Given  $g \in U(S)$ , we define  $g^{\dagger}$  to be the unique element of U(S) such that

$$\langle gv, w \rangle = \langle v, g^{\dagger}w \rangle$$

for all  $v, w \in V$ . Note that since  $\langle , \rangle$  is nondegenerate, we also have that  $gg^{\dagger}$  is the identity element in U, and

$$g^{\dagger\dagger} = g.$$

(We have  $\langle v, g^{\dagger \dagger}w \rangle = \langle g^{\dagger}v, w \rangle = \overline{\langle w, g^{\dagger}v \rangle} = \overline{\langle gw, v \rangle} = \langle v, gw \rangle$ . The fact that  $\langle, \rangle$  is nondegenerate then shows  $g = g^{\dagger \dagger}$ .)

**Definition 2.1.2.** The subgroup  $SU \coloneqq SU(V, \langle, \rangle)$  of the unitary group U with determinant 1 is called a *special unitary group*. (It is a subgroup of the special linear group.)

The unitary group U is a subgroup the group of unitary similated defined as follows.

**Definition 2.1.3.** The general unitary group or unitary similitude group or group of unitary similitudes associated to  $(V, \langle, \rangle)$  is the algebraic group  $GU \coloneqq GU(V, \langle, \rangle)$  whose S-points, for each  $K^+$ -algebra S, are given by

$$GU(S) = \left\{ g \in GL_{K \otimes_{K^{+}} S}(V \otimes_{K^{+}} S) \mid \langle gv, gw \rangle = \nu(g) \langle v, w \rangle, \nu(g) \in GL_{1}(S) \right\}$$

The homomorphism  $\nu: GU \to GL_1$  is called a *similitude factor*.

We have an exact sequence

$$1 \to U \to GU \xrightarrow{g \mapsto \nu(g)} GL_1 \to 1.$$

Sometimes (e.g. when realizing GU as an algebraic group), it is convenient to identify GU with the group of tuples

$$\left\{ (g,\nu(g)) \in GL_{K\otimes_{K^+}S}(V\otimes_{K^+}S) \times GL_1(S) \mid \langle gv,gw \rangle = \nu(g)\langle v,w \rangle \right\}.$$

If we choose an ordered basis  $v_1, \ldots, v_n$  for V, then we may identify  $\langle , \rangle$  with an  $n \times n$ matrix A with coefficients in S and V with  $K^n$  (via  $v_i \mapsto e_i$  with  $e_i$  the *i*-th standard basis vector, viewed as a row vector for the moment), via

$$\langle v_i, v_j \rangle = {}^t e_i A e_j.$$

Note that our convention in this manuscript is always to write the superscript t on the left side of the matrix of which we are taking the transpose.

Remark 2.1.4. If  $S = \mathbb{R}$ , then an ordered choice of basis identifies  $V \otimes_{K^+} \mathbb{R}$  with  $\mathbb{C}^n$ , viewed for the moment as row vectors. If  $\langle , \rangle$  is a Hermitian pairing on V, then there is a Hermitian matrix A (i.e.  $A = A^* := {}^t \overline{A}$ , where the lefthand superscript  ${}^t$  denotes the transpose and  ${}^$ denotes the complex conjugate) such that

$$\langle v, w \rangle = vAw^*$$

for all  $v, w \in V$ . After a change of basis, the Hermitian matrix corresponding to the nondegenerate pairing  $\langle , \rangle$  can be written in the form

$$I_{a,b} \coloneqq \begin{pmatrix} 1_a & 0\\ 0 & -1_b \end{pmatrix},$$

with a + b = n. The tuple (a, b) is called the *signature* of  $\langle , \rangle$ . If ab = 0, we say the unitary group preserving  $\langle , \rangle$  is *definite*.

When a = b, we can also choose a basis with respect to which the matrix corresponding to  $\langle , \rangle$  is  $i\eta$ , where

$$\eta \coloneqq \eta_a \coloneqq \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -1_a \\ 1_a & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

When the group under consideration has signature (a, b), it is conventional to write SU(a, b), U(a, b), or GU(a, b). Sometimes, this notation is reserved for the group of matrices preserving  $I_{a,b}$  if  $a \neq b$  and  $\eta_n$  if a = b, and this is the convention we will employ going forward. It is also conventional to write U(A) for the matrix group preserving a Hermitian matrix A (and SU(A) for the subgroup of matrices of determinant 1 and GU(A) for the corresponding similitude group).

In Section 2.2, we will introduce groups G and  $G_1$  that are defined over  $\mathbb{Q}$  and are closely related to  $\operatorname{Res}_{K^+/\mathbb{Q}} GU$  and  $\operatorname{Res}_{K^+/\mathbb{Q}} U$ , respectively. (Given a group H defined over  $K^+$ ,  $\operatorname{Res}_{K^+/\mathbb{Q}}$  denotes the restriction of scalars functor, i.e.  $(\operatorname{Res}_{K^+/\mathbb{Q}} H)(S) \coloneqq H(S \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} K^+)$  for each  $\mathbb{Q}$ -algebra S.) Note that

$$(\operatorname{Res}_{K^+/\mathbb{Q}} GU)(\mathbb{R}) \cong \prod_{\tau:K^+ \hookrightarrow \mathbb{C}} GU(a_{\tau}, b_{\tau}) (\operatorname{Res}_{K^+/\mathbb{Q}} U)(\mathbb{R}) \cong \prod_{\tau:K^+ \hookrightarrow \mathbb{C}} U(a_{\tau}, b_{\tau}).$$

In this case, the signature is the tuple  $(a_{\tau}, b_{\tau})_{\tau}$ . Given such a tuple (a, b), we write  $U_{a,b}(\mathbb{R})$  for  $\prod_{\tau} U(a_{\tau}, b_{\tau})$  (and similarly for  $SU_{a,b}$  and  $GU_{a,b}$ ). If the unitary group is definite of signature (n, 0) or (0, n), we often write n in place of the pair (n, 0) or (0, n).

2.1.1. A close relationship between  $GL_2$  and GU(1,1). In Section 1, we noted that automorphic forms on GU(1,1) and  $GL_2$  are closely related. Later, we will see that the symmetric space for GU(1,1) is a finite set of copies of the upper half plane (the symmetric space for  $GL_2$ ). There is also a close relationship between automorphic forms on GU(1,1) and modular forms. The relationship stems from the isomorphism

(4) 
$$GU(1,1) \cong \left(GL_2 \times \operatorname{Res}_{K/K^+} \mathbb{G}_m\right) / \mathbb{G}_m,$$

where  $\mathbb{G}_m$  is embedded as  $\alpha \mapsto (\operatorname{diag}(\alpha, \alpha), \alpha^{-1})$  and, following the usual convention,  $\mathbb{G}_m$  denotes the multiplicative group.

2.1.2. Unitary groups over local fields. Above, we defined the signature of a unitary group associated to a Hermitian pairing  $\langle , \rangle$  on a  $\mathbb{C}$ -vector space. More generally, we will encounter  $V_v := V \otimes_{K^+} K_v^+$ , where v is a finite place of  $K^+$ . If v splits as  $w\bar{w}$  in K, then the decomposition

$$K \otimes_{K^+} K_v^+ \cong K_w \oplus K_{w^c}.$$

induces a decomposition  $V_v = V_w \oplus V_{\bar{w}}$ . Note that the nontrivial element of  $\text{Gal}(K/K^+)$  swaps the two summands in the direct sum here, and  $U(K_v^+)$  fixes each summand. Furthermore, still assuming that v splits as  $w\bar{w}$  in K, we get isomorphisms

(5) 
$$U(K_v^+) \cong GL_n(K_w) \cong GL_n(K_v^+).$$

On the other hand, in the case where v is inert,  $K_w/K_v^+$  is a quadratic extension of p-adic fields (for v a prime over (p)), in which case the structure is described in, e.g., [Har07b, Section 1].

2.2. **PEL data.** In this section, we introduce *data of PEL type*, along with corresponding moduli spaces. In analogue with the setting of modular forms, which can be viewed as sections of a line bundle over a modular curve (a moduli space of elliptic curves with additional structure), we will later define automorphic forms as sections of a vector bundle over a higher-dimensional generalization of the modular curve (namely Shimura varieties, which serve as moduli spaces for certain abelian varieties with additional structure). As we shall see in Section 2.2.3, the data of PEL type introduced below correspond to a moduli problem.

In analogue with the moduli problem of classifying pairs consisting of an elliptic curve and a level structure, our moduli problem concerns tuples of abelian varieties with not only a level structure but also additional structures (polarization and endomorphism). Similarly to the case of modular forms, realization of our automorphic forms in terms of algebraic geometry will enable us to work over base rings (and schemes) beyond just  $\mathbb{C}$ . This is essential for considering questions about algebraicity or rationality.

For an excellent introduction to Shimura varieties, the reader is encouraged to consult [Lan20]. Note that because we are concerned with unitary groups in this manuscript, we have specialized from the beginning to PEL data that will correspond to unitary Shimura varieties. For detailed references specific to the case of unitary groups, the reader is encouraged to consult [Kot92, Section 5] and [Lan20, Section 5.1].

We consider tuples  $\mathfrak{D} \coloneqq (D, \star, \mathcal{O}_D, V, \langle, \rangle, L, h)$  consisting of:

• A finite-dimensional semisimple  $\mathbb{Q}$ -algebra D, each of whose simple factors has center CM field K

- A positive involution \* on D over  $\mathbb{Q}$ , by which we mean an anti-automorphism (i.e. reverses the order of multiplication in D) of order 2 such that  $\operatorname{trace}_{D\otimes_{\mathbb{Q}}\mathbb{R}}(xx^*) > 0$  for all nonzero  $x \in D \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \mathbb{R}$
- A \*-stable  $\mathbb{Z}$ -order  $\mathcal{O}_D$  in D
- A nonzero finitely generated left D-module V
- A nondegenerate Q-valued alternating form (, ) on V such that  $\langle bv, w \rangle = \langle v, b^*w \rangle$  for all  $b \in D$  and  $v, w \in V$
- A lattice  $L \subseteq V$  preserved by  $\mathcal{O}_D$  that is self-dual with respect to  $\langle , \rangle$ .
- A \*-homomorphism  $h : \mathbb{C} \to \operatorname{End}_{D \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \mathbb{R}}(V \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \mathbb{R})$  (and by \*-homomorphism, we mean an  $\mathbb{R}$ -algebra homomorphism such that  $h(z)^* = h(\overline{z})$  for all  $z \in \mathbb{C}$ ), such that the symmetric  $\mathbb{R}$ -linear bilinear form  $\langle \cdot, h(i) \cdot \rangle$  on  $V_{\mathbb{R}} := V \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \mathbb{R}$  is positive definite

Remark 2.2.1. To see that the pairing  $(\cdot, \cdot) \coloneqq \langle \cdot, h(i) \cdot \rangle$  is symmetric, observe that for all  $v, w \in V$ ,

$$(v,w) \coloneqq \langle v,h(i)w \rangle = \langle h(-i)v,w \rangle = -\langle h(i)v,w \rangle = \langle w,h(i)v \rangle = (w,v).$$

Such a tuple  $\mathfrak{D}$  is called a *PEL type datum* or a *datum of PEL type*. This is the setup given in [Kot92, Section 5]. (N.B. Because we have specialized to the unitary case and so are, for example, excluding the Siegel case, we have required that K be a CM field and not a totally real field.) One can also consider an *integral PEL datum*, as in, for example, [Lan20, Section 5.1.1]. To distinguish the previous case from the integral case, we sometimes call the previous case a *rational* PEL datum. In the integral case, we consider tuples  $(\mathcal{O}, *, L, \langle, \rangle, h)$  consisting of:

- An order  $\mathcal{O}$  in a finite-dimensional semisimple  $\mathbb{Q}$ -algebra D
- A positive involution \* on  $\mathcal{O}$
- A  $\mathcal{O}$ -module L that is finitely generated as a  $\mathbb{Z}$ -module
- A nondegenerate pairing  $\langle , \rangle : L \times L \to 2\pi i \mathbb{Z}$  such that  $\langle bv, w \rangle = \langle v, b^*w \rangle$  for all  $b \in \mathcal{O}$ and  $v, w \in L$
- A \*-homomorphism  $h : \mathbb{C} \to \operatorname{End}_{\mathcal{O} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{R}} (L \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{R})$  such that the symmetric  $\mathbb{R}$ -linear bilinear form  $(2\pi i)^{-1} \langle \cdot, h(i) \cdot \rangle$  on  $L \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{R}$  is positive definite.

To our integral PEL datum, following [Lan20, Section 5.1.3], we attach a group scheme G over  $\mathbb{Z}$  whose R-points, for each ring R, are given by

(6) 
$$G(R) \coloneqq \{(g, r) \in \operatorname{End}_{\mathcal{O} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} R}(L \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} R) \times R^{\times} \mid \langle gv, gw \rangle = r \langle v, w \rangle \text{ for all } v, w \in L \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} R \}.$$

Remark 2.2.2. Note that from an integral PEL type datum, one obtains a (rational) PEL datum as above by tensoring the integral data with  $\mathbb{Q}$  (and renormalizing the bilinear forms). As explained in [Lan20, Section 5.1.1], in the moduli problem that we will discuss below, rational PEL data are most naturally suited to working with isogeny classes of abelian varieties, while integral PEL data are most readily suited to the language of isomorphism classes of abelian varieties.

Let  $K^+$  be the fixed field of \*. Then  $K/K^+$  is a quadratic imaginary extension. Let

 $n = \dim_K V.$ 

Note that  $V_{\mathbb{C}} \coloneqq V_{\mathbb{R}} \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C}$  decomposes as

$$V_{\mathbb{C}} = V_1 \oplus V_2,$$

where  $V_1$  is the submodule on which h(z) (more precisely,  $h(z) \times 1$ ) acts by z and  $V_2$  is the submodule on which h(z) (more precisely,  $h(z) \times 1$ ) acts by  $\overline{z}$ . The reflex field E of  $\mathfrak{D}$  is

defined to be the field of definition of the isomorphism class of the  $\mathbb{C}$ -representation  $V_1$  of D. For more details about how to view the reflex field and its geometric significance, see [Lan20, Section 5.1.1] or [Lan13, Section 1.2.5].

Remark 2.2.3. Let p be a prime number. For defining PEL type moduli problems over  $\mathcal{O}_{E,(p)}$ , it is also useful to replace our PEL datum with a *p*-integral PEL datum, i.e. (as in [Lan20, Equation (5.1.2.2)]) ( $\mathcal{O} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Z}_{(p)}, *, L \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Z}_{(p)}, \langle, \rangle, h$ ) with  $L \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$  required to be self-dual under the resulting Hermitian pairing on  $L \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Q}_p$  and  $p + \text{Disc}(\mathcal{O})$ .

Note that the involution \* on D induces an involution on  $C := \operatorname{End}_D(V)$ . To the PEL datum  $\mathfrak{D}$ , we associate an algebraic group G over  $\mathbb{Q}$  whose R-points are given by

$$G(R) = \{ x \in C \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} R \mid xx^* \in R^{\times} \}$$

for any  $\mathbb{Q}$ -algebra R. Note that this agrees with the definition of G coming from the integral PEL data in Equation (6). The *similitude factor* of G is the homomorphism

$$\nu: G \to \mathbb{G}_m$$

defined by  $g \mapsto gg^*$ . We let  $G_1$  be the group whose R-points are given by

$$G_1(R) \coloneqq \ker(\nu) = \{ x \in C \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} R \mid xx^* = 1 \}$$

2.2.1. Decompositions and signatures associated to PEL data. Following the conventions and perspective of [EM21a, Section 2.1.5], we briefly summarize some key decompositions and define the signature of a PEL datum. While these decompositions are basic and the definition of signature occurs in each of the author's papers in this area, it apparently took many iterations (for this author, at least) to arrive at what feels like an "optimally" concise and useful setup for them, hence the citation of a relatively recent paper for this background material.

For any number field L, we let  $\mathcal{T}_L$  denote the set of embeddings  $L \hookrightarrow \mathbb{Q}$ . Given  $\tau \in \mathcal{T}_L$ , we denote its composition with complex conjugation by  $\tau^*$ . Going forward, we fix a *CM type*  $\Sigma_K$  for K (i.e.  $\Sigma_K \subseteq \mathcal{T}_K$  contains a choice of exactly one representative from each pair of complex conjugate embeddings  $\tau, \tau^* \in \mathcal{T}_K$ ).

The decomposition  $K \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \mathbb{C} = \bigoplus_{\tau \in \mathcal{T}_K} \mathbb{C}$  (identifying  $a \otimes b$  with  $(\tau(a)b)_{\tau \in \mathcal{T}_K}$ ) induces decompositions

$$V_i = \bigoplus_{\tau \in \mathcal{T}_K} V_{i,\tau}, \text{ for } i = 1, 2$$
$$V_{\mathbb{C}} = \bigoplus_{\tau \in \mathcal{T}_K} V_{\tau},$$

with  $V_{\tau} = V_{1,\tau} \oplus V_{2,\tau}$  for all  $\tau \in \mathcal{T}_K$ . Here, the subscript  $\tau$  denotes the submodule on which each  $a \in K$  acts as scalar multiplication via  $\tau(a)$ .

**Definition 2.2.4.** The signature of the unitary PEL datum  $\mathfrak{D}$  is  $(a_{\tau})_{\tau \in \mathcal{T}_{K}}$ , where

$$a_{\tau} \coloneqq \dim_{\mathbb{C}} V_{1,\tau}$$

for all  $\tau \in \mathcal{T}_K$ . We also sometimes speak of the *signature* at  $\tau \in \Sigma_K$  or at  $\sigma \in \mathcal{T}_{K^+}$ , by which we mean  $(a_{\tau}, a_{\tau^*})$ , given the unique  $\tau \in \Sigma_K$  such that  $\tau|_{K^+} = \sigma$ . For such  $\tau \in \Sigma_K$ , we also sometimes set  $a_{\sigma}^+ \coloneqq a_{\tau}^+ \coloneqq a_{\tau}$  and  $a_{\sigma}^- \coloneqq a_{\tau}^- \coloneqq a_{\tau^*}$ . It is also common to write  $(a_{\tau}, b_{\tau})$  in place of  $(a_{\tau}, a_{\tau^*})$ .

Note that for each  $\tau \in \mathcal{T}_K$ , we have

$$a_{\tau} + a_{\tau^*} = n.$$

More generally, we record some basic facts about decompositions of modules that will be useful to us later. Given a number field L, we denote by  $L^{\text{Gal}}$  the Galois closure of Lin  $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}$ , and we denote by  $\mathcal{O}_L$  the ring of integers in L. If R is an  $\mathcal{O}_{K^+\text{Gal}}$ -algebra and the discriminant of  $K^+/\mathbb{Q}$  is invertible in R, then we have an isomorphism

$$\mathcal{O}_{K^+} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} R \xrightarrow{\sim} \oplus_{\tau \in \mathcal{T}_{K^+}} R$$
$$a \otimes r \mapsto (\tau(a)r)_{\tau \in \mathcal{T}_{K^+}}.$$

Given an  $\mathcal{O}_{K^+} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} R$ -module M and  $\tau \in \mathcal{T}_{K^+}$ , we denote by  $M_{\tau}$  the submodule on which each  $a \in \mathcal{O}_{K^+}$  acts as multiplication by  $\tau(a)$ , and we have an  $\mathcal{O}_{K^+} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} R$ -module isomorphism

$$M \to \bigoplus_{\tau \in \mathcal{T}_{K^+}} M_{\tau}$$

If R is, furthermore, an  $\mathcal{O}_{K^{\text{Gal}}}$ -algebra, then we can further decompose M as

$$M = \oplus_{\tau \in \mathcal{T}_K} M_\tau = \oplus_{\tau \in \Sigma_K} M_\tau \oplus M_{\tau^*} = \oplus_{\sigma \in \mathcal{T}_{K^+}} M_\sigma^+ \oplus M_\sigma^-,$$

where for each  $\tau \in \mathcal{T}_K$ ,  $M_{\tau}$  denotes the submodule of M on which each element  $a \in \mathcal{O}_K$  acts via scalar multiplication by  $\tau(a)$ , and for each  $\sigma \in \mathcal{T}_{K^+}$ ,  $M_{\sigma}^+$  (resp.  $M_{\sigma}^-$ ) is the submodule of  $M_{\sigma}$  on which each element  $a \in \mathcal{O}_K$  acts as multiplication by  $\tau(a)$  (resp.  $\tau^*(a)$ ) for  $\tau \in \Sigma_K$ the unique element of  $\Sigma_K$  such that  $\tau|_{K^+} = \sigma$ . For such  $\tau \in \Sigma_K$ , we also sometimes write  $M_{\tau}^\pm$  in place of  $M_{\sigma}^\pm$ .

2.2.2. *PEL data arising from unitary groups.* Following the conventions of [EHLS20, Section 2.2], we say that a PEL datum  $\mathfrak{D}$  like above is *of unitary type* if the following three conditions hold:

- $D = K \times \cdots \times K$ , i.e. D is a direct product of finitely many copies of K
- \* acts as complex conjugation on each factor K in  $D = K \times \cdots \times K$
- $\mathcal{O}_D \cap K$  is the ring of integers  $\mathcal{O}_K$  in K, where K is identified with its diagonal embedding in  $D = K \times \cdots \times K$

Fix a totally imaginary element  $\alpha$  of  $\mathcal{O}_K$ . As explained in [EHLS20, Section 2.3], given a collection of m unitary groups preserving Hermitian pairings  $\langle, \rangle_{V_1}, \ldots, \langle, \rangle_{V_m}$  on K-vector spaces  $V_1, \ldots, V_m$ , respectively, one can obtain a PEL datum  $\mathfrak{D} = (D, *, \mathcal{O}_D, V, \langle, \rangle, L, h)$  of unitary type as follows:

- Let  $D = K^m$ .
- Let \* be the involution on D that acts as complex conjugation on each factor K.
- Let  $\mathcal{O}_D = \mathcal{O}_K^m \subseteq K^m$ .
- Let  $V = \bigoplus_i V_i$ .
- Let  $\langle (v_1, \ldots, v_m), (w_1, \ldots, w_m) \rangle = \sum_i \langle v_i, w_i \rangle_i$ , where

$$\langle , \rangle_i \coloneqq \operatorname{trace}_{K/\mathbb{O}} (\alpha \langle , \rangle_{V_i})$$

- Let  $L = \oplus L_i$ , where  $L_i \subseteq V_i$  is an  $\mathcal{O}_K$ -lattice such that  $\langle L_i, L_i \rangle \subseteq \mathbb{Z}$ .
- Let  $h = \prod_i h_i : \mathbb{C} \to \operatorname{End}_{K^+ \otimes_{\mathbb{O}} \mathbb{R}} (V \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \mathbb{R}) = \prod_i \operatorname{End}_{K^+ \otimes_{\mathbb{O}} \mathbb{R}} (V_i \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \mathbb{R})$ , where

$$h_i: \mathbb{C} \to \operatorname{End}_{K^+ \otimes_{\mathbb{O}} \mathbb{R}}(V_i \otimes_{\mathbb{O}} \mathbb{R})$$

is defined by  $h_i = \prod_{\tau \in \Sigma_K} h_{i,\tau} : \mathbb{C} \to \operatorname{End}_{K^+ \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \mathbb{R}}(V_i \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \mathbb{R}) = \prod_{\tau \in \Sigma_K} \operatorname{End}_{\mathbb{R}}(V_i \otimes_{K,\tau} \mathbb{C})$ and

$$h_{i,\tau}: \mathbb{C} \to \operatorname{End}_{\mathbb{R}}(V_i \otimes_{K,\tau} \mathbb{C})$$

is defined as follows. Choose an ordered basis

(7)

 ${\mathscr B}$ 

for  $V_i \otimes_{K,\tau} \mathbb{C}$  with respect to which the matrix for  $\langle , \rangle$  is of the form diag $(1_r, -1_s)$ (with r and s dependent on i and  $\tau$ ), and identify  $V_i \otimes_{K,\tau} \mathbb{C}$  with  $\mathbb{C}^{r+s}$ , as well as  $\operatorname{End}_{\mathbb{R}}(V_i \otimes_{K,\tau} \mathbb{C})$  with  $M_{(r+s)\times(r+s)}(\mathbb{C})$ , via this choice of basis. We then define

$$h_{i,\tau}(z) = \operatorname{diag}(z \mathbf{1}_r, \overline{z} \mathbf{1}_s)$$

for each  $z \in \mathbb{C}$ .

2.2.3. Moduli problem. In this section, we will describe a moduli problem that classifies abelian varieties together with the structure of a *polarization*, *endomorphism*, and *level structure*. The letters *PEL* above are an abbreviation for *Polarization*, *Endomorphism*, *Level structure*, part of the data in this moduli problem. The moduli problem here is analogous to the one encountered in the context of modular forms, where we classify elliptic curves with level structure. To define a moduli space in our setting, we also need to include a polarization and endomorphism, although these extra structures will generally not come into play much later in this manuscript. Our formulation here most closely follows the conventions in [CEF<sup>+</sup>16, Section 2.2], [EHLS20, Section 2.1], and [Lan20, Section 5.1].

Let G be as in Equation (6), and let  $\mathcal{K}$  be an open compact subgroup of  $G(\mathbb{A}_f)$ , where  $\mathbb{A}_f$  denotes the finite adeles in the adeles  $\mathbb{A}$  over  $\mathbb{Q}$ .

We first consider the moduli problem that associates to each pair (S, s) consisting of a connected, locally Noetherian scheme S over E and a geometric point s of S the set of equivalence classes of tuples  $(A, \lambda, \iota, \eta)$  consisting of:

- An abelian variety A over S of dimension  $g \coloneqq n[K^+ : \mathbb{Q}]$  (where n is the dimension of the K-vector space V in the PEL datum  $\mathfrak{D}$ )
- A polarization  $\lambda : A \to A^{\vee}$  (where  $A^{\vee}$  denotes the dual abelian variety)
- An embedding  $\iota : \mathcal{O}_D \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Q} \to \operatorname{End}(A) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Q}$  of  $\mathbb{Q}$ -algebras that satisfies the *Rosati* condition, i.e.

$$\lambda \circ \iota(b^*) = (\iota(b))^{\vee} \circ \lambda$$

for all  $b \in \mathcal{O}_D$ 

• A  $\mathcal{K}$ -level structure  $\eta$ , i.e. a  $\pi_1(S, s)$ -fixed orbit of  $\mathcal{O}_D$ -linear isomorphisms

$$L \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{A}_f \to H_1(A, \mathbb{A}_f)$$

that maps  $\langle , \rangle$  to a  $\mathbb{A}_f^{\times}$ -multiple of the pairing on  $H_1(A, \mathbb{A}_f)$  defined by the  $\lambda$ -Weil pairing

In addition, we require that the above tuples satisfy *Kottwitz's determinant condition* (as explained in, for example, [Kot92, Section 5], [Lan13, Definition 1.3.4.1], and [CEF<sup>+</sup>16, Section 2.2]). Tuples  $(A, \lambda, \iota, \eta)$  and  $(A', \lambda', \iota', \eta')$  are considered *equivalent* if there is an isogeny  $\phi : A \to A'$  such that  $\lambda$  is a nonzero rational multiple of  $\phi^{\vee} \circ \lambda' \circ \phi$ ,  $\iota'(b) \circ \phi = \phi \circ \iota(b)$  for all  $b \in \mathcal{O}_D$ , and  $\eta' = \phi \circ \eta$ .

If  $\mathcal{K}$  is sufficiently small (or more precisely, if  $\mathcal{K}$  is *neat*, in the sense of [Lan13, Definition 1.4.1.8]), then this moduli problem is representable by a smooth, quasi-projective scheme  $M_{\mathcal{K}}$  over E. This is a result of [Lan13, Corollary 7.2.3.10] and [Kot92, Section 5], which also explain that a *p*-integral version of this moduli problem is representable by a smooth, quasi-projective scheme over  $\mathcal{O}_E \otimes \mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ . (N.B. Given a scheme S = Spec(R), we sometimes write R in place of Spec(R) when the meaning is clear from context.) More precisely,

assume that in addition to the conditions above,  $\mathcal{K} = \mathcal{K}^p \mathcal{K}_p$  with  $\mathcal{K}_p \subseteq G(\mathbb{Q}_p)$  hyperspecial. (i.e. We require that there exists a smooth group scheme  $\mathcal{G}$  that is a model of G over  $\mathbb{Z}_p$ , such that the special fiber  $\mathcal{G}$  is reductive, and such that  $\mathcal{K}_p = \mathcal{G}(\mathbb{Z}_p)$ , as discussed in much more detail in [GH19, Section 2.4]. For geometric motivation for the condition of being hyperspecial, see also [Mil92, Lan20]. For the origins, see Tits's original article in [Tit79].) Then there is a smooth, quasi-projective scheme  $\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{K}}$  over  $\mathcal{O}_E \otimes \mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$  that to each pair (S, s)consisting of a connected, locally Noetherian scheme S over  $\mathcal{O}_{E,(p)}$  and a geometric point s of S associates the set of equivalence classes of tuples  $(A, \lambda, \iota, \eta)$  (where tuples  $(A, \lambda, \iota, \eta)$ and  $(A', \lambda', \iota', \eta')$  are considered equivalent if there is a prime-to-p isogeny  $\phi$  meeting the conditions from above and furthermore  $\lambda$  is a nonzero prime-to-p multiple of  $\phi^{\vee} \circ \lambda' \circ \phi$ ) consisting of:

- An abelian variety A over S of dimension g
- A prime-to-*p* polarization  $\lambda : A \to A^{\vee}$  (where  $A^{\vee}$  denotes the dual abelian variety)
- An embedding  $\iota : \mathcal{O}_D \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Z}_{(p)} \hookrightarrow \operatorname{End}(A) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$  of  $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -algebras that satisfies the Rosati condition
- A  $\mathcal{K}^p$ -level structure  $\eta$ , i.e. a  $\pi_1(S, s)$ -fixed orbit of  $\mathcal{O}_D$ -linear isomorphisms

$$L \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{A}^{p,\infty} \xrightarrow{\sim} H_1(A, \mathbb{A}^{p,\infty})$$

that maps  $\langle , \rangle$  to a  $(\mathbb{A}^{\infty,p})^{\times}$ -multiple of the pairing on  $H_1(A, \mathbb{A}_f)$  defined by  $\lambda$ -Weil pairing

(The notation  $\mathbb{A}^{p,\infty}$  means the adeles away from p and  $\infty$ .) Once again, these tuples are also required to satisfy *Kottwitz's determinant condition* (as explained in, for example, [Kot92, Section 5], [Lan13, Definition 1.3.4.1], and [CEF<sup>+</sup>16, Section 2.2]). Note that  $\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{K}} \times_{\operatorname{Spec}\mathcal{O}_{E,(p)}}$ Spec $E = M_{\mathcal{K}}$ .

Remark 2.2.5. The condition that  $\mathcal{K}$  is *neat* guarantees the representability of our moduli problem by a smooth moduli space. For the purposes of this manuscript, the details of what it means to be neat are unimportant. For the sake of completeness, though, we briefly recall from [Lan13, Definition 1.4.1.8] that  $\mathcal{K}$  is defined to be neat if each of its elements  $g = (g_p)$ is neat. That is, the group  $\cap_p \epsilon_p$ , where  $\epsilon_p$  denotes the group of algebraic eigenvalues of  $g_p$ (viewed as an element of  $GL(L \otimes \mathbb{Q}_p)$ ), is torsion free.

2.2.4. Compactifications. The moduli spaces  $\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{K}}$  have toroidal compactifications (as proved in [Lan13]), over which one can define modular forms. There are also minimal compactifications of the spaces  $\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{K}}$ , as constructed in [Lan13] and summarized in [Lan20]. See [Lan20, Section 5.1.4] for a summary of key developments for compactifications leading up to Lan's work on toroidal and minimal compactifications in [Lan13], in particular connections with the earlier work of Gerd Faltings and Ching-Li Chai in the setting of Siegel moduli problems in [FC90, Chapters III–V].

2.2.5. Complex points and connection with Shimura varieties. We briefly summarize the connection between complex points of our moduli space  $M_{\mathcal{K}}$  and complex points of unitary Shimura varieties. Let  $\mathcal{H}$  be the orbit of h under conjugation by  $G(\mathbb{R})$ , and let  $\mathcal{K}_{\infty} \subseteq G(\mathbb{R})$  be the centralizer of h. We give  $\mathcal{H}$  the structure of a real manifold via the identification  $G(\mathbb{R})/\mathcal{K}_{\infty}$  with  $\mathcal{H}$  via  $g \mapsto ghg^{-1}$ . Furthermore, h induces a complex structure on  $\mathcal{H}$ . When  $(G, \mathcal{H})$  is a Shimura datum (in the sense of [Lan20, Section 2.3]), we say that  $(G, \mathcal{H})$  is called a *PEL-type Shimura variety*. (See [Lan20, Section 2.4] for an excellent introduction to Shimura varieties.)

Remark 2.2.6. As noted in [Lan20, Section 5.1.3], it is not necessarily the case that  $(G, \mathcal{H})$  is a Shimura datum. When  $\mathcal{O}$  is an order in an imaginary quadratic field, though,  $(G, \mathcal{H})$  is a Shimura datum,  $G(\mathbb{R}) \cong GU(a, b)$ , and  $\mathcal{H} \cong \mathcal{H}_{a,b}$ , where

(8) 
$$\mathcal{H}_{a,b} \coloneqq \left\{ z \in \operatorname{Mat}_{a \times b}(\mathbb{C}) \mid 1 - {}^{t} \overline{z} z > 0 \right\}.$$

with > 0 meaning positive definite and  $Mat_{a \times b}$  meaning  $a \times b$  matrices. For details, see [Lan20, Example 5.1.3.5].

Note that the complex points of  $Sh_{\mathcal{K}}$  can be identified with the double coset space

$$X_{\mathcal{K}} \coloneqq G(\mathbb{Q}) \setminus \left( \mathcal{H} \times G\left(\mathbb{A}_f\right) / \mathcal{K} \right),$$

with  $G(\mathbb{Q})$  acting diagonally on  $\mathcal{H}$  and  $G(\mathbb{A}_f)$  on the left and  $\mathcal{K}$  acting on  $G(\mathbb{A}_f)$  on the right, as detailed in [Kot92, Section 8] and [Lan20, Section 2]. Even if  $(G, \mathcal{H})$  is not a Shimura datum, there is an open and closed immersion

$$X_{\mathcal{K}} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{K}}(\mathbb{C}),$$

and there is an open and closed subscheme of  $\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{K}}$  that is an integral model of  $\mathrm{Sh}_{\mathcal{K}}$ . In our setting (i.e. the unitary setting),  $\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{K}}(\mathbb{C})$  is a disjoint union of finitely many copies of  $X_{\mathcal{K}}$ , as explained in [CEF<sup>+</sup>16, Section 2.3.2] and [Lan20, Section 5.1.3].

Following the conventions for terminology introduced in [EHLS20, Section 2.3], we call  $\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{K}}$  the moduli space (of PEL-type) and  $\mathrm{Sh}_{\mathcal{K}}$  the Shimura variety (of PEL type). Note that due to our insistence that the center of D be a CM field, we have actually narrowed the set of cases under consideration in this manuscript to the unitary setting (what is often called Type A), rather than the broader PEL setting (which includes symplectic and orthogonal groups as well).

Remark 2.2.7. Observe that each element  $h \in G(\mathbb{A}_f)$  acts on the right on  $\mathcal{H} \times G(\mathbb{A}_f)$  via  $(z,g) \mapsto (z,gh)$ , which induces a map

(9) 
$$[h]: X_{h\mathcal{K}h^{-1}} \to X_{\mathcal{K}}.$$

In turn, this provides a right action of  $G(\mathbb{A}_f)$  on the collection  $\{X_{\mathcal{K}}\}_{\mathcal{K}}$ , which is useful for relating these geometric spaces to automorphic representations. (This provides some motivation for this adelic formulation, which might otherwise seem unnecessary at first glance.)

We briefly review the structure of the double coset  $X_{\mathcal{K}}$ . For more details, see, e.g., [Lan20, Section 2.2]. It turns out that we can express  $G(\mathbb{A}_f)$  as a finite disjoint union

$$G(\mathbb{A}_f) = \sqcup_{i \in I} G(\mathbb{Q})^+ g_i \mathcal{K},$$

with  $g_i \in G(\mathbb{A}_f)$  indexed by a finite set I and  $G(\mathbb{Q})^+ \coloneqq G(\mathbb{Q}) \cap G(\mathbb{R})^+$  (with  $G(\mathbb{R})^+$  the connected component of the identity), and let  $\mathcal{H}^+$  be a connected component of  $\mathcal{H}$  on which  $G(\mathbb{R})^+$  acts transitively. Then (as in [Lan20, Equations (2.2.21)]), we have

$$X_{\mathcal{K}} = G(\mathbb{Q})^{+} \setminus (\mathcal{H}^{+} \times G(\mathbb{A}_{f})/\mathcal{K})$$
  
=  $\sqcup_{i \in I} G(\mathbb{Q})^{+} \setminus (\mathcal{H}^{+} \times G(\mathbb{Q})^{+} g_{i} \mathcal{K}/\mathcal{K})$   
=  $\sqcup_{i \in I} \Gamma_{i} \setminus \mathcal{H}^{+},$ 

where

$$\Gamma_i \coloneqq \left(g_i \mathcal{K} g_i^{-1}\right) \cap G(\mathbb{Q})^+.$$

As explained in [Lan20, Section 2.2], each  $\Gamma_i$  is a congruence subgroup of  $G(\mathbb{Z})$ , i.e.  $\Gamma_i$  contains the *principal congruence subgroup* (i.e. the kernel of  $G(\mathbb{Z}) \to G(\mathbb{Z}/N\mathbb{Z})$ ) for some positive integer N.

Remark 2.2.8. In the case of the usual upper half plane  $\mathfrak{h}$  and elliptic curves, we associate to each point  $z \in \mathfrak{h}$ , an elliptic curve whose complex points are identified with the torus  $\mathbb{C}/(\mathbb{Z}z + \mathbb{Z})$ . The analogue in our setting is as follows (and discussed in detail in [Shi00, Section 4]). Given a unitary PEL datum like above and  $z \in \mathcal{H}$ , Shimura defines map  $p_z$ (see [Shi00, Section 4.7] or [Eis12, Section 2.3.2]) so that  $\mathbb{C}^g/p_z(L)$  is an abelian variety, and he explains (in [Shi00, Theorem 4.8]) how to assign a polarization, endomorphism, and level structure so that  $\Gamma_{\mathcal{K}} \setminus \mathcal{H}$  classifies PEL tuples with level structure corresponding to  $\mathcal{K}$ . (Here,  $\Gamma_{\mathcal{K}} \coloneqq \mathcal{K} \cap GU^+(\mathbb{Q})$ .) For additional details on the moduli problem over  $\mathbb{C}$ , see also [Eis12, Section 2.3.2] or [Lan20, Sections 3.1.5 and 3.2]. For future reference, we note that if we choose a basis  $\mathscr{B}$  as in (7) and the lattice L is as in Section 2.2.2, then if the signature at each place is (n, n), we can define  $p_z : L^{[K^+:\mathbb{Q}]} \to \mathbb{C}^g$  by

$$p_z(x) = \left( [z_\tau 1]^t \bar{x}, [t_\tau 1_n]^t x \right)_{\tau \in \mathcal{T}_{K^+}}$$

for each  $x \in L$ .

2.2.6. Hermitian symmetric space associated to a unitary group. The symmetric domain  $\mathcal{H}$  for G as above (with signature  $(a_{\tau}, b_{\tau})$  for each  $\tau \in \Sigma_K$ ) is

$$\prod_{\tau \in \Sigma_K} \mathcal{H}_{a_\tau, b_\tau}$$

where  $\mathcal{H}_{a,b}$  is defined as in Equation (8). The group of elements  $g = (g_{\tau})_{\tau \in \Sigma_K} \in \prod_{\tau \in \Sigma_K} GU^+(a_{\tau}, b_{\tau})$ (where the superscript + denotes positive determinant) acts on  $z = (z_{\tau})_{\tau \in \Sigma_K} \in \prod_{\tau \in \Sigma_K} \mathcal{H}_{a_{\tau}, b_{\tau}}$ by

$$gz = (g_\tau z_\tau)_{\tau \in \Sigma_K},$$

where for

$$g_{\tau} = \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix}$$

with  $a \in GL_{a_{\tau}}(\mathbb{C})$  and  $d \in GL_{b_{\tau}}(\mathbb{C})$ , we have

$$g_{\tau}z_{\tau} \coloneqq (az_{\tau}+b)(cz_{\tau}+d)^{-1}.$$

The stabilizer of  $0 \in \mathcal{H}_{a_{\tau},b_{\tau}}$  is the product of definite unitary groups  $U(a_{\tau}) \times U(b_{\tau})$  embedded diagonally in  $U(a_{\tau},b_{\tau})$ . So we can identify  $\mathcal{H}_{a_{\tau},b_{\tau}}$  with  $U(a_{\tau},b_{\tau})/(U(a_{\tau}) \times U(b_{\tau}))$ .

In the case of definite unitary groups (i.e.  $a_{\tau}b_{\tau} = 0$  for all  $\tau$ ),  $\mathcal{H} = \prod_{\tau \in \Sigma_K} \mathcal{H}_{a_{\tau},b_{\tau}}$  consists of a single point, which parametrizes an isomorphism class of abelian varieties isogenous to  $a_{\tau} + b_{\tau}$  (which is the same for all  $\tau$ ) copies of a CM abelian variety, as explained in [Shi00, Section 4.8].

In the special case where  $a_{\tau} = b_{\tau} = n$  (i.e. the case considered by Hel Braun when she introduced Hermitian modular forms in [Bra49, Bra50, Bra51]), it is often convenient to work with an unbounded realization of the space  $\mathcal{H}$ , namely Hermitian upper half space:

(10)  
$$\mathcal{H}_{n} \coloneqq \left\{ Z \in \operatorname{Mat}_{n \times n}(\mathbb{C}) \mid i({}^{t}\bar{Z} - Z) > 0 \right\},$$
$$= \left\{ Z \in \operatorname{Mat}_{n \times n}(\mathbb{C}) = \operatorname{Herm}_{n}(\mathbb{C}) \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C} \mid \operatorname{Im}(Z) > 0 \right\}$$

where  $\operatorname{Herm}_n$  denotes  $n \times n$  Hermitian matrices and  $\operatorname{Im}(Z)$  denotes the Hermitian imaginary part.

Remark 2.2.9. The equality in Equation (10) follows from the identification

$$\operatorname{Mat}_{n \times n}(\mathbb{C}) \cong \operatorname{Herm}_{n}(\mathbb{C}) \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C}$$
$$Z \mapsto \operatorname{Re}(Z) + i \operatorname{Im}(Z)$$

with  $\operatorname{Re}(Z)$  and  $\operatorname{Im}(Z)$  the Hermitian real and imaginary parts, respectively, i.e.

$$\operatorname{Re}(Z) \coloneqq \frac{1}{2}(Z + {}^{t}\bar{Z})$$
$$\operatorname{Im}(Z) \coloneqq \frac{1}{2i}(Z - {}^{t}\bar{Z}).$$

The action here of  $GU(\eta_n)$  on  $\mathcal{H}_n$  is similar to the action given above on  $\mathcal{H}_{a,b}$ , i.e.  $g = \begin{pmatrix} A & B \\ C & D \end{pmatrix}$  acts on  $z \in \mathcal{H}_n$  by

$$gz = (Az + B)(Cz + D)^{-1}$$

The point 0 in  $\mathcal{H}_{n,n}$  corresponds to the point  $i1_n \in \mathcal{H}_n$ . Note that the stabilizer of  $i1_n \in \mathcal{H}_n$  is the product of definite unitary groups  $U(n) \times U(n)$  embedded diagonally in U(n,n). So we can identify  $\mathcal{H}_{n,n}$  with  $U(n,n)/(U(n) \times U(n))$ .

2.3. Weights and representations. We briefly summarize key information about weights and representations, following [EM21a, Section 2.2] and [EM21b, Sections 2.3–2.5]. We will use the conventions established here in our definitions of automorphic forms on unitary groups in Section 3.

The setup here is also similar to [EFG<sup>+</sup>21, Sections 2.1–2.2], and [EFMV18, Sections 2.3–2.4]. For a more detailed treatment, the reader might consult [Jan03, Chapter II.2] or [FH91, Sections 4.1 and 15.3]. Let H be the subgroup of  $G_1(\mathbb{C})$  that preserves the decomposition  $V_{\mathbb{C}} = V_1 \oplus V_2$ . Let B be a Borel subgroup of H, and let  $T \subset B$  be a maximal torus. A choice of basis for  $V_{\mathbb{C}}$  that preserves the decomposition  $V_{\mathbb{C}} = V_1 \oplus V_2$  identifies H with  $\prod_{\tau \in \Sigma_K} (GL_{a_{\tau}} \times GL_{a_{\tau^*}}) = \prod_{\tau \in \mathcal{T}_K} GL_{a_{\tau}}$ . We write  $H = \prod_{\tau} H_{\tau}$ ,  $B = \prod_{\tau} B_{\tau}$ , and  $T = \prod_{\tau} T_{\tau}$  (with each of these products over  $\tau \in \mathcal{T}_K$ ). We choose such a basis so that, furthermore,  $B_{\tau}$  is identified with the group of upper triangular matrices in  $GL_{a_{\tau}}$  for each  $\tau \in \mathcal{T}_K$ . Let  $N_B$  denote the unipotent radical of B.

We denote by  $X^* \coloneqq X^*(T)$  the group of characters of T. Via the isomorphism  $B/N_B \cong T$ , we also view  $X^*$  as characters of B. We define

$$X^{+} \coloneqq X^{+}(T) \coloneqq \left\{ (\kappa_{1,\tau}, \dots, \kappa_{a_{\tau},\tau})_{\tau \in \mathcal{T}_{K}} \in \prod_{\tau \in \mathcal{T}_{K}} \mathbb{Z}^{a_{\tau},\tau} \mid \kappa_{i,\tau} \ge \kappa_{i+1,\tau} \text{ for all } i \right\}.$$

We identify each tuple  $\kappa = (\kappa_{1,\tau}, \ldots, \kappa_{a_{\tau},\tau})_{\tau \in \mathcal{T}_K} \in X^+$  with the *dominant weight* in  $X^*$  defined by

$$\prod_{\tau \in \mathcal{T}_K} \operatorname{diag}(t_{1,\tau},\ldots,t_{a_{\tau},\tau}) \mapsto \prod_{\tau \in \mathcal{T}_K} \prod_{i=1}^{a_{\tau}} t_{i,\tau}^{\kappa_{i,\tau}}.$$

If  $\kappa_{i,\tau} \ge 0$  for all  $i, \tau$  and, furthermore  $\kappa_{i,\tau} > 0$  for some  $i, \tau$ , then we call  $\kappa$  positive.

Suppose R is a  $\mathbb{Z}_p$ -algebra or a field of characteristic 0. To each dominant weight  $\kappa$ , there is an associated representation  $\rho_{\kappa} = \rho_{\kappa,R}$  of H(R), which is obtained by application of a  $\kappa$ -Schur functor  $\mathbb{S}_{\kappa}$  (as explained in, e.g., [FH91, Section 15.3] and summarized in [EFMV18, Section 2.4.2]). We call  $\rho_{\kappa}$  the *the representation of (highest) weight*  $\kappa$ . If R is of characteristic 0 or of sufficiently large characteristic, the representation  $\rho_{\kappa}$  is irreducible (as explained in, e.g., [Jan03, Chapter II.2]). Given a locally free sheaf of modules  $\mathcal{F}$  over a scheme T, we denote by  $\mathbb{S}_{\kappa}(\mathcal{F})$  the locally free sheaf of modules defined by  $\mathbb{S}_{\kappa}(\mathcal{F})(\operatorname{Spec} R) :=$  $\mathbb{S}_{\kappa}(\mathcal{F}(\operatorname{Spec} R))$  for each affine open  $\operatorname{Spec} R$  of T.

Remark 2.3.1. In practice, the representations  $\rho_{\kappa}$  with which we work are built from compositions of tensor products, symmetric products, and alternating products. For an explicit description over  $\mathbb{C}$  of the highest weight representations and highest weight eigenvectors, see [Shi00, Section 12.6]. More generally, see also [CEF<sup>+</sup>16, Remark 3.5], which concerns any field of characteristic 0. In that setting,  $\rho_{\kappa}$  is isomorphic to

$$\operatorname{Ind}_{B^{-}}^{H}(-\kappa) = \left\{ f: N^{-} \setminus H \to \mathbb{A}^{1} \mid f(th) = \kappa(t)^{-1} f(h) \text{ for all } t \in T \right\}$$

where  $B^-$  is the opposite Borel, identified the group of lower triangular matrices, and  $N^-$  is its unipotent radical. Here,  $\rho(g)f(h) \coloneqq f(hg)$  for all  $g, h \in H$ .

### 3. Automorphic forms on unitary groups

In analogue with the case of modular forms on  $GL_2$ , there are various ways to define automorphic forms on unitary groups. Each formulation has its own merits, depending on what one is trying to do. We introduce the following viewpoints: analytic functions on the symmetric spaces  $\mathcal{H}$  (Section 3.1), functions on abelian varieties with PEL structure (Section 3.2), global sections of a sheaf on  $M_{\mathcal{K}}$  (Section 3.3), and functions on a unitary group (over  $\mathbb{R}$  in Section 3.4.2 and adelically in Section 3.4.3). We conclude the section with brief discussions of *q*-expansions (Section 3.6) and automorphic representations (Section 3.5).

3.1. As analytic functions on Hermitian symmetric spaces. We now introduce automorphic forms as analytic functions on Hermitian symmetric spaces, a generalization of the formulation of modular forms as functions on the upper half plane. This perspective was first introduced by Braun in [Bra49, Bra50, Bra51] and was widely employed by Shimura in many of his references, such as [Shi00, Section 5].

In this section, we set

$$\mathcal{H} = \prod_{\tau \in \Sigma_K} \mathcal{H}_{a_{\tau}, b_{\tau}}$$
$$GU_{a, b}^+(\mathbb{R}) \coloneqq \prod_{\tau \in \Sigma_K} GU^+(a_{\tau}, b_{\tau}).$$

**Definition 3.1.1.** Suppose  $mn \neq 0$ . The factors of automorphy or automorphy factors associated to  $g = \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} \in GU_{m,n}^+(\mathbb{R})$  and  $z \in \mathcal{H}$  at a place  $\tau \in \Sigma_K$  are:

- $\lambda_g(z) \coloneqq \lambda(g, z) \coloneqq (\bar{b}^t z + \bar{a})$  and  $\mu_g(z) \coloneqq \mu(g, z) \coloneqq (cz + d)$  if we work with the bounded domain  $\mathcal{H} = \mathcal{H}_{m,n}$
- $\lambda_g(z) \coloneqq \lambda(g, z) \coloneqq (\bar{c}^t z + \bar{d})$  and  $\mu_g(z) \coloneqq \mu(g, z) \coloneqq (cz + d)$  if we work with the unbounded domain  $\mathcal{H} = \mathcal{H}_n$  (and require m = n)

**Definition 3.1.2.** Suppose now that mn = 0. The factors of automorphy or automorphy factors associated to  $g = \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} \in GU_{m,n}^+(\mathbb{R})$  and  $z \in \mathcal{H}$  at a place  $\tau \in \Sigma_K$  are:

- $\lambda_g(z) \coloneqq \lambda(g, z) \coloneqq \overline{g}$  and  $\mu_g(z) \coloneqq \mu(g, z) \coloneqq 1$  if n = 0
- $\lambda_g(z) \coloneqq \lambda(g, z) \coloneqq 1$  and  $\mu_g(z) \coloneqq \mu(g, z) \coloneqq g$  if m = 0

**Definition 3.1.3.** The scalar factor of automorphy or scalar automorphy factor associated to  $g = \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} \in GU_{m,n}^+(\mathbb{R})$  and  $z \in \mathcal{H}$  at a place  $\tau \in \Sigma_K$  is:

$$j_g(z) \coloneqq j(g,z) \coloneqq \det(\mu(g,z))$$

*Remark* 3.1.4. Note that

$$\det(\lambda(g,z)) = \det(\bar{g})\nu(g)^{-n}j(g,z)$$

for all  $g \in GU_{m,n}^+(\mathbb{R})$  and  $z \in \mathcal{H}$ . We also note that

$$\lambda(gh, z) = \lambda(g, hz)\lambda(g, z)$$
$$\mu(gh, z) = \mu(g, hz)\mu(g, z)$$

for all  $g, h \in GU_{m,n}^+(\mathbb{R})$  and  $z \in \mathcal{H}$ .

For each  $g = (g_{\tau})_{\tau \in \Sigma_K}$  and  $z = (z_{\tau}) \in \prod_{\tau \in \Sigma_K} \mathcal{H}_{\tau}$ , we define  $M_g(z) \coloneqq M(g, z) \coloneqq (\lambda(g_{\tau}, z_{\tau}), \mu(g_{\tau}, z_{\tau}))_{\tau \in \Sigma_K}.$ 

*Remark* 3.1.5. We note that  ${}^{t}M_{\gamma}(z)$  maps the lattice  $p_{\gamma z}(L)$  from Remark 2.2.8 to  $p_{z}(L)$  and defines an isomorphism from  $\underline{A}_{\gamma z}$  to  $\underline{A}_{z}$  for each  $\gamma \in \Gamma_{\mathcal{K}}$ , .

Note that  $M_g(z) \in \prod_{\tau \in \Sigma_K} GL_{a_\tau}(\mathbb{C}) \times GL_{b_\tau}(\mathbb{C})$ . Let  $H(\mathbb{C}) = \prod_{\tau \in \Sigma_K} GL_{a_\tau}(\mathbb{C}) \times GL_{b_\tau}(\mathbb{C})$ , and let  $\rho : H(\mathbb{C}) \to GL(X)$  be an algebraic representation with X a finite-dimensional  $\mathbb{C}$ vector space. Following the conventions of [Shi00, Equations (5.6a) and (5.6b)], we define

$$(f \parallel_{\rho} g)(z) \coloneqq \rho(M_{g}(z))^{-1} f(gz)$$
$$f \mid_{\rho} g \coloneqq f \parallel_{\rho} \left(\nu(g)^{-1/2}g\right),$$

where  $\nu(g)^{-1/2}g := (\nu(g_{\tau})^{-1/2}g_{\tau})_{\tau \in \Sigma_K}$ . Let  $\Gamma$  be a congruence subgroup of  $GU^+(\mathbb{Q})$ .

**Definition 3.1.6.** With the conventions and notation above, we define an *automorphic* form of weight  $\rho$  and level  $\Gamma$  to be a function

 $f:\mathcal{H}\to X$ 

such that all of the following conditions hold:

- (1) f is holomorphic.
- (2)  $f \parallel_{\rho} \gamma = f$  for all  $\gamma \in \Gamma$ .
- (3) If  $K^+ = \mathbb{Q}$  and the signature is (1,1), then f is holomorphic at every cusp.

Remark 3.1.7. By Koecher's principle ([Lan16, Theorem 2.3 and Remark 10.2]), if we are not in the situation of Condition (3) (i.e.  $K^+ = \mathbb{Q}$  with signature (1,1)), then holomorphy at the boundary is automatic.

We will use the terminology *automorphic function* to refer to a function that meets each of the conditions of Definition 3.1.6, except possibly Condition (1).

Remark 3.1.8. The definition of automorphic form in [Shi00, Section 5.2] uses  $|_{\rho}$  in place of  $||_{\rho}$ . In the text following that definition, though, Shimura explains that he works almost exclusively with  $||_{\rho}$  in [Shi00]. Similarly, we will work with  $||_{\rho}$  here. Our choice in this manuscript is motivated by the fact that  $||_{\rho}$  is what arises naturally from algebraic geometry. So this definition will be consistent with our later algebraic geometric definition of *automorphic form*. Remark 3.1.9. In the case of signature (n, n), automorphic forms on unitary groups were first introduced by Hel Braun in [Bra49, Bra50, Bra51], where she considered them as functions on Hermitian symmetric spaces, in analogue with the formulation of Siegel modular forms as functions on Siegel upper half space. She called them *Hermitian modular forms*, in analogue with Siegel modular forms.

**Example 3.1.10.** It is instructive to compare the case of  $GL_2$  (i.e. the familiar case of classical modular forms) with the case of  $GSp_2$  and GU(1,1). What do you notice about the symmetric spaces in each of these cases? What do the automorphic forms on each of these groups have to do with each other?

**Example 3.1.11.** When K is a quadratic imaginary field and  $\langle, \rangle$  is of signature (2,1) on a K-vector space V, the group  $U(V, \langle, \rangle)$  is also called a *Picard modular group*, and the automorphic forms on it are called *Picard modular forms*.

3.2. As functions on a space of abelian varieties with PEL structure. In analogue with the case of modular forms, where we move from functions on the upper half plane to functions on a space of elliptic curves with additional structure, we now reformulate our definition of automorphic forms in terms of functions on a space of abelian varieties with additional structure. Given an abelian variety  $\underline{A} = \underline{A}_z$  (i.e. an abelian variety A together with a polarization, endomorphism, and level structure) parametrized by  $z \in \Gamma_{\mathcal{K}} \setminus \mathcal{H}$  (like in Remark 2.2.8) for some neat open compact  $\mathcal{K}$ , let

$$\underline{\Omega} \coloneqq \underline{\Omega}_{A/\mathbb{C}} = H^1(A, \mathbb{Z}) \otimes \mathbb{C}.$$

Note that the action of  $\mathcal{O}$  on  $\underline{\Omega}$  coming from h induces a decomposition

$$\underline{\Omega} = \underline{\Omega}^+ \oplus \underline{\Omega}^- = \oplus_{\tau \in \mathcal{T}_K} \underline{\Omega}_{\tau}$$

where  $\underline{\Omega}^{\pm} = \bigoplus_{\tau \in \Sigma_K} \Omega_{\tau}^{\pm}$  and the rank of  $\Omega_{\tau}^{\pm}$  is  $a_{\tau}^{\pm}$ , where  $(a_{\tau}^+, a_{\tau}^-)$  is the signature of the PEL data at  $\tau$ . For each  $\tau \in \mathcal{T}_K$ , we write  $\underline{\Omega}_{\tau}$  for  $\underline{\Omega}_{\tau}^+$  if  $\tau \in \Sigma_K$  and for  $\underline{\Omega}_{\tau}^-$  if  $\tau \notin \Sigma_K$ . Note that  $\mathcal{O}$  acts on  $\underline{\Omega}_{\tau}$  via  $\tau$ . For each  $\tau \in \mathcal{T}_K$ , we define

$$\mathcal{E}_A = \oplus_{\tau \in \mathcal{T}_K} \operatorname{Isom}_{\mathbb{C}}(\Omega_{\tau}, \mathbb{C}^{a_{\tau}}),$$

where  $(a_{\tau}, a_{\tau^*})$  is the signature at  $\tau$  for each  $\tau \in \Sigma_K$ . We have an action of  $H(\mathbb{C}) = \prod_{\tau \in \mathcal{T}_K} GL_{a_{\tau}}(\mathbb{C})$  on  $\mathcal{E}_A$  given by

$$((g_{\tau})_{\tau \in \mathcal{T}_{K}}(\ell_{\tau})_{\tau \in \mathcal{T}_{K}})((x_{\tau})_{\tau \in \mathcal{T}_{K}}) = (\ell_{\tau}({}^{t}g_{\tau}x_{\tau}))_{\tau \in \mathcal{T}_{K}}$$

for each  $(g_{\tau})_{\tau \in \mathcal{T}_K} \in H(\mathbb{C})$  and each  $(\ell_{\tau})_{\tau \in \mathcal{T}_K} \in \mathcal{E}_{\underline{A}}$ .

*Remark* 3.2.1. Note that the map  $p_z$  from Remark 2.2.8 induces a choice of basis for  $H_1(A_z, \mathbb{Z})$  (and hence an element  $\ell_z \in \mathcal{E}_{\underline{A}_z}$ ), via the identification of  $H_1(A_z, \mathbb{Z})$  with  $p_z(L)$ .

The following lemma is similar to  $[CEF^+16, Lemma 3.7]$ .

**Lemma 3.2.2.** Let  $\mathcal{K}$  be a neat open compact subgroup of  $GU(\mathbb{A}^{\infty})$ , and let  $\Gamma = \Gamma_{\mathcal{K}} := \mathcal{K} \cap GU^+(\mathbb{Q})$ . Let  $\rho : H(\mathbb{C}) \to GL(X)$  be an algebraic representation, with X a finitedimensional  $\mathbb{C}$ -vector space. There is a one-to-one correspondence between the following two sets:

• the set of X-valued automorphic functions f on  $\mathcal{H}$  of weight  $\rho$  and level  $\Gamma$ 

• the set of X-valued functions F on the set of pairs  $(\underline{A}, \ell)$ , with  $\underline{A}$  an abelian variety parametrized by  $\Gamma \setminus \mathcal{H}$  and  $\ell \in \mathcal{E}_A$ , that satisfy

(11) 
$$F(\underline{A},g\ell) = \rho({}^{t}g)^{-1}F(\underline{A},\ell)$$

for all  $g \in H(\mathbb{C})$ .

The bijection identifies such a function F of  $(\underline{A}, \ell)$  with the automorphic function  $f_F$  defined by  $f_F(z) = F(\underline{A}_z, \ell_z)$ .

*Proof.* Given a function F of  $(\underline{A}, \ell)$  as in the statement of the lemma, note that by Remark 3.1.5, we have

$$F(\underline{A}_{\gamma z}, \ell_{\gamma z}) = F(\underline{A}_{z}, {}^{t}M_{\gamma}(z)^{-1}\ell_{z}) = \rho(M_{\gamma}(z))F(\underline{A}_{z}, \ell_{z})$$

for all  $\gamma \in \Gamma$ . So the function  $f_F$  is well-defined (i.e. independent of the isomorphism class of  $\underline{A}$ ). Now, we define a map  $f \mapsto F_f$  that is inverse to the map  $F \mapsto f_F$ . Given  $\underline{A}$  parametrized by  $\Gamma_{\mathcal{K}} \setminus \mathcal{H}$ , let z be such that  $\underline{A}$  is isomorphic to  $\underline{A}_z$ , and let  $g \in H(\mathbb{C})$  be such that  $\ell = g\ell_z$ . It is straightforward now to check that given an automorphic function f as above, the function  $F_f(\underline{A}, \ell) \coloneqq \rho({}^tg)^{-1}f(z)$  satisfies Condition (11) and provides the desired inverse map.  $\Box$ 

Thus, we may view automorphic functions as certain functions that assign an element of X to each pair  $(\underline{A}, \ell)$ . Note that as an intermediate step in reformulating our modular functions, we could also have defined them as functions on lattices. For details of that perspective, see [Eis12, Theorem 2.4]. We can also define automorphic forms as certain rules that take complex abelian varieties as  $\underline{A}$  as input, which is the content of Lemma 3.2.3 and follows immediately from Lemma 3.2.2. First, though, we need to introduce the contracted product

$$\mathcal{E}_{\underline{A},\rho} \coloneqq \mathcal{E}_{\underline{A}} \times^{H} X \coloneqq \mathcal{E}_{\underline{A}} \times X / \sim,$$

where the equivalence  $\sim$  is given by

$$(\ell, v) \sim (g\ell, \rho({}^tg^{-1})v)$$

for all  $g \in H(\mathbb{C})$ .

**Lemma 3.2.3.** [Lemma 3.9 of [CEF<sup>+</sup>16]] Let  $\rho$ , X, K, and  $\Gamma$  be as in Lemma 3.2.2. There is a one-to-one correspondence between the following two sets:

- the set of X-valued automorphic functions f on  $\mathcal{H}$  of weight  $\rho$  and level  $\Gamma$
- the set of rules that assign to each point  $\underline{A}$  parametrized by  $\Gamma \backslash \mathcal{H}$  an element  $F(\underline{A}) \in \mathcal{E}_{\underline{A},\rho}$ .

The correspondence between F and  $\tilde{F}$  is given by  $(\ell, F(\underline{A}, \ell)) = \tilde{F}(\underline{A})$ .

Remark 3.2.4. Note that we could reformulate the elements  $\tilde{F}$  from Lemma 3.2.3 as the global sections of a vector bundle over  $\Gamma \setminus \mathcal{H}$ . When we formulate automorphic forms algebraic geometrically below, this is a perspective we will introduce.

For the algebraic theory, it will be useful to develop a definition of automorphic forms that also works over other base rings. Our formulation in terms of abelian varieties provides some inspiration for how we might extend our discussion to other base rings.

Remark 3.2.5. In this section, we will exclude the possibility of  $K^+ = \mathbb{Q}$  with signature (1,1) so that we do not need to worry about holomorphy at cusps (which is essentially the case of classical modular forms). In all other cases, holomorphy at cusps is automatic, as explained in Remark 3.1.7.

Let E' be a finite extension of E that contains  $\tau(K)$  for all  $\tau \in \mathcal{T}_K$ . For each scheme S over Spec  $(\mathcal{O}_{E',(p)})$ , we define

$$\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{K},S} \coloneqq \mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{K}} \times_{\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{O}_{E,(p)})} S$$

Following the conventions for decompositions introduced in Section 2.2.1, we can decompose the sheaf of relative differentials  $\underline{\Omega}_{A/S}$  of an S-point <u>A</u> of  $\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{K}}$  as

$$\underline{\Omega}_{\underline{A}/S} = \oplus_{\tau \in \mathcal{T}_K} \underline{\Omega}_{\underline{A}/S,\tau} = \oplus_{\sigma \in \mathcal{T}_{K^+}} \left( \underline{\Omega}_{\underline{A}/S,\sigma}^+ \oplus \underline{\Omega}_{\underline{A}/S,\sigma}^- \right).$$

We define sheaves

$$\mathcal{E}_{\underline{A}/S} \coloneqq \oplus_{\tau \in \mathcal{T}_K} \operatorname{Isom}_{\mathcal{O}_S} \left( \mathcal{O}_S^{a_{\tau}}, \underline{\Omega}_{\underline{A}/S, \tau} \right) \\ \mathcal{E}_{\underline{A}/S}^{\pm} \coloneqq \oplus_{\tau \in \Sigma_K} \operatorname{Isom}_{\mathcal{O}_S} \left( \mathcal{O}_S^{a_{\tau}^{\pm}}, \underline{\Omega}_{\underline{A}/S, \tau}^{\pm} \right)$$

For the remainder of this section, let R be an  $\mathcal{O}_{E',(p)}$ -algebra, let  $M_{\rho}$  be a finite free R-module, and let  $\rho: H(R) \to GL_R(M_{\rho})$  be an algebraic representation of H(R). For any R-algebra R', we extend the action of H(R) linearly to an action of H(R') on  $(M_{\rho})_{R'} := M_{\rho} \otimes_R R'$ . We define a contracted product

$$\mathcal{E}_{\underline{A}/R',\rho} \coloneqq \mathcal{E}_{\underline{A}/R} \times^{H} (M_{\rho})_{R'} \coloneqq \left( \mathcal{E}_{\underline{A}/R'} \times (M_{\rho})_{R'} \right) / \sim,$$

where the equivalence  $\sim$  is defined by

$$(\ell, m) \sim (g\ell, \rho({}^tg^{-1})m)$$

for all  $g \in H$ .

Definitions 3.2.6, 3.2.7, 3.3.1 are the analogues in our setting of Nick Katz's definitions of modular forms in [Kat73, Sections 1.1 - 1.5]. Notice the parallels between the functions introduced in Lemma 3.2.2, which are defined over  $\mathbb{C}$ , and those defined by Definition 3.2.6, which allows us to work over other rings as well.

**Definition 3.2.6.** An automorphic form of weight  $\rho$  and level  $\mathcal{K}$  defined over R is a function f that, for each R-algebra R', assigns an element of  $(M_{\rho})_{R'}$  to each pair  $(\underline{A}, \ell)$  consisting of an R'-point  $\underline{A}$  of  $\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{K}}(R')$  and  $\ell \in \mathcal{E}_{A/R'}$  such that both of the following conditions hold:

- (1)  $f(\underline{A}, g\ell) = \rho({}^tg^{-1})f(\underline{A}, \ell)$  for all  $g \in H(R')$  and all  $\ell \in \mathcal{E}_{A/R'}$
- (2) If  $R' \to R''$  is a homomorphism of *R*-algebras, then

 $f(\underline{A} \times_{R'} R'', \ell \otimes_{R'} 1) = f(\underline{A}, \ell) \otimes_{R'} 1_{R''} \in (M_{\rho})_{R''},$ 

i.e. the definition of  $f(\underline{A}, \ell)$  commutes with extension of scalars for all *R*-algebras.

Definition 3.2.6 is the generalization to our setting of the second definition of modular forms Katz gives in [Kat73, Section 1.1]. Definition 3.2.7 is the generalization to our setting of the first definition of modular forms Katz gives in [Kat73, Section 1.1]. Similarly to Katz's situation, our two definitions here are equivalent and are simply two ways to formulate an automorphic form.

**Definition 3.2.7.** An automorphic form of weight  $\rho$  and level  $\mathcal{K}$  defined over R is a rule

$$\underline{A} \mapsto f(\underline{A}) \in \mathcal{E}_{\underline{A}/R',\rho},$$

for each *R*-algebra R' and R'-point  $\underline{A}$  in  $\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{K}}(R')$ , that commutes with extension of scalars for all *R*-algebras, i.e.

$$\tilde{f}(\underline{A} \times_{R'} R'') = \tilde{f}(\underline{A}) \otimes_{R'} 1_{R''},$$

for all *R*-algebra homomorphisms  $R' \to R''$ .

The equivalence between Definitions 3.2.6 and 3.2.7 is given by

$$\tilde{f}(\underline{A}) = (\ell, f(\underline{A}, \ell)).$$

Remark 3.2.8. For readers seeing these definitions for the first time, it is a useful exercise to see what they say in the case of modular forms and then compare them with Katz's definitions of modular forms in [Kat73, Section 1.1]. At first glance, the appearance of  $\mathcal{E}_{\underline{A}/R}$  might look surprising to readers who are only familiar with the modular forms setting and have not yet considered the setting of higher rank groups. Note, though, that giving an element of  $\mathcal{E}_{\underline{A}/R}$  is equivalent to choosing an ordered basis for  $\Omega_{\underline{A}/R}$ . In the setting of modular forms,  $\underline{A}$  is replaced by an elliptic curve, in which case an ordered basis is simply a choice of a nonvanishing differential. In other words, in the setting of modular forms, the setup here says to consider functions on pairs ( $\underline{E}, \omega$ ) consisting of an elliptic curve (of some specified level) and a nonvanishing differential, which coincides precisely with the conventional algebraic geometric formulation of modular forms presented in [Kat73, Section 1.1].

3.3. As global sections of a sheaf. Those familiar with the algebraic geometric definition of modular forms are likely accustomed to defining a modular form as a global section of a certain sheaf over a moduli space, like in [Kat73, Section 1.5]. This is the formulation we introduce now. Let  $\pi : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{K},\mathcal{O}_{E',(p)}}$  denote the universal object over  $\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{K},\mathcal{O}_{E',(p)}}$ , and define

$$\underline{\omega} \coloneqq \pi_* \underline{\Omega}_{\mathcal{A}/\mathcal{M}}.$$

Following the conventions for decompositions introduced in Section 2.2.1, we have a decomposition

$$\underline{\omega} = \oplus_{\tau \in \Sigma_K} \left( \underline{\omega}_{\tau}^+ \oplus \underline{\omega}_{\tau}^- \right) = \oplus_{\tau \in \mathcal{T}_K} \underline{\omega}_{\tau}.$$

We define a sheaf  $\mathcal{E} = \mathcal{E}_{\mathcal{K}}$  on  $\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{K},\mathcal{O}_{E'(p)}}$  by

$$\mathcal{E} \coloneqq \mathcal{E}_{\mathcal{K}} \coloneqq \oplus_{\tau \in \mathcal{T}_{\mathcal{K}}} \operatorname{Isom}_{\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{M}}} \left( \underline{\omega}_{\tau}, (\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{M}})^{a_{\tau}} \right).$$

For motivation for introducing the sheaf  $\mathcal{E}$ , see Remark 3.2.8. Following the conventions introduced in Section 2.2.1, we also define sheaves

$$\mathcal{E}^{\pm} = \oplus_{\tau \in \Sigma_K} \mathcal{E}_{\tau}^{\pm}.$$

For any representation  $(\rho, M_{\rho})$  of H, we define

$$\underline{\omega}^{\rho} \coloneqq \mathcal{E}^{\rho} \coloneqq \mathcal{E} \times^{H} M_{\rho}$$

to be the sheaf on  $\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{K}}$  for which, for each  $\mathcal{O}_{E',(p)}$ -algebra R,

$$\mathcal{E}^{\rho}(R) = \left(\mathcal{E}(R) \times M_{\rho} \otimes R\right) / \sim,$$

with the equivalence  $\sim$  given by

$$(\ell, m) \sim (g\ell, \rho({}^tg^{-1})m)$$

for all  $g \in H$ .

**Definition 3.3.1.** An automorphic form of weight  $\rho$  and level  $\mathcal{K}$  defined over R is a global section of the sheaf  $\underline{\omega}^{\rho} = \mathcal{E}_{\mathcal{K},\rho} = \mathcal{E}^{\rho}$  on  $\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{K},R}$ .

It is a straightforward exercise to check that Definition 3.3.1 is equivalent to Definition 3.2.7.

*Remark* 3.3.2. When  $\rho$  is an irreducible representation of positive dominant weight  $\kappa$ , we often write  $\underline{\omega}^{\kappa}$  or  $\mathcal{E}^{\kappa}$  in place of  $\mathcal{E}^{\rho}$ . Also, note that if  $\kappa = (\kappa_{\tau})_{\tau \in \mathcal{T}_{\kappa}}$ , then

$$\underline{\omega}^{\kappa} = \boxtimes_{\tau \in \mathcal{T}_K} \underline{\omega}_{\tau}^{\kappa_{\tau}}$$

*Remark* 3.3.3. As noted in [EM21b, Section 2.5],  $\underline{\omega}^{\kappa}$  can be canonically identified with  $\mathbb{S}_{\kappa}(\underline{\omega})$ .

Remark 3.3.4. If f is an automorphic form of weight  $\rho_{\kappa}$ , we often say that f is of weight  $\kappa$ .

Remark 3.3.5. By Koecher's principle (see [Lan16, Theorem 2.3 and Remark 10.2]), automorphic forms defined over  $\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{K}}$  extend uniquely to automorphic forms over a toroidal compactification of  $\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{K}}$ , so long as we exclude the solitary case of  $[K^+ : \mathbb{Q}] = 1$  with signature (1,1) (the familiar case of modular forms for  $GL_2$ ).

Remark 3.3.6. The algebraic automorphic forms defined above over  $R = \mathbb{C}$  are in bijection with finite sets of holomorphic automorphic forms as defined earlier. More precisely, given an automorphic form on  $M_{\mathcal{K}}(\mathbb{C})$ , we get global sections over each of the connected components of  $M_{\mathcal{K}}(\mathbb{C})$ . Recall from Section 2.2.5 each of these connected components is isomorphic to a quotient  $\Gamma \setminus \mathcal{H}$ . By GAGA and Lemma 3.2.3 (together with Remark 3.2.4), we then see that each algebraic automorphic form on  $M_{\mathcal{K}}(\mathbb{C})$  gives rise to a set of holomorphic automorphic forms on  $\mathcal{H}$ , one for each component of  $M_{\mathcal{K}}(\mathbb{C})$ .

Remark 3.3.7. The moduli space  $\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{K}}$  acts as a sort of bridge that allows us to move between different base rings. This, in turn, is useful for studying algebraic aspects of automorphic forms, including certain values of automorphic forms *a priori* arising over  $\mathbb{C}$ , a crucial ingredient in our study of *L*-functions below. In another direction, this space also serves as a starting point for defining *p*-adic automorphic forms.

3.4. As functions on a unitary group. From the perspective of representation theory, it is useful to define our automorphic forms as functions on a unitary group. The formulation of automorphic forms as functions on groups is a direct generalization of this formulation for  $GL_2$  (i.e. classical modular forms). We begin by reviewing the (likely more familiar) case of  $GL_2$ . The setup from Sections 2.2.5 and 2.2.6 enables us to extend that approach to the setting of unitary groups.

3.4.1. Review of the case of  $GL_2$ . Before proceeding with unitary groups, we first briefly review how to translate the definition of modular forms as functions on the upper half plane  $\mathfrak{h}$  into the definition in terms of functions on a group, first as functions of  $SL_2(\mathbb{R})$ , and then as functions of  $GL_2(\mathbb{A})$ . Although the main focus of this manuscript is automorphic forms on unitary groups, readers might find it helpful first to recall the situation for modular forms. In particular, the definitions of automorphic forms as functions on unitary groups in Sections 3.4.2 and 3.4.3 arise similarly to how they arise for modular forms and  $GL_2$ .

Since  $SL_2(\mathbb{R})$  acts transitively on  $\mathfrak{h}$  and  $SO_2(\mathbb{R}) = \left\{ \alpha_{\theta} \coloneqq \begin{pmatrix} \cos \theta & \sin \theta \\ -\sin \theta & \cos \theta \end{pmatrix} \right\}$  is the stabilizer of  $i \in \mathfrak{h}$ , we can identify  $SL_2(\mathbb{R})/SO_2(\mathbb{R})$  with  $\mathfrak{h}$ . Given a modular form f of weight k and level  $\Gamma$  on  $\mathfrak{h}$ , we define  $\phi_f \colon \Gamma \backslash SL_2(\mathbb{R}) \to \mathbb{C}$  by

$$\phi_f(g) \coloneqq j(g,i)^{-k} f(gi),$$

where j(g, z) is the canonical automorphy factor, i.e. j(g, z) = cz + d for  $z \in \mathfrak{h}$  and  $g = \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} \in SL_2(\mathbb{R})$ . Then  $\phi_f$  is an example of an automorphic form of weight k and level  $\Gamma$  on  $SL_2(\mathbb{R})$ , i.e.  $\phi_f$  is a smooth function that is left  $\Gamma$ -invariant (i.e.  $\phi_f(\gamma g) = \phi_f(g)$  for all  $\gamma \in \Gamma$  and  $g \in SL_2(\mathbb{R})$ ) and such that each  $\alpha_{\theta} \in SO_2(\mathbb{R})$  acts on the right by multiplication by  $e^{ki\theta}$ , i.e.  $\phi_f(g\alpha_{\theta}) = e^{ki\theta}\phi_f(g)$ .

Taking this a step further, we can replace  $SL_2(\mathbb{R})$  by  $GL_2^+(\mathbb{R})/\mathbb{R}_{>0}$ , where + denotes positive determinant (or by  $GL_2(\mathbb{R})/\mathbb{R}^{\times}$ , noting that in each case we are taking the quotient of the group by its center). In this case, we define  $\phi_f : (\Gamma \cdot Z(G)) \setminus G(\mathbb{R}) \to \mathbb{C}$ , with Gdenoting  $GL_2$  or  $GL_2^+$  (or even  $SL_2$ , like above) and Z(G) denoting the center of G, by

$$\phi_f(g) \coloneqq \det(g)^{k/2} j(g,i)^{-k} f(gi),$$

and  $\phi_f(g)$  satisfies the same conditions as in the previous paragraph, but with  $SL_2$  replaced by G.

It turns out, though, to be convenient to define automorphic forms as functions of  $GL_2(\mathbb{A})$ . First, we note that if for each prime number  $p, \mathcal{K}_p \subset GL_2(\mathbb{Z}_p)$  is a compact open subgroup such that  $\det(\mathcal{K}_p) = \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}$  and  $\mathcal{K}_p = GL_2(\mathbb{Z}_p)$  for all but finitely many p, then

(12) 
$$GL_2(\mathbb{A}) = GL_2(\mathbb{Q}) \cdot \left( GL_2^+(\mathbb{R}) \times \prod_p \mathcal{K}_p \right)$$

If  $\mathcal{K} = \prod_p \mathcal{K}_p$  and

(13) 
$$\Gamma = GL_2(\mathbb{Q}) \cap (GL_2^+(\mathbb{R}) \times \mathcal{K}),$$

then Equation (12) induces bijections

$$\Gamma \backslash \mathfrak{h} \leftrightarrow GL_2(\mathbb{Q}) \backslash GL_2(\mathbb{A}) / (SO_2(\mathbb{R}) \times \mathcal{K})$$
  
$$\Gamma \backslash GL_2^+(\mathbb{R}) \leftrightarrow GL_2(\mathbb{Q}) \backslash GL_2(\mathbb{A}) / \mathcal{K}.$$

These identifications enable us to reformulate f (and  $\phi_f$ ) from above as a function  $\varphi_f : G(\mathbb{Q}) \setminus GL_2(\mathbb{A}) \to \mathbb{C}$  defined by

$$\varphi_f(\gamma g_{\infty}(g_p)_p) \coloneqq \phi_f(g_{\infty}),$$

for all  $\gamma \in GL_2(\mathbb{Q})$ ,  $g_{\infty} \in GL_2^+(\mathbb{R})$ , and  $g_p \in \mathcal{K}_p$ . So  $\varphi_f$  is a function of  $GL_2(\mathbb{A})$  that is left-invariant under  $G(\mathbb{Q})$ , right invariant under  $\mathcal{K}$ , and satisfies  $\varphi_f(g\alpha_\theta) = e^{ki\theta}\phi_f(g)$  for all  $\alpha_\theta \in SO_2(\mathbb{R})$  (and is smooth as a function of  $GL_2(\mathbb{R})$ ). One can also extend this treatment to include a nebentypus character. We also note that the familiar congruence subgroups  $\Gamma_0(N)$ ,  $\Gamma_1(N)$ , and  $\Gamma(N)$  arise in Equation (13) when  $\mathcal{K}$  is the subgroup  $\mathcal{K}(N)$ ,  $\mathcal{K}_0(N)$ , and  $\mathcal{K}_1(N)$  of  $GL_2(\hat{\mathbb{Z}})$ , respectively, consisting of matrices congruent mod N to elements of  $\Gamma_0(N)$ , matrices in  $\mathcal{K}(N)$  of the form  $\binom{* \ * \ 0 \ 1}{0}$ , and matrices in  $\mathcal{K}(N)$  of the form  $\binom{* \ 0 \ 0 \ 1}{0}$ , respectively.

3.4.2. As functions of unitary groups over  $\mathbb{R}$ . Given the expression of the symmetric space  $\mathcal{H}$  in terms of a quotient of  $G(\mathbb{R})$ , it is natural also to define automorphic forms as certain functions on  $G(\mathbb{R})$ . The group  $\mathcal{K}_{\infty}$  is the stabilizer of a fixed point  $\mathbf{i} \in \mathcal{H}$ , and we identify  $\mathcal{K}_{\infty}^{c} = \mathcal{K}(\mathbb{C})$  of  $\mathcal{K}_{\infty}$  with its image in  $H(\mathbb{C})$ .

Remark 3.4.1. We use the notation **i** for the fixed point to emphasize the connection with the  $SL_2$  case, where  $\mathcal{H}$  is the upper half plane,  $\mathcal{K}$  is the group  $SO_2(\mathbb{R})$ , and **i** is the number *i*. More generally, when working with  $\mathcal{H}_n$ , **i** can be realized as the diagonal matrix  $i1_n$ , and  $\mathcal{K}_{\infty}$  as  $U(n) \times U(n)$ .

As discussed in [Shi00, Section A8.2], an automorphic form f viewed as a function on  $\mathcal{H}$  gives a corresponding function  $f^{\rho}$  on  $G(\mathbb{R})$  as in Definition 3.4.2 below via

$$f^{\rho}(g) \coloneqq (f \parallel_{\rho} g)(\mathbf{i}) = \rho(M_g(\mathbf{i}))^{-1} f(g\mathbf{i})$$

for each  $g \in G(\mathbb{R})$ . In the other direction, given  $f^{\rho}$  on  $G(\mathbb{R})$  as in Definition 3.4.2, we define an automorphic form on  $\mathcal{H}$  of weight  $\rho$  by

$$f(z) = f(g_z \mathbf{i}) \coloneqq \rho(M_g(\mathbf{i})) f^{\rho}(g_z)$$

for each  $z \in \mathcal{H}$ , where  $g_z \in G(\mathbb{R})$  is such that  $g_z \mathbf{i} = z$ . Let  $\rho : H(\mathbb{C}) \to GL(V)$  be a finite-dimensional  $\mathbb{C}$ -representation of  $H(\mathbb{C})$ . We arrive at the following definition, which is similar to the definition of an automorphic form over any reductive group.

**Definition 3.4.2.** An *automorphic form* of weight  $\rho$  is a holomorphic function

$$f:G(\mathbb{R})\to V$$

such that

$$f(gk) = \rho(k)^{-1} f(g)$$

for each  $g \in G(\mathbb{R})$  and each  $k \in \mathcal{K}_{\infty}$ .

*Remark* 3.4.3. In the formulation of Definition 3.4.2, the holomorphy condition is equivalent to being killed by certain differential operators (as detailed in [Shi00, Section A8.2]).

3.4.3. As functions of unitary groups over the adeles. Given our expression in Section 2.2.5 of  $\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{K}}(\mathbb{C})$  as a quotient  $X_{\mathcal{K}}$  of the adelic points of a unitary group (and also given our expression of  $X_{\mathcal{K}}$  in terms of quotients of  $\mathcal{H}$ ), it is natural to reformulate our definition of automorphic form in terms of functions on adelic points of a unitary group. More generally, an automorphic form on a reductive linear algebraic group G (unitary group or not) can be formulated adelically as a function on  $G(\mathbb{A})$  meeting certain conditions. Indeed, this is the context in which we will be able to work with automorphic representations.

The adelic formulation is particularly convenient in the context of L-functions. For example, each Euler factor at a place v in the Euler product for an automorphic L-function corresponds with information from the automorphic form at the place v. This is seen in Tate's thesis, as well as in the discussion of the doubling method in Section 4 below. (The usefulness of the adelic formulation is also seen in Shimura's computation of Fourier coefficients in [Shi97], as well as the related computations of Fourier coefficients in [Eis15, Eis14], where the global Fourier transform factors - under certain conditions - as a product of local Fourier transforms.) The adelic formulation also provides a convenient setting for viewing automorphic forms of different levels at once, for example in a collection of Shimura varieties  $Sh_{\mathcal{K}}$ .

Automorphic representations, discussed briefly in Section 3.5, are realized in terms of the right regular action of  $G(\mathbb{A})$  on certain functions  $\phi$  of  $G(\mathbb{A})$ , i.e. given  $g \in G(\mathbb{A})$ ,  $(g\phi)(h) \coloneqq \phi(hg)$ .

**Definition 3.4.4.** Given an open compact subgroup  $\mathcal{U}$  of  $G(\mathbb{A})$ , we say that a function  $\phi$  on  $G(\mathbb{A})$  is *right U-finite*, if the right translates of  $\phi$  by elements of  $\mathcal{U}$  span a finite-dimensional vector space.

**Definition 3.4.5.** We say that a function  $\phi$  on  $G(\mathbb{A})$  is *smooth* if it is  $C^{\infty}$  at  $\infty$  and locally constant as a function on  $\mathbb{A}_f$ .

**Definition 3.4.6.** We say that a function  $\phi$  on  $G(\mathbb{A})$  is of *moderate growth* if there exist numbers  $n, C \ge 0$ , such that

$$|\phi(g)| \le C ||g||^n$$

for all  $g \in G(\mathbb{A})$ . Here,  $||g|| \coloneqq \prod_{v} \max_{1 \le i,j \le n} \left( \max \left( |g_{ij}|_v, |g_{ij}^{-1}|_v \right) \right)$ , where we have identified G with its image in  $GL_n$  under an embedding  $G \hookrightarrow GL_n$  and  $g_{ij}$  denotes the *ij*th entry of the associated matrix in  $GL_n$ .

**Definition 3.4.7.** For any reductive group G (unitary group or not), an *automorphic form* on  $G(\mathbb{A})$  is defined to be a function  $\phi$  on  $G(\mathbb{A})$  such that

$$\phi(g) = \phi(\alpha g)$$

for all  $\alpha \in G(\mathbb{Q})$  (so we may view  $\phi$  as a function on  $G(\mathbb{Q})\backslash G(\mathbb{A})$ ) and such that  $\phi$  additionally is smooth, right  $(\mathcal{K} \times \mathcal{K}_{\infty})$ -finite, of moderate growth, and  $Z(\mathfrak{g})$ -finite, where  $\mathfrak{g}$  denotes the complexified Lie algebra of  $G(\mathbb{R})$ . We say that  $\phi$  is of *level*  $\mathcal{K}$  if  $\phi$  is fixed by  $\mathcal{K}$ .

**Example 3.4.8.** Observe that an adelic automorphic form on a definite unitary group of signature (1,0) is a Grössencharacter on  $\mathbb{A}_{K}^{\times}$ . (Given a number field L, we denote by  $\mathbb{A}_{L}$  the ring of adeles for L.)

We can also consider automorphic forms of weight  $\kappa$  as follows. Given an irreducible  $\mathbb{C}$ -representation  $V_{\kappa}$  of  $\mathcal{K}_{\infty}$  of highest weight  $\kappa$ , an automorphic form of weight  $\kappa$  is an automorphic form  $\phi: G(\mathbb{A}) \to V_{\kappa}(\mathbb{C})$  such that  $\phi(gu) = u^{-1}\phi(g)$  for all  $g \in G(\mathbb{A})$  and  $u \in \mathcal{K}_{\infty}$ . We also can consider automorphic forms with nebentypus character  $\psi: T(\hat{\mathbb{Z}}) \to \mathbb{Q}^{\times}$  factoring through  $T(\mathbb{Z}/m\mathbb{Z})$  for some integer m, i.e. automorphic forms  $\phi$  for which  $\phi(gt) = \psi(t)\phi(g)$  for all  $t \in T(\hat{\mathbb{Z}})$ .

**Definition 3.4.9.** An automorphic form  $\varphi$  on  $G(\mathbb{A})$  is called a *cusp form* (or *cuspidal automorphic form*) if

$$\int_{N(\mathbb{Q})\backslash N(\mathbb{A})}\varphi(ng)dn=0$$

for each  $g \in G(\mathbb{A})$  and each unipotent radical  $N(\mathbb{Q})$  of each proper parabolic subgroup of  $G(\mathbb{Q})$ .

Remark 3.4.10. We make a brief note about conventions. Up to this point and sometimes going forward, we work with a group G defined over  $\mathbb{Q}$ . At times, though, it will convenient to work with groups defined over other fields (e.g.  $G_1$  defined over  $K^+$ ). This will be the case, for example, in our initial discussion of the doubling method in Section 4.3, when we introduce the original approach from [PSR87]. If we replace G by a group H defined over a number field L, we consider the  $\mathbb{A}_L$ -points in place of the  $\mathbb{A}$ -points, and we write  $H_v$  for the component of H at v. 3.5. Representations of  $G(\mathbb{A})$  and automorphic representations. In Section 4, we consider *L*-functions attached to certain *automorphic representations*. Here, we briefly establish some fundamental information about automorphic representations. The Langlands conjectures (introduced by Robert Langlands) predict a precise correspondence between Galois representations and automorphic representations. In particular, the predictions include that the *L*-function associated to a Galois representation is the same as a particular *L*-function associated to the corresponding automorphic representation.

The information summarized here is not specific to unitary groups but will be helpful to have available as we move forward. For more more detailed introductions to automorphic representations (and their role in the Langlands program), see, for example, [AG91, Gel84, Gel10, Kud03, Kna97, Bum97].

We denote by  $\mathcal{A}(G)$  the space of automorphic forms on  $G(\mathbb{A})$ , and we denote by  $\mathcal{A}_0(G)$ the space of cusp forms on  $G(\mathbb{A})$ . Let Z denote the center of G, and let  $\chi$  be a character of  $Z(\mathbb{Q})\backslash Z(\mathbb{A})$ . We denote by  $\mathcal{A}(G)_{\chi}$  the submodule of automorphic forms  $\phi$  such that  $\phi(zg) = \chi(z)\phi(g)$ , and we denote by  $\mathcal{A}_0(G)_{\chi}$  the submodule of cuspidal automorphic forms in  $\mathcal{A}(G)_{\chi}$ . Note that  $G(\mathbb{A})$  acts on  $\mathcal{A}(G)$  and  $\mathcal{A}_0(G)$  by right translation, i.e.  $g \in G(\mathbb{A})$ acts on an automorphic form  $\phi$  via

$$(g\phi)(h) \coloneqq \phi(hg)$$

for all  $h \in G(\mathbb{A})$ . Moreover, we have that  $\mathcal{A}(G)$  and  $\mathcal{A}_0(G)$  are  $(\mathfrak{g}, \mathcal{K}_{\infty})$ -modules (in the sense of, e.g., [Kud03, Definition 2.3]), so are  $(\mathfrak{g}, \mathcal{K}_{\infty}) \times G(\mathbb{A}_f)$ -modules.

**Definition 3.5.1.** A  $(\mathfrak{g}, \mathcal{K}_{\infty}) \times G(\mathbb{A}_f)$ -module  $(\pi, W)$  is *admissible* if each irreducible representation of  $\mathcal{K} \times \mathcal{K}_{\infty}$  occurs with finite multiplicity in W.

**Definition 3.5.2.** An irreducible representation  $\pi$  is called an *automorphic representation* if it is an admissible representation such that  $\pi$  is a subquotient of  $\mathcal{A}(G)$ .

**Definition 3.5.3.** An automorphic representation is *cuspidal* (with central character  $\chi$ ) if it occurs as a submodule of  $\mathcal{A}_0(G)_{\chi}$  for some character  $\chi$ .

We have

$$\mathcal{A}_0(G) = \oplus_{\pi} m(\pi)\pi$$

with the sum over all (isomorphism classes of) irreducible admissible cuspidal representations  $\pi$  and  $m(\pi)$  the multiplicity of  $\pi$ , which is always finite.

Given an irreducible representation  $\pi$ , we can write  $\pi = \pi_{\infty} \otimes \pi_f$ , with  $\pi_{\infty}$  an irreducible representation at archimedean components and  $\pi_f$  an irreducible representation of  $G(\mathbb{A}_f)$ . If  $\pi$  is an automorphic representation, then  $\pi_f$  has a model over  $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}$  (as proved in [Bel09, Theorem 2.1 and Proposition 2.1]).

**Definition 3.5.4.** The *weight* of an automorphic representation  $\pi$  is the representation  $\pi_{\infty}$ .

**Definition 3.5.5.** Let  $\mathcal{K}$  be a compact open subgroup of  $G(\mathbb{A}_f)$ . An automorphic representation  $\pi$  is of *level*  $\mathcal{K}$  if  $\pi_f^{\mathcal{K}} \neq 0$  (where the superscript  $\mathcal{K}$  denotes the subspace of  $\mathcal{K}$ -fixed vectors).

Every irreducible admissible representation  $\pi$  can be decomposed as a restricted tensor product

$$\pi = \otimes'_v \pi_v$$

of irreducible admissible representations  $\pi_v$ , as made precise in Proposition 3.5.6 below. First, we briefly recall the notion of a representation  $(\otimes'_v \pi_v, \otimes'_v W_v)$  of a group  $H = \prod' H_v$ that is the restricted direct product with respect to subgroups  $H'_v \subseteq H_v$ . Consider an infinite set of vector spaces  $W_v$  indexed by a set  $\Sigma$ , and suppose that for all but finitely many  $v \in \Sigma$ outside a finite subset of  $S \subseteq \Sigma$ , we have chosen a vector  $\xi_v^o \in W_v$ . Let  $\otimes' W_v$  be the restricted tensor product of the vector spaces  $W_v$ , i.e. the space  $\otimes' W_v$  is spanned by vectors of the form  $\otimes_v \xi_v$  with  $\xi_v = \xi_v^o$  for all but finitely many v. Let  $(\pi_v, W_v)$  be a representation of a group  $H_v$ , and let  $H'_v$  be a subgroup of  $H_v$ . Let H be the restricted direct product of the subgroups  $H_v$  with respect to the subgroups  $H'_v$ . Suppose that for all but finitely many v, there exists a vector  $\xi_v^0 \in W_v$  such that  $H'_v$  fixes the vector  $\xi_v^0$ . Then we define a representation  $(\otimes'_v \pi_v, \otimes'_v W_v)$  of H by

$$(\otimes'_v \pi_v)((g_v)_v)(\otimes \xi_v) = \otimes_v \pi_v(g_v)(\xi_v)$$

**Proposition 3.5.6** (Tensor Product Theorem [Fla79]). If  $\pi$  is an irreducible, admissible representation of a connected reductive algebraic group H, then  $\pi$  is isomorphic to a restricted tensor product

$$\pi \cong \otimes'_v \pi_v$$

where for all but finitely many nonarchimedean v,  $\pi_v$  is an irreducible, admissible representation of  $H(K_v^+)$  that contains a nonzero  $\mathcal{K}_v$ -fixed vector  $\xi_v^0$ , and for each archimedean v,  $\pi_v$  is an irreducible, admissible  $(\mathfrak{g}, \mathcal{K}_v)$ -module.

In our work with the doubling method in Section 4.3, we will rely on the factorization guaranteed by Proposition 3.5.6. In practice, our restricted tensor product will be taken with respect to  $\mathcal{K}$ .

3.6. *q*-expansions. For the moment, we consider the case of automorphic forms on unitary groups of signature (n, n). We immediately see that for each  $\alpha \in \operatorname{Herm}_n(\mathbb{C})$ , where  $\operatorname{Herm}_n$  denotes  $n \times n$  Hermitian matrices,

$$\begin{pmatrix} 1_n & \alpha \\ 0 & 1_n \end{pmatrix}$$

is an element of U(n,n) and can be identified with an element of  $U_{n,n}(\mathbb{R})$  via

(14) 
$$\alpha \mapsto (\alpha_{\sigma})_{\sigma \in \mathcal{T}_{K^+}},$$

where  $\alpha_{\sigma}$  is the matrix whose *ij*-th entry is  $\tau(\alpha_{ij})$  with  $\alpha_{ij}$  the *ij*-th entry of  $\alpha$  and  $\tau$  the unique element of the nonde  $\Sigma_K$  extending  $\sigma$ . There is a  $\mathbb{Z}$ -lattice  $M \subseteq \operatorname{Herm}_n(\mathbb{C})$  such that  $\begin{pmatrix} 1_n & \alpha \\ 0 & 1_n \end{pmatrix}$  is in  $\Gamma$  for all  $\alpha \in M$ . So if f is an X-valued automorphic form of level  $\Gamma$ , then for all  $\alpha \in M$ , we have

$$f(z + \alpha) = f(z)$$

for all  $z \in \mathcal{H} = \prod_{\sigma \in \mathcal{T}_{K^+}} \mathcal{H}_n$ . Let

$$M^{\vee} \coloneqq \left\{ h \in \operatorname{Herm}_{n}(\mathbb{C}) \mid \operatorname{trace}_{K^{+}/\mathbb{Q}}(\operatorname{trace}(hM)) \subseteq \mathbb{Z} \right\}.$$

Then as explained in [Shi97, Lemma A1.4] (see also [Shi00, Section 5.6]), f has a Fourier expansion

(15) 
$$f(z) = \sum_{h \in M^{\vee}} c(h) \mathbf{e}(hz),$$

with  $c(h) \in X$ ,  $\mathbf{e}(hz) = e^{2\pi i \sum_{\sigma \in \mathcal{T}_{K^+}} \operatorname{trace}(h_{\sigma} z_{\sigma})}$  for each  $h \in M^{\vee}$  (with  $h_{\sigma}$  defined as in (14)), and  $z = (z_{\sigma})_{\sigma \in \mathcal{T}_{K^+}} \in \prod_{\sigma \in \mathcal{T}_{K^+}} \mathcal{H}_{\sigma}$ . Sometimes we set

(16) 
$$q^h \coloneqq \mathbf{e}(hz),$$

in analogue with how we write  $q = e^{2\pi i z}$  in the Fourier expansion of a modular form (e.g. as in Equation (1)).

By [Shi00, Proposition 5.7], if  $K^+ \neq \mathbb{Q}$  or the signature is not (1,1), then the Fourier coefficients c(h) of any (holomorphic) automorphic form are 0 unless  $h = (h_{\sigma})_{\sigma \in \mathcal{T}_{K^+}}$  has the property that  $h_{\sigma}$  is nonnegative at each  $\sigma \in \mathcal{T}_{K^+}$ . An automorphic form is a cusp form if the Fourier coefficients are nonzero only at positive definite matrices. More generally, automorphic forms on unitary groups (of possibly other signatures) have a Fourier–Jacobi expansion (in which case the coefficients are formed from theta expansions).

*Remark* 3.6.1. In analogue with the algebraic *q*-expansion principle for modular forms (which says that algebraic modular forms are determined by their *q*-expansions), Kai-Wen Lan has proved an algebraic Fourier–Jacobi principle for unitary groups [Lan13, Proposition 7.1.2.14]. Lan has also proved that the algebraically defined Fourier–Jacobi coefficients agree with the analytically defined Fourier–Jacobi coefficients [Lan12]. These facts will be important in our discussion of algebraicity for Eisenstein series in Section 4.5

## 4. Automorphic L-functions for unitary groups

One reason we care about automorphic forms and automorphic representations is that they can be convenient tools for proving results about *L*-functions attached to particular arithmetic data (such as Galois representations), as mentioned in Section 1. Like in familiar cases, e.g. the Riemann zeta function from Section 1, the *L*-functions with which we work have Euler products (analogous to  $\zeta(s) = \prod_p \text{ prime } (1 - 1/p^{-s})^{-1}$  for Re(s) > 1), functional equations (analogous to Z(s) = Z(1-s), where  $Z(s) = \frac{1}{2}\pi^{-\frac{s}{2}}s(s-1)\Gamma(\frac{s}{2})\zeta(s)$ ), and meromorphic continuations to  $\mathbb{C}$ .

4.1. *L*-functions. Given a number field L, for each unramified finite place v, let  $\operatorname{Frob}_{v}$  denote a(n arithmetic) Frobenius conjugacy class in  $\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{L}/L)$ . Let S denote a finite set of places of K containing the set  $S_{\infty}$  of archimedean places of K and the set  $S_{\operatorname{ram}}$  of ramified places of K. By the Chebotarev density theory, each continuous Galois representation

$$\rho: \operatorname{Gal}(L/L) \to GL_n(\mathbb{C})$$

is completely determined by the set of elements  $\rho(\operatorname{Frob}_v)$  with  $v \notin S$ . The Euler product for the Artin *L*-function associated to  $\rho$  is

$$L^{S}(s,\rho) \coloneqq \prod_{v \notin S} L_{v}(s,\rho),$$

where

$$L_v(s,\rho) \coloneqq \det \left(1 - \rho(\operatorname{Frob}_v) q_v^{-s}\right)^{-1},$$

with  $q_v$  the number of elements in the residue field at v. Since  $\rho(\text{Frob}_v)$  is a semisimple conjugacy class and since any semi-simple conjugacy class A is completely determined by its characteristic polynomial

$$\det(t-A),$$

we see that  $L_v(s,\rho)$  is is independent of our choice of representative for  $\rho(\text{Frob}_v)$ . The Langlands conjectures predict a correspondence between cuspidal automorphic representation  $\pi$  and Galois representation  $\rho_{\pi}$ . (In the one-dimensional case, class field theory achieves this. For an introduction to the Langlands conjectures and associated *L*-functions, see e.g., [AG91, Lan80].) More precisely, the prediction is that a certain semisimple conjugacy class  $\sigma_v(\pi)$  associated to  $\pi$  (in the Langlands dual group  ${}^LG$ , as explained in, e.g., [Cog03, Bor79]) is the same as the conjugacy class of  $\rho_{\pi}(\text{Frob}_v)$ , in which case we obtain as an immediate consequence that

$$L^{S}(s,\rho_{\pi}) = L^{S}(s,\pi) \coloneqq \prod_{v} L_{v}(s,\pi_{v})$$
$$L_{v}(s,\pi_{v}) \coloneqq \det(1-\sigma_{v}(\pi)q^{-s})^{-1}$$

where  $\sigma_v(\pi)$  is the semi-simple conjugacy class associated to  $\pi_v$ .

Remark 4.1.1. In general, the *L*-function and associated Euler factors also take as input a tuple *r* of representations  $r_v$  of the Langlands dual group  ${}^LG$  at *v*, i.e. one considers  $L^S(s,\pi,r) := \prod_v \det(1 - r_v(\sigma_v(\pi))q^{-s})^{-1}$ . Going forward, though, we will work with the doubling method, which only concerns the standard representation. Hence, in this manuscript, we always take *r* to be the standard representation, and we omit it from the notation in the input to our *L*-function.

If you are familiar with L-functions associated to modular forms, then you probably expect information about an associated Hecke algebra to show up in the definition of the local Euler factors  $L_v(s, \pi_v)$ . Indeed, the semi-simple conjugacy class associated to  $\pi_v$  is associated to information from a Hecke algebra, which is generated by double coset operators, in analogue with the situation from modular forms. That is, for  $g \in G(\mathbb{A}_f)$  and open compact subgroups  $\mathcal{K}_1$  and  $\mathcal{K}_2$ , we define the *Hecke operator*  $[\mathcal{K}_1g\mathcal{K}_2]$  from automorphic forms of level  $\mathcal{K}_1$  to level  $\mathcal{K}_2$  to be the action of the double coset  $\mathcal{K}_2g\mathcal{K}_1 = \sqcup g_i\mathcal{K}_1$  given by

$$[\mathcal{K}_2 g \mathcal{K}_1] f(h) = \sum_i f(hg_i).$$

As noted in [EHLS20, Equation (22)], we have

$$[\mathcal{K}_2 g \mathcal{K}_1] f = \sum_i \left[ g_i \right]^* f,$$

with  $[g_i]^*$  the pullback of the map (9). When the level  $\mathcal{K}$  is clear from context, we set

$$T(g) \coloneqq [\mathcal{K}g\mathcal{K}].$$

For additional details of Hecke operators on automorphic forms on unitary groups, see, e.g., [EHLS20, Sections 2.6.8 and 2.6.9]. There are also some standard choices of Hecke operators, generalizing the familiar Hecke operators  $T_{\ell}$  from modular forms to the setting of unitary groups. These will come into play in the project introduced in Section 5.

In analogue with the case of modular forms (on  $GL_2$ ), the Hecke operators generate a Hecke algebra. We briefly summarize some key aspects of Hecke algebras here. (See, e.g., [Bel09, Section 1.4] for a more detailed summary of Hecke algebras in our setting.) Given a field L of characteristic 0 and a place v of  $K^+$ , we denote by  $\mathcal{H}(G(K_v^+), \mathcal{K}_v, L)$  the algebra of of compactly supported L-valued functions that are both left and right  $\mathcal{K}_v$ -invariant. This is the *Hecke algebra* of G with respect to  $\mathcal{K}_v$  over L. Given a smooth representation of V of  $G(K_v^+)$  over L (i.e. V is an L-vector space on which  $G(K_v^+)$  acts continuously and such that each vector of V is invariant under some compact open subgroup of  $G(K_v^+)$ ),  $V^{\mathcal{K}_v}$  has a natural structure of a  $\mathcal{H}(G(K_v^+), \mathcal{K}_v, L)$ -module. If v does not ramify in Kand  $\mathcal{K}_v$  is a maximal compact hyperspecial subgroup of  $G(K_v^+)$ , then  $\mathcal{H}(G(K_v^+), \mathcal{K}_v, L)$  is a commutative algebra. If, furthermore, V is an unramified representation of  $G(K_v^+)$  (i.e.  $\dim V^{\mathcal{K}_v} = 1$ ), then the Hecke algebra  $\mathcal{H}(G(K_v^+), \mathcal{K}_v, L)$  acts on V through a character

$$\mathcal{H}(G(K_v^+), \mathcal{K}_v, L) \to L.$$

Thanks to a structure theorem proved by Satake, we have that  $\mathcal{H}(G(K_v^+), \mathcal{K}_v, L)$  is finitely generated as a k-algebra, and, furthermore, when we specialize to the case of an automorphic representation  $\pi$  like above, the collection of values of these characters on a set of generators for  $\mathcal{H}(G(K_v^+), \mathcal{K}_v, L)$  is an element of the semisimple conjugacy class  $\sigma_v(\pi)$  associated to the automorphic representation  $\pi$  above [Sat63].

Remark 4.1.2. For context, we remark briefly on how this description relates to the familiar cases of  $GL_1$  (Hecke characters) and  $GL_2$  (modular forms). In the case of  $GL_1$ , then  $\pi = \bigotimes_v \pi_v$  is a Hecke character  $\mathbb{A}^{\times} \to \mathbb{C}^{\times}$  (where  $\mathbb{A}^{\times}$  denotes the ideles over  $\mathbb{Q}$ ). At each v where  $\pi_v$  is unramified,  $\pi_v$  is completely determined by its value on a uniformizer  $\varpi_v$ , and the set of values  $\sigma_v(\pi) \coloneqq \pi_v(\varpi_v)$  completely determines  $\pi$ .

In the case of  $GL_2$ , we consider an irreducible cuspidal automorphic representation  $\pi = \bigotimes_p \pi_p$  generated by a holomorphic cuspform  $f(q) = q + \sum_{n \ge 2} a_n q^n$  of weight k and level 1. (You can generalize to newforms of level N, if you would like.) In this case, we have  $T_p f = a_p f$  for all prime numbers p, and  $\sigma_p(\pi_p)$  is in the conjugacy class of diag $(\alpha_p, \beta_p) \in GL_2(\mathbb{C})$ , with  $\alpha_p \beta_p = p^{k-1}$  and  $\alpha_p + \beta_p = a_p$ , i.e. the Euler factor at p is the familiar Euler factor at p for the L-function attached to the cusp form f.

4.2. Strategy for proving algebraicity of certain values of *L*-functions. In Section 1, we observed a connection between rationality of certain values of particular *L*-functions (e.g. the Riemann zeta function) and certain Eisenstein series. For example, in Equation (1), we observed that the Riemann zeta function arises as the constant term of the Eisenstein series  $G_{2k}$ , and we noted that rationality of  $\zeta(1-2k)$  then followed from properties of  $G_{2k}$ .

From Section 1, it seems like if we want to prove rationality of *L*-functions more generally, an approach might be: *Try to relate the L-function in question to an Eisenstein series*. That is an awfully vague strategy, though. Supposing some version of this approach even works more generally, which Eisenstein series should we use, and in what sense should we "relate" our *L*-function to this Eisenstein series?

Motivated by the example of Shimura's proof in [Shi75] of algebraicity of certain values of the Rankin–Selberg convolution that we recounted in Section 1, we propose the following recipe for investigating rationality properties:

- (1) Find a Petersson-style pairing of automorphic forms (integrated against an Eisenstein series) that factors into an Euler product, has a functional equation, and can be meromorphically continued to all of  $\mathbb{C}$ .
- (2) Prove the rationality of Eisenstein series occurring in that pairing.
- (3) Express a familiar automorphic L-function in terms of that pairing, similarly to Equation (3), to obtain an expression analogous to Expression (2).

In addition to the case of Rankin–Selberg convolutions of modular forms from the introduction, this approach has been carried out in a number of cases, including by Shimura for Rankin–Selberg convolutions of Hilbert modular forms [Shi78] and by Shimura's PhD student Jacob Sturm for a higher-rank generalization of the Rankin–Selberg convolution [Stu81]. We refer to that method as the *Rankin–Selberg method*.

Although it turns out that the precise pairing in the Rankin–Selberg method does not work in certain settings (including for unitary groups, the main focus of this manuscript), we have substitutes in certain situations. For unitary groups, we have the *doubling method*, which is discussed in detail in Section 4.3. In addition to Shimura's work in the setting of unitary groups (e.g. in as compiled in [Shi97, Shi00]), Harris has proved extensive results employing the doubling method to investigate the algebraicity of values of *L*-functions associated to automorphic representations of unitary groups (in particular, [Har97, Theorem 3.5.13]), as well as associated results about rationality of Eisenstein series, including [Har84, Har08, Har99, Har07a, Har21]. One of the keys that enables proofs of algebraicity of certain values of *L*-functions (and associated Eisenstein series) is the realization of automorphic forms as sections over an integral model for a PEL-type moduli space, as in Section 3.3.

This recipe has also been carried out with certain other pairings. For example, Harris proved algebraicity of critical values of L-functions attached to Siegel modular forms in [Har81], again relying heavily on the geometry of an associated Shimura variety. Recently, using a pairing introduced by Aaron Pollack in [Pol17], the author, Giovanni Rosso, and Shrenik Shah have proved algebraicity of critical values of Spin L-functions for  $GSp_6$ . Perhaps surprisingly, that pairing involves working with an Eisenstein series defined on a group that has no known Shimura variety or moduli problem. As these examples show, the above recipe is powerful, even though specific details of how it is carried out in different situations can vary significantly.

Remark 4.2.1. Finding a pairing in terms of which one can express an L-function, as required for the above three-step recipe, is highly non-trivial and is a serious research problem on its own. So even though we just provided several examples where the recipe has been successfully carried out, one is not guaranteed to be in a position to carry out even the first step. Furthermore, even if one has such a pairing, it is not guaranteed that the pairing will be suitable for obtaining results about algebraicity. (Such pairings are often useful for studying analytic aspects of L-functions, hence the interest in them even when they seem not to be well-suited to proving algebraicity results.) For example, the pairing introduced in [BG92] for Spin L-functions for  $GSp_{2n}$ , for n = 3, 4, 5, appears not to be amenable to proving algebraicity results. That is also the case for the approach to "twisted doubling" in [CFGK19]. In general, proofs of algebraicity rely on the pairing and its input having an algebraic or geometric interpretation.

Remark 4.2.2. Here, we are focusing on the use of Eisenstein series as a tool for proving algebraicity of certain values of L-functions. Eisenstein series also play a key role in governing analytic behavior, like the functional equation and meromorphic continuation, of L-functions. This is the case, for example, with the Langlands–Shahidi method, which realizes the reciprocals of certain L-functions in the constant terms of Fourier expansions of Eisenstein series [Sha10, Sha80]. There are also other approaches to investigating algebraicity, e.g. [HR20].

Remark 4.2.3. As noted in Section 1.1.1, all known methods for constructing p-adic L-functions are adaptations of the specific techniques used to prove algebraicity results for the corresponding  $\mathbb{C}$ -valued L-functions. In fact, Haruzo Hida's approach to constructing p-adic Rankin–Selberg L-functions in [Hid85] builds directly on Shimura's proof of algebraicity of Rankin–Selberg convolutions summarized above. Similarly, the construction of p-adic L-functions for unitary groups in [EHLS20, EW16] builds on the work with the doubling method. As noted in Remark 4.3.3, the doubling method specializes in its simplest case to

a variant of *Damerell's formula*, a key ingredient in the proof of algebraicity for *L*-functions associated to Hecke characters of CM fields, which in turn led to Katz's construction of *p*-adic *L*-functions associated to Hecke characters of CM fields [Kat78].

Remark 4.2.4. Our focus is on algebraicity of the values of L-functions. In analogue with Expression (2), we are especially interested in deriving results of the form

$$\frac{L(\pi,m)}{\langle \varphi,\varphi\rangle} \in \pi^c \bar{\mathbb{Q}},$$

where  $L(\pi, m)$  is the value at some integer m of an L-function associated to an irreducible cuspidal automorphic representation  $\pi$  that contains a cusp form  $\varphi$  and  $\pi^c$  denotes a power of the transcendental number  $\pi$ . In Section 1, we also mentioned Deligne's conjectures about the meanings of the values of L-functions at certain points. Although our focus in the next sections will be on proving algebraicity results like those above, we briefly bring up this still more challenging aspect now. Deligne defined an integer m to be *critical* for an L-function if neither m nor the point symmetric to it with respect to the central point of the L-function are poles of the  $\Gamma$ -factors of the L-function (analogues of the factors that show up in the functional equation for the Riemann zeta function like at the beginning of Section 4). Deligne predicts that the *critical values* (i.e. values at the critical points) of an L-function associated to a motive M are rational multiples of the period of M (an algebraic invariant of M coming from cohomology). In general, the values of automorphic L-functions are not readily seen to satisfy Deligne's conjecture, even when we have algebraicity results. By exploiting geometry in the unitary setting, though, Harris explained connections between his algebraicity results and motivic periods in the case of  $K^+ = \mathbb{Q}$  in [Har97], and this work was later extended by his PhD student Lucio Guerberoff to the case of  $K^+$  of degree > 1 in [Gue16, Theorem 4.5.1]. These results and related ones are surveyed in [HL17].

Remark 4.2.5. In the above three-step recipe, we skipped over the fact that the Eisenstein series with which we need to work are not necessarily holomorphic. At the beginning of this manuscript, in Equation (1), we recalled the holomorphic Eisenstein series  $G_{2k}$ . Shortly after that, though, we encountered a non-holomorphic Eisenstein series in Equation (3). The prototypical example from the setting of modular forms of weight  $\lambda$ , level N, and character  $\chi$  is

$$E_{\lambda,N}(z,s,\chi) = \sum_{(0,0)\neq(m,n)\in\mathbb{Z}\times\mathbb{Z}} \frac{\chi(n)}{(mNz+n)^{\lambda}|mNz+n|^{2s}},$$

which converges for  $\operatorname{Re}(2s) > 2 - \lambda$ . In fact, the Eisenstein series denoted by E in Equation (3) is the holomorphic modular form  $E_{\lambda,N}^*(z,\chi)$  defined to be specialization to s = 0 of  $E_{\lambda,N}^*(z,s,\chi) := \frac{E_{\lambda,N}(z,s,\chi)}{2L(2s+\lambda,\chi)}$ , but we also need to work with Eisenstein series at points s where the Eisenstein series  $E_{\lambda,N}^*(z,s,\chi)$  is not holomorphic. Such Eisenstein series can be obtained via application of the Maass–Shimura operator  $\delta_{\lambda}^{(r)}$  from Section 1, which is defined by  $\delta_{\lambda}^{(r)} := \delta_{\lambda+2r-2} \circ \cdots \circ \delta_{\lambda+2} \circ \delta_{\lambda}$  with  $\delta_{\lambda} := \frac{1}{2\pi i} \left(\frac{\lambda}{2iy} + \frac{\partial}{\partial z}\right)$ . We have

$$E_{\lambda+2r,N}^{*}(z,-r,\chi) = \frac{\Gamma(\lambda)}{\Gamma(\lambda+r)} (-4\pi y)^{r} \delta_{\lambda}^{(r)} E_{\lambda,N}^{*}(z,\chi),$$

i.e.  $E^*_{\lambda+2r,N}(z,-r,\chi)$  is a scalar multiple of the term  $\delta^{(r)}_{\lambda}E$  in Expression (3) from Section 1.

At  $s \neq 0$ , the Eisenstein series  $E_{\lambda,N}^*(z, s, \chi)$  are clearly not holomorphic, although they are  $C^{\infty}$ . This might seem potentially problematic for carrying out our recipe concerning algebraicity. Fortunately, though, the operators  $\delta_{\lambda}$  can be reformulated geometrically over a modular curve  $\mathcal{M}_N(\mathbb{C})$ , and that geometric formulation provides enough structure to preserve algebraic aspects of modular forms. In brief, the map of sheaves

$$\mathcal{E}_{\lambda} \to \mathcal{E}_{\lambda+2}$$

corresponding to  $\delta_{\lambda}$  is induced by the composition of maps

(17) 
$$\underline{\omega}^{\otimes k} \hookrightarrow (H^1_{dR})^{\otimes k} \xrightarrow{\nabla} (H^1_{dR})^{\otimes k} \otimes \Omega_{\mathcal{M}_N} \xrightarrow{\sim} (H^1_{dR})^{\otimes k} \otimes \underline{\omega}^{\otimes 2} \twoheadrightarrow \underline{\omega}^{k+2},$$

where  $H_{dR}^1 := \mathbf{R}_{\pi_*}^1 \left( \Omega^{\bullet}_{\mathcal{A}/\mathcal{M}_N} \right)$ ,  $\nabla$  is the Gauss–Manin connection, the isomorphism is the identity map tensored with the Kodaira–Spencer morphism, and the surjection is the projection onto the first factor of the Hodge decomposition  $\underline{\omega} \oplus H^{0,1}$ . Each of these maps is algebraic and can be defined over any  $\mathcal{O}_{E,(p)}$ -algebra, except for the final one. The final map has enough structure, though, that it preserves essential algebraic structure. In particular, when applied to a holomorphic modular form,  $\delta_{\lambda}$  preserves algebraicity at CM points, which is essential for proving algebraicity via the aforementioned Damerell's formula. In addition, the *holomorphic projection*  $H(g\delta_{\lambda}^{(r)}E)$  is a holomorphic modular form with the property  $\langle f, H(g\delta_{\lambda}^{(r)}E) \rangle = \langle f, g\delta_{\lambda}^{(r)}E \rangle$ , so  $\langle f, H(g\delta_{\lambda}^{(r)}E) \rangle$  still becomes a scalar multiple of  $\langle f, f \rangle$  and we still obtain Expression (2).

The composition of maps (17) can naturally be formulated over our PEL moduli space  $\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{K}}$  to construct differential operators on unitary groups, and these operators preserve similar algebraic properties of automorphic forms in this setting. We do not elaborate on them here. Note, though, that more book-keeping is involved in this setting, the resulting forms in this case can be vector-valued, and the Kodaira–Spencer map in this case is

$$\Omega_{\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{K}}} \xrightarrow{\sim} \otimes_{\tau \in \mathcal{T}_{\mathcal{K}^+}} \underline{\omega}_{\tau}^+ \otimes \underline{\omega}_{\tau}^-.$$

The Maass–Shimura differential operators and their algebraicity properties have been studied in detail for automorphic forms on unitary groups and related cases in, e.g., [Har81, Har86, Eis12, EFMV18, EM21a, Shi00, Shi84, Shi86, Kat78, Liu19].

*Remark* 4.2.6. In the remainder of this section, we highlight the ingredients needed to carry out our three-step recipe for proving algebraicity for automorphic *L*-functions associated to cuspidal automorphic representations of unitary groups. We emphasize aspects that are unlikely to be viewed as "straightforward" extensions of the tools occurring in the setting of Shimura's work with Rankin–Selberg convolutions of modular forms, and consequently, a detailed introduction to the doubling method forms a large portion of the remainder of this section.

4.3. The doubling method, in the setting of unitary groups. We now introduce the aforementioned *doubling method*, which provides an integral representation of our *L*functions, i.e. a global integral that unfolds to a product of local integrals in terms of which we can realize an Euler product for our *L*-functions. The approach we present here is due to [PSR87, Gar84]. There are also helpful notes in [Cog06]. The doubling method is an instance of a *pullback method* or Rankin–Selberg style integral, i.e. we will be integrating a pullback of an Eisenstein series against a pair of cusp forms. As noted in [PSR87, Section 1], the doubling method is based on the Rankin–Selberg method (a generalization to  $GL_n$  of the Rankin–Selberg convolution from Equation (3)), but unlike the Rankin–Selberg method, it does not require uniqueness of Whittaker models (and hence allows us to work with unitary groups). The doubling method can also be formulated algebraically geometrically so that we can study algebraic aspects of values of L-functions.

4.3.1. Setup for the doubling method. To begin, let

 $U \coloneqq U(V, \langle, \rangle)$ 

be as in Definition 2.1.1 (with V an *n*-dimensional vector space over the CM field K). Let  $W = V \oplus V$ . We define a Hermitian pairing  $\langle , \rangle_W$  on W by

$$\langle (u,v), (u',v') \rangle_W \coloneqq \langle u,u' \rangle_V - \langle v,v' \rangle_V$$

for all  $u, v, u', v' \in V$ . Following the conventions of [Shi97, Equation (1.1.7)], we sometimes denote the pairing  $\langle , \rangle_W$  by

(18) 
$$\langle , \rangle \oplus -\langle , \rangle$$

Let

$$U_W \coloneqq U(W, \langle, \rangle_W).$$

Then  $U_W$  is a unitary group of signature (n, n) at each place, and we have an embedding

(19) 
$$U \times U = U(V, \langle, \rangle) \times U(V, -\langle, \rangle) \hookrightarrow U_W,$$

via  $(g,g')(u,v) \coloneqq (gu,g'v)$  for all  $g,g' \in G$  and  $u,v \in V$ . This doubling of our group is what leads to the name doubling method. (This is the formulation of unitary groups in the original setup for the doubling method in [PSR87, Gar84]. In Section 4.4, we will also address the relationship with the unitary groups associated to PEL data, by giving a set of PEL data that induces an analogous embedding.)

Remark 4.3.1. The doubling method is formulated in terms of integrals over the groups  $U(\mathbb{A}_{K^+})$  and  $U(K_v^+)$  and subquotients of these groups. For these integrals, we work with a Haar measure on these groups. For the purposes of this manuscript, we do not need to be more precise. The reader seeking more information about appropriate choices of normalizations could consult [EHLS20, Section 1.4.3].

Let P be the Siegel parabolic subgroup of  $U_W$  preserving the maximal isotropic subspace

$$V^{\Delta} \coloneqq \{(v,v) \mid v \in V\} \subset W.$$

We also define

$$V_{\Delta} \coloneqq \{(v, -v) \mid v \in V\} \subset W.$$

With respect to the decomposition  $W = V^{\Delta} \oplus V_{\Delta}$ , we have that for each  $K^+$ -algebra R, (20)

$$P(R) = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} A & 0 \\ 0 & t\bar{A}^{-1} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 1_n & X \\ 0 & 1_n \end{pmatrix} \mid A \in GL_{K \otimes_{K^+} R}(V \otimes_{K^+} R) \text{ and } X \in \operatorname{Herm}_n(K \otimes_{K^+} R) \right\}.$$

Given a  $K^+$ -algebra R and a character  $\psi$  of  $(K \otimes_{K^+} R)^{\times}$ , we view  $\psi$  as a character of P(R) via

$$\begin{pmatrix} A & B \\ 0 & {}^t\bar{A}^{-1} \end{pmatrix} \mapsto \psi(\det A).$$

4.3.2. Siegel Eisenstein series. Let  $\chi: K^{\times} \setminus \mathbb{A}_{K}^{\times} \to \mathbb{C}^{\times}$  be a unitary Hecke character. Given  $s \in \mathbb{C}$ , let

$$f_{s,\chi}: U_W(\mathbb{A}_{K^+}) \to \mathbb{C}$$

be an element of

$$I(s,\chi) \coloneqq \operatorname{Ind}_{P(\mathbb{A}_{K^+})}^{U_W(\mathbb{A}_{K^+})}(\chi|\cdot|^{-s}) \coloneqq \left\{ f: U_W(\mathbb{A}_{K^+}) \to \mathbb{C}|f(ph) = \chi(p)|p|^{-s+n/2}f(h) \right\},$$

with the absolute value here denoting the adelic norm. (In practice, we usually restrict ourselves to the smooth,  $\mathcal{K}$ -finite functions in  $I(s,\chi)$ .) The elements  $\alpha \in U_W(\mathbb{A}_{K^+})$  act on elements

$$f \in \operatorname{Ind}_{P(\mathbb{A}_{K^+})}^{U_W(\mathbb{A}_{K^+})}(\chi|\cdot|^{-s})$$

via

 $(\alpha f)(h) = f(h\alpha)$ 

for all  $h \in U_W(\mathbb{A}_{K^+})$ . The induced representation  $I(s,\chi)$  factors as a restricted tensor product  $\otimes_v \operatorname{Ind}_{P(K_v^+)}^{U_W(K_v^+)}(\chi_v|\cdot|^{-s})$ , with the induced representation for the local groups defined analogously.

We define a Siegel Eisenstein series on  $U_W$  by

(21) 
$$E_{f_{s,\chi}}(h) \coloneqq \sum_{\gamma \in P(K^+) \setminus U_W(K^+)} f_{s,\chi}(\gamma h).$$

This series converges absolutely and uniformly for  $\operatorname{Re}(s) > \frac{n}{2}$ . In addition,  $E_{f_{s,\chi}}$  is a meromorphic function of s and is an automorphic form in h. Define a Hecke character  $\chi$  by

$$\check{\chi}(x) \coloneqq \chi(\bar{x})^{-1}$$

let  $N_P$  denote the unipotent radical of P, and let w be the Weyl element interchanging  $V^{\Delta}$ and  $V_{\Delta}$ . The Eisenstein series  $E_{f_{s,\chi}}(h)$  satisfies the functional equation

$$E_{f_s,\chi}(h) = E_{M(s,\chi)f_{s,\chi}}(h),$$

where  $M(s,\chi): I(s,\chi) \to I(1-s,\chi)$  is the intertwining operator defined for  $\operatorname{Re}(s) > \frac{n}{2}$  by

$$[M(s,\chi)f_{s,\chi}](h) = \int_{N_P(\mathbb{A}_{K^+})} f_{s,\chi}(wnh)dn$$
$$= \int_{\operatorname{Herm}_n(\mathbb{A}_K)} f_{s,\chi}\left(w\begin{pmatrix} 1 & X\\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}h\right)dX$$

4.3.3. The doubling integral. Let  $\pi$  be an irreducible cuspidal automorphic representation of U, and let  $\pi'$  denote the contragredient of  $\pi$ . Given  $\varphi \in \pi$  and  $\varphi' \in \pi'$ , we define the doubling integral by

(22) 
$$Z\left(\varphi,\varphi',f_{s,\chi}\right) \coloneqq \int_{[U\times U](K^+)\setminus[U\times U](\mathbb{A}_{K^+})} E_{f_{s,\chi}}(g,h)\varphi(g)\varphi'(h)\chi^{-1}(\det h)dgdh.$$

The notation  $[U \times U]$  here denotes the image of  $U \times U$  inside  $U_W$ .

Remark 4.3.2. The character  $\chi$  is absent from the original treatment in [PSR87], but it is a straightforward exercise to show that if we define the Eisenstein series as above to include  $\chi$ , then the doubling integral must take this form. Indeed, we include  $\chi$  in our analysis below.

The integral  $Z(\varphi, \varphi', f_{s,\chi})$  inherits the analytic properties of Eisenstein series. In particular,  $Z(\varphi, \varphi', f_{s,\chi})$  extends to a meromorphic function of s and satisfies the functional equation

$$Z(\varphi,\varphi',f_{s,\chi})=Z(\varphi,\varphi',M(s,\chi)f_{s,\chi}).$$

The doubling integral  $Z(\varphi, \varphi', f_{s,\chi})$  plays a role in our setting analogous to the role played by the Rankin–Selberg integral for  $GL_n$ .

Remark 4.3.3. Note that in the case of definite groups (i.e. signature(n, 0)), we can choose our input data so that the integral unfolds into a finite sum of values of automorphic forms and can be reinterpreted as values of those automorphic forms at CM points of the corresponding Shimura variety on which the Eisenstein series is defined. In the special case where n = 1, this allows us to recover a variant of *Damerell's formula*, an expression of values  $L(0, \chi)$ , with  $\chi$  a Hecke character of type  $A_0$  on a CM field, as a finite sum of values of a Hilbert modular form at CM Hilbert–Blumenthal abelian varieties. Damerell initiated the study of the algebraicity properties of these values, and this study was later completed by Goldstein–Schappacher [GS81, GS83], Shimura [Shi75], and Weil [Wei99]. For those seeking more details, note that a nice history of the development of Damerell's formula is provided in [HS85, §5].

4.3.4. Unfolding the doubling integral into an Euler product.

**Theorem 4.3.4.** We have the equality

$$Z\left(\varphi,\varphi',f_{s,\chi}\right) = \int_{U(\mathbb{A}_{K^+})} f_{s,\chi}(g,1) \langle \pi(g)\varphi,\varphi' \rangle dg,$$

where

(23) 
$$\langle \varphi, \varphi' \rangle \coloneqq \int_{U(K^+) \setminus U(\mathbb{A}_{K^+})} \varphi(g) \varphi'(g) dg.$$

*Remark* 4.3.5. The pairing  $\langle , \rangle$  is the unique U-invariant pairing of  $\pi$  with  $\pi'$ , up to a constant multiple. We likewise also write  $\langle , \rangle$  for the corresponding integral over  $U(K_v^+)$ .

Remark 4.3.6. It is natural to wonder what we might get if we replace  $\pi'$  by some other irreducible cuspidal automorphic representation  $\tilde{\pi} \notin \pi'$  and  $\varphi' \in \tilde{\pi}$ . In that case, we would have  $\langle \pi(g)\varphi,\varphi' \rangle = 0$ , and as a consequence of Theorem 4.3.4, we would then have that  $Z(\varphi,\varphi', f_{s,\chi})$  is identically zero.

Remark 4.3.7. Going forward, we suppose we have factorizations  $\pi = \otimes'_v \pi_v$  and  $\pi' = \otimes'_v \pi'_v$ (where these restricted tensor products are over the places of  $K^+$ ), and we suppose  $\varphi = \otimes'_v \varphi_v$ with  $\varphi_v \in \pi_v$  and  $\varphi' = \otimes'_v \varphi'_v$  with  $\varphi'_v \in \pi'_v$ . In Section 4.3.5, we will specific that this restricted tensor product is with respect to  $\mathcal{K}$ , but we do not need that level of detail yet. We also suppose that  $f_{s,\chi} = \otimes'_v f_{s,\chi_v}$ , with  $f_{s,\chi_v} \in I_v(s,\chi) \coloneqq \operatorname{Ind}_{P(K_v^+)}^{H(K_v^+)}(\chi_v |\cdot|^{-s})$ .

**Corollary 4.3.8.** Given input satisfying the conditions of Remark 4.3.7, the integral  $Z(\varphi, \varphi', f_{s,\chi})$  factors as an Euler product (over all places v of  $K^+$ ):

$$Z(\varphi,\varphi',f_{s,\chi}) = \prod_{v} Z_{v}(\varphi_{v},\varphi'_{v},f_{s,\chi_{v}}),$$

where

$$Z_{v}(\varphi_{v},\varphi_{v}',f_{s,\chi_{v}}) = \int_{U(K_{v}^{+})} f_{s,\chi_{v}}(g_{v},1) \langle \pi_{v}(g_{v})\varphi,\varphi' \rangle dg_{v}$$

Proof of Corollary 4.3.8. By the uniqueness of the U-invariant pairing between  $\pi$  and  $\pi'$ , we have

$$\langle \varphi, \varphi' \rangle = \prod_{v} \langle \varphi_{v}, \varphi'_{v} \rangle.$$

The corollary now follows immediately from Theorem 4.3.4.

Proof of Theorem 4.3.4. The theorem will follow from an analysis of the orbits of  $U \times U$ acting on  $X := P \setminus U_W$ , which we now explain. We write  $[U \times U]^{\gamma}$  for the stabilizer of a point  $\gamma \in X$ . We re-express the Eisenstein series  $E_{f_{s,\chi}}(g)$  as

$$E_{f_{s,\chi}}(g) = \sum_{[\gamma] \in P(K^+) \setminus U_W(K^+) / [U \times U](K^+)} \left( \sum_{[U \times U]^{\gamma}(K^+) \setminus [U \times U](K^+)} f_{s,\chi}(\gamma h) \right),$$

where, for each  $\gamma \in U_W(K^+)$ ,  $[U \times U]^{\gamma}(K^+)$  denotes the stabilizer of  $P(K^+)\gamma \in P(K^+) \setminus U_W(K^+)$ under the right action of  $[U \times U](K^+)$  and  $[\gamma]$  denotes the orbit of  $P(K^+)\gamma$  in  $P(K^+) \setminus U_W(K^+)$ under the right action of  $[U \times U](K^+)$ .

Inserting this expression for the Eisenstein series into the doubling integral, we have

$$Z\left(\varphi,\varphi',f_{s,\chi}\right) = \sum_{[\gamma]\in P(K^+)\setminus U_W(K^+)/[U\times U](K^+)} \left(\sum_{[U\times U]^{\gamma}(K^+)\setminus [U\times U](K^+)} \int_{[U\times U](K^+)\setminus [U\times U](\mathbb{A}_{K^+})} f_{s,\chi}\left(\gamma(g,h)\right)\varphi(g)\varphi'(h)\chi^{-1}(\det h)dgdh\right)$$
$$= \sum_{[\gamma]\in P(K^+)\setminus U_W(K^+)/[U\times U](K^+)} I(\gamma),$$

where for each  $\gamma \in U_W(K^+)$ ,

$$I(\gamma) \coloneqq \int_{[U \times U]^{\gamma}(K^{+}) \setminus [U \times U](\mathbb{A}_{K^{+}})} f_{s,\chi}(\gamma(g,h)) \varphi(g) \varphi'(h) \chi^{-1}(\det h) dg dh.$$

Note that for each  $\gamma \in U_W(K^+)$ ,

$$[U \times U]^{\gamma}(K^{+}) = \{(g,h) \in [U \times U](K^{+}) \mid P(K^{+})\gamma(g,h) = P(K^{+})\gamma\}$$
  
=  $\{(g,h) \in [U \times U](K^{+}) \mid \gamma(g,h)\gamma^{-1} \in P(K^{+})\}.$ 

First we consider the case of the identity  $\gamma = \gamma_0 = 1 \in U_W(K^+)$ . The stabilizer of the identity  $\gamma_0 = 1 \in U_W(K^+)$  is

$$[U \times U]^{\gamma_0}(K^+) = P(K^+) \cap U_W(K^+) = \{(g,g) \mid g \in U(K^+)\} =: U^{\Delta}(K^+).$$

In this case, we have

$$f_{s,\chi}(\gamma_0(g,h)) = f_{s,\chi}((g,h)) = f_{s,\chi}((h,h)(h^{-1}g,1)) = \chi(\det(h))f_{s,\chi}(h^{-1}g,1)$$

 $\operatorname{So}$ 

$$I(\gamma_0) = \int_{U^{\Delta}(K^+) \setminus [U \times U](\mathbb{A}_{K^+})} f_{s,\chi}(h^{-1}g, 1) \varphi(g) \varphi'(h) dg dh.$$

Noting that

$$U \times U \cong U^{\Delta} \times (U \times 1) \cong U \times U$$
$$(g,h) \leftrightarrow (h,h)(h^{-1}g,1) \leftrightarrow (h,h^{-1}g)$$

and writing  $g_1 = h^{-1}g$ , we have

$$I(\gamma_0) = \int_{U(\mathbb{A}_{K^+})} \int_{U(K^+)\setminus U(\mathbb{A}_{K^+})} f_{s,\chi}(g_1,1) \pi(g_1)\varphi(h)\varphi'(h) dh dg_1$$
  
= 
$$\int_{U(\mathbb{A}_{K^+})} f_{s,\chi}(g_1,1) \langle \pi(g_1)\varphi,\varphi' \rangle dg_1.$$

The other orbits are *negligible*, i.e. the stabilizer of a point in the orbit contains the unipotent radical of a proper parabolic subgroup of  $[U \times U](K^+)$  as a normal subgroup. (This definition of *negligible* comes from [PSR87, §1, p.2].) We will now show that for each negligible orbit  $[\gamma]$ ,

$$I(\gamma) = 0,$$

thus completing this proof (and also justifying the name *negligible*). For the remainder of this proof, suppose that  $\gamma$  belongs to a negligible orbit, i.e. there is a proper parabolic subgroup of  $U \times U$  whose unipotent radical  $N^{\gamma}$  is a normal subgroup of  $[U \times U]^{\gamma}$ . We write

$$I(\gamma) = \int_{[U \times U]^{\gamma}(\mathbb{A}_{K^+}) \setminus [U \times U](\mathbb{A}_{K^+})} I(\gamma, h_1, h_2) dh_1 dh_2$$

where

$$I(\gamma, h_1, h_2) = \int_{[U \times U]^{\gamma}(K^+) \setminus [U \times U]^{\gamma}(\mathbb{A}_{K^+})} f_{s,\chi}(\gamma(g_1, g_2)(h_1, h_2))\varphi(g_1h_1)\varphi'(g_2h_2)\chi^{-1}(\det(g_2h_2))dg_1dg_2.$$

We will now prove that  $I(\gamma, h_1, h_2) = 0$ , thus completing the proof. Let

$$M \coloneqq N^{\gamma} \setminus [U \times U]^{\gamma}$$

We further decompose that integral as

$$I(\gamma, h_1, h_2) = \int_{M(K^+) \setminus M(\mathbb{A}_{K^+})} I(\gamma, h_1, h_2, m_1, m_2) dm_1 dm_2$$

where

$$I(\gamma, h_1, h_2, m_1, m_2) = \int_{N^{\gamma}(K^+) \setminus N^{\gamma}(\mathbb{A}_{K^+})} f_{s,\chi}(\gamma(n_1, n_2)(m_1, m_2)(h_1, h_2))\varphi(n_1m_1h_1)\varphi'(n_2m_2h_2)\chi^{-1}(\det(n_2m_2h_2))dn_1dn_2.$$
  
Since  $N^{\gamma}$  is the unipotent radical of a proper parabolic subgroup of  $U \times U$ , we can write

Since  $N^{\gamma}$  is the unipotent radical of a proper parabolic subgroup of  $U \times U$ , we can write

$$N^{\gamma} = N_1 \times N_2,$$

with each subgroup  $N_i$  the unipotent radical of a parabolic subgroup of U. So noting that det  $n_i = 1$  and writing  $\gamma(n_1, n_2) = p\gamma$  for some  $p \in P$ , we have

$$I(\gamma, h_1, h_2) = \int_{M(K^+) \setminus M(\mathbb{A}_{K^+})} f_{s,\chi}(p\gamma(m_1, m_2)(h_1, h_2)) I_1(m_1, h_1) I_1(m_2, h_2) \chi^{-1}(\det(m_2h_2)) dm_1 dm_2,$$

where, for i = 1, 2,

$$I_i(m_i, h_i) = \int_{N_i(K^+) \setminus N_i(\mathbb{A}_{K^+})} \varphi_i(n_i m_i h_i) dn_i,$$

with  $\varphi_1 = \varphi$  and  $\varphi_2 = \varphi'$ . Since N is nontrivial, at least one of the subgroups  $N_i$  is nontrivial. So since  $\varphi$  and  $\varphi'$  are cusp forms,  $I_i(m_i, h_i) = 0$  for at least one of i = 1, 2. So  $I(\gamma) = 0$  for each  $\gamma$  in a negligible orbit.

Finally, to conclude the proof of Theorem 4.3.4, we need to show that if  $\gamma \notin [1]$ , then  $\gamma \in X = P \setminus U_W$  is in a negligible orbit. First, note that since  $U_W$  acts transitively on the space of maximal isotropic subspaces of W and P stabilizes the maximal isotropic subspace  $V^{\Delta}$ ,

we identify  $X = P \setminus U_W$  with the variety that parametrizes the maximal isotropic subspaces of W. Under this identification, the orbit of 1P corresponds to the orbit of the maximal isotropic subspace  $V^{\Delta}$ . We need to show that the other orbits are negligible, i.e. the stabilizer contains the unipotent radical of a proper parabolic subgroup of  $U_W$  as a normal subgroup. Let  $V^+ = V \times \langle 0 \rangle \subseteq W$ , and  $V^- = \langle 0 \rangle \times V \subseteq W$ . By [PSR87, Lemma 2.1], for any maximal isotropic subspace  $L \subseteq W$ , we have  $\dim_K L \cap V^+ = \dim_K L \cap V^-$ , and furthermore, the  $U \times U$ -orbits of maximal isotropic subspaces parametrized by X are the spaces  $X_d \subseteq X$ defined by

 $X_d := \{L \subseteq W \mid L \text{ is a maximal isotropic subspace such that } \dim_K (L \cap V^+) = d\}$ 

Observe that the orbit of  $V^{\Delta}$  is then  $X_0$ .

For the remainder of the proof, fix d > 0, and let  $L \in X_d$ . Let  $R \subset U \times U$  be the stabilizer of L. To complete the proof, we will find a proper parabolic subgroup of  $U \times U$  whose unipotent radical is normal in R. Let  $P^{\pm}$  denote the parabolic subgroup of U preserving the flag  $V \supset \pi^{\pm}(L) \supset L^{\pm}$ , where  $\pi^{\pm}$  is the orthogonal projection of W onto  $V^{\pm}$  and  $L^{\pm} := L \cap V^{\pm}$ . Note that since d > 0,  $P^{\pm}$  is a proper parabolic subgroup of U. So  $P^{+} \times P^{-}$  is a proper parabolic subgroup of  $U \times U$ . Let  $N_d = N^+ \times N^-$ , with  $N^{\pm}$  the unipotent radical of  $P^{\pm}$ . To conclude the proof, it suffices to show that  $N_d$  is a normal subgroup of R. Note that  $R \subset P^+ \times P^-$ . So since  $N_d$  is normal in  $P^+ \times P^-$ , it suffices to show that  $N \subset R$ . Note that  $N^{\pm}$ induces the identity on  $\pi^{\pm}(L)/L^{\pm}$ . Now consider the projections  $\pi_{\pm} : \pi^{\pm}(L) \to \pi^{\pm}(L)/L^{\pm}$ . Then  $\pi_{\pm}(nv) = \pi_{\pm}(v)$  for all  $v \in L^{\pm}$  and  $n \in N_d$ . Finally, note that for the maximal isotropic subspace, there is an isometry  $\iota : \pi^{\pm}(L)/L^{\pm} \to \pi^{\mp}(L)/L^{\mp}$  determined by  $\iota(\pi_+v_+) = \pi_-v_-$  if and only if  $(v_+, v_-) \in L$ . So for all  $n \in N_d$ ,  $\iota(n\pi_+v_+) = \iota(\pi_+v_+) = \pi_-(v_-) = \pi_-(n_-v_-)$ . So  $N_d \subset R$ , as desired.

Remark 4.3.9. The doubling method actually applies not only to unitary groups but to classical groups more generally. Indeed, our approach above often did not use features unique to unitary groups but relied primarily on an embedding  $U \times U \hookrightarrow U_W$  of a group into its "doubled group" and the following two properties, which can also be extended to other classical groups:

- (1) The stabilizer of the identity  $\gamma_0 = 1$  is  $U^{\Delta}$ .
- (2) All the orbits other than the orbit of  $\gamma_0 = 1$  are negligible.

For example, explicit constructions for symplectic and orthogonal groups are also discussed in [PSR87, Section 2]. In practice, [PSR87] treats the input and construction axiomatically and then shows how this axiomatic treatment can be applied for each of the classical groups.

4.3.5. From local doubling integrals to Euler factors for standard Langlands L-functions. We already saw that  $Z(f_{s,\chi},\varphi,\varphi')$  satisfies a functional equation, but we want to relate it to a familiar L-function. In Sections 4.3.6 through 4.3.9, we give a brief overview of the realization of the Euler factors  $L(s,\pi,\chi)$  for the standard Langlands L-function in terms of the local integrals  $Z_v(\varphi_v,\varphi'_v, f_{s,\chi_v})$ .

As noted in [Eis20, Section 4.1], at all finite places  $v \notin S$ , the strategy for computing the local integrals arising in the doubling method for unitary groups (as well as for symplectic groups) is to reduce them to integrals computed by Godement and Jacquet for  $GL_n$  [Jac79]. For certain other groups, the computations reduce to other integrals computed by Godement and Jacquet in [GJ72].

Let S be the set of all finite places of  $K^+$  that ramify in K or where  $\pi$ ,  $\pi'$ , and  $\chi$  are ramified. For all finite places  $v \notin S$ , let  $\varphi_v \in \pi_v$  and  $\varphi'_v \in \pi'_v$  be normalized K-fixed vectors such that  $\langle \varphi_v, \varphi'_v \rangle = 1$ .

4.3.6. Factors at split nonarchimedean places. At split finite places  $v, U(K_v^+) \cong GL_n(K_v^+)$ , as in Isomorphism (5). In [PSR87, Section 3] (see also [Cog06, Section 2.3] and [EHLS20, Section 4.2.1]), Ilya Piatetski-Shapiro and Stephen Rallis explain how to choose a local Siegel section  $f_v$  so that the computation reduces to integrals computed by Godement and Jacquet for  $GL_n$  in [GJ72]. At these places, we have

$$d_{n,v}(s,\chi_v) Z_v\left(\varphi_v,\varphi'_v,f_v,s\right) = L_v\left(s+\frac{1}{2},\pi_v,\chi_v\right),$$

where

$$d_{n,v}(s,\chi_v) = d_{n,v}(s) = \prod_{r=0}^{n-1} L_v(2s + n - r,\chi_v \mid_{K_v^+} \eta_v^r),$$

 $\eta_v$  is the character on  $K_v^+$  attached by local class field theory to the extension  $K_w/K_v^+$  (with w a prime of K lying over v). Here  $L_v\left(s + \frac{1}{2}, \pi_v, \chi_v\right) \coloneqq L(s, BC_{K/K^+}(\pi_v) \otimes (\chi_v \circ \det))$ , where  $BC_{K/K^+}(\pi_v)$  denotes the base change of  $\pi_v$  from  $U/K^+$  to  $GL_n/K$  (as developed in [Lab11]).

4.3.7. Factors at inert nonarchimedean places. At inert nonarchimedean primes, the unitary group is not isomorphic to a general linear group. So we will need a different approach from the one we just employed for split finite primes. Note that there is a close relationship between the symplectic group  $\text{Sp}_{2n}$  and the unitary group U(n,n) of signature (n,n). In [PSR87, Section 6], Piatetski-Shapiro and Rallis computed the local integrals for  $\text{Sp}_{2n}$ . (They did this by choosing a local section  $f_v$  that allows them to reduce their calculation to a calculation of the aforementioned integrals for  $GL_n$  computed Godement and Jacquet.) In [Li92, Section 3], Jian-Shu Li completed the computation of the local integrals for unitary groups by reduction to these calculations for  $\text{Sp}_{2n}$  completed by Piatetski-Shapiro–Rallis, and similarly to the result at split finite places above, we obtain

$$d_{n,v}(s,\chi_v) I_v(\varphi_v,\varphi'_v,f_v,s) = L_v\left(s+\frac{1}{2},\pi_v,\chi_v\right).$$

Remark 4.3.10. For those interested in constructing *p*-adic *L*-functions, note that one must modify the input at *p* and compute the corresponding integrals at *p*. The approach in [EHLS20] assumes the prime *p* splits, so the local integrals in that paper reduce immediately to (elaborate!) calculations for general linear groups. In the case of *p* inert, at least for unitary groups of signature (a, a), in the spirit of Li's calculation mentioned above, a starting point would be to adapt the calculations carried out by Zheng Liu for symplectic groups in [Liu20], as discussed in [Eis20, Section 4.1].

4.3.8. Factors at ramified nonarchimedean places. At ramified places, it is possible to construct a section  $f_v \in \operatorname{Ind}_{P(K_v^+)}^{U(K_v^+)}(\chi_v|\cdot|^{-s})$  such that  $\int_{U(K_v^+)} f_v(g,1)\langle \pi_v(g)\varphi_v,\varphi'_v\rangle dg$  is constant (see, e.g. [PSR87, p. 47] or [EHLS20, Section 4.2.2]). 4.3.9. Factors at archimedean places. Recently, the author and Liu computed the archimedean zeta integrals in terms of a product of  $\Gamma$ -factors, without restriction on the weights or signature [EL21]. For over 30 years, though, the question of how to compute them remained open, except in special cases. The first progress in this direction was due to Paul Garrett, who showed that the archimedean zeta integrals are algebraic up to a particular power of the number  $\pi$  [Gar08]. In addition, for certain choices of Siegel sections  $f_v$ , he computed the archimedean integrals when a certain piece of the weight of the cuspidal automorphic representation  $\pi$  is one-dimensional. (Prior to Garrett's contribution, Shimura had addressed the case of scalar weight [Shi97, Shi00].) The work in [EL21] builds on Liu's work for the symplectic case in [Liu21], as well as work for unitary groups of signature (n, 1) in [Liu15, LL16].

### 4.4. The doubling method, revisited from the perspective of algebraic geometry.

Section 4.3 introduced the doubling method, as it was originally presented in [PSR87, Gar84]. This formulation is not only important for obtaining an Euler product, but also for establishing key analytic properties, such as the functional equation and meromorphic continuation of the *L*-function. On the other hand, if we want to study algebraic aspects of the values of the *L*-function, it is not necessarily immediately apparent how to translate this analytic formulation (in terms of integrals) into algebraic information.

The key is to reformulate the doubling pairing in terms of PEL data and the corresponding moduli spaces. This is the approach employed by Harris in his study of critical values of L-functions associated to automorphic representations of unitary groups in [Har97], and it is also the approach used in the constructions of p-adic L-functions for unitary groups in [EHLS20]. This approach is also the main topic of [Har21].

Now, the groups arising in the full PEL moduli problem are general unitary groups, i.e. have similitude factors. As seen in [Har97, Sections 3.1 and 3.2], though, it is straightforward to adapt the doubling method to the case of similitude groups. The inclusion  $U \times U \hookrightarrow U_W$  from (19) extends to an inclusion

(24) 
$$G(U \times U) \hookrightarrow GU_W \coloneqq GU(W, \langle, \rangle_W),$$

where

$$G(U \times U) \coloneqq \{(g,h) \in GU(V,\langle,\rangle) \times GU(V,-\langle,\rangle) \mid \nu(g) = \nu(h)\}.$$

Then the doubling integral defined in Equation (22) is replaced by a similar integral (with the input automorphic forms now defined on similitude groups) but over

$$(Z(\mathbb{A}_{K^+})(G(U\times U))(K^+))\setminus (G(U\times U))(\mathbb{A}_{K^+}),$$

where Z denotes the identity component of the center and is identified with the center of  $GU(V, \langle, \rangle) = GU(V, -\langle, \rangle)$ . Likewise, the invariant pairing from Equation (23) is replaced by an integral over

$$Z(\mathbb{A})GU_V(K^+)\setminus GU_V(\mathbb{A}_{K^+}),$$

where  $GU_V \coloneqq GU(V, \langle, \rangle)$ .

We also note that the definition of the Eisenstein series from Equation (21) can be extended to  $GU_W$ . Similarly to the unitary setting above, we denote by GP the parabolic subgroup of  $GU_W$  preserving  $V^{\Delta}$  in  $V_{\Delta} \oplus V^{\Delta}$ . In place of Equation (20), we have (25)

$$GP(R) = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} \lambda A & 0\\ 0 & t\bar{A}^{-1} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 1_n & X\\ 0 & 1_n \end{pmatrix} \mid \lambda \in R^{\times}, A \in GL_{K \otimes_{K^+} R}(V \otimes_K^+ R), \text{ and } X \in \operatorname{Herm}_n(K \otimes_{K^+} R) \right\}$$

Given a  $K^+$ -algebra R and a character  $\psi$  of  $(K \otimes_{K^+} R)^{\times}$ , we obtain a character of GP(R) via

$$p = \begin{pmatrix} \lambda A & B \\ 0 & {}^t \bar{A}^{-1} \end{pmatrix} \mapsto \psi(\det A(p)) |\lambda(p)|_{K^+}^{-ns},$$

where A(p) = A and  $\lambda(p) = \lambda$ . Correspondingly, as detailed in, e.g., [Eis14, Section 3.1], we replace  $I(s, \chi)$  from above by the induction from  $GP(\mathbb{A}_{K^+})$  to  $GU_W(\mathbb{A}_{K^+})$  of

$$p \mapsto \chi(\det A(p))|\lambda(p)|_{K^+}^{-ns}|\det A(p)|^{-s+n/2},$$

and we replace the sum in the definition of the Eisenstein series with the sum over  $GP(K^+)\setminus GU_W(K^+)$ .

*Remark* 4.4.1. From the discussion in Section 2.2.2, it is straightforward to write the doubling integral and subsequent discussion in terms of algebraic groups defined over  $\mathbb{Q}$ .

4.4.1. *PEL data for the doubling method.* Ultimately, we are interested in studying algebraicity of values of the above *L*-functions. For this, it will be useful to relate the above approach to the PEL data and moduli spaces introduced in Section 2.2. Similarly to [EHLS20, Section 3.1], we choose PEL data of unitary type that will induce an embedding of moduli spaces corresponding to the inclusion (24). This embedding will also be useful in the project in Section 5. In particular, we fix the following PEL data of unitary type:

 $\begin{aligned} \mathfrak{D}_{+} &\coloneqq (K, *, \mathcal{O}_{K}, V, \langle, \rangle_{\mathbb{Q}}, L, h) \text{ is a PEL datum of unitary type associated with } (V, \langle, \rangle) \text{ as in Section 2.2.2} \\ \mathfrak{D}_{-} &\coloneqq (K, *, \mathcal{O}_{K}, V, -\langle, \rangle_{\mathbb{Q}}, L, z \mapsto h(\bar{z})) \\ \mathfrak{D}_{+,-} &\coloneqq (K \times K, * \times *, \mathcal{O}_{K} \times \mathcal{O}_{K}, V \oplus V, \langle, \rangle_{\mathbb{Q}} \oplus -\langle, \rangle_{\mathbb{Q}}, L \oplus L, z \mapsto h(z) \oplus h(\bar{z})), \end{aligned}$ 

where  $\langle , \rangle_{\mathbb{O}} \oplus -\langle , \rangle_{\mathbb{O}}$  is defined as in (18)

$$\mathfrak{D} := (K, \star, \mathcal{O}_K, V \oplus V, \langle, \rangle_{\mathbb{O}} \oplus -\langle, \rangle_{\mathbb{O}}, L \oplus L, z \mapsto h(z) \oplus h(\overline{z}))$$

We write  $G_+$ ,  $G_-$ ,  $G_{+,-}$ , and G for each of the algebraic groups corresponding, respectively, to this PEL data, as in Equation (6). The subscripts have been chosen to emphasize the connection with the unitary similitude groups immediately above, in particular:

- $G_+$  is defined in terms of a pairing  $\langle,\rangle$
- $G_{-}$  is defined in terms of  $-\langle , \rangle$  and is canonically isomorphic to  $G_{+}$
- $G_{+,-}$  is canonically embedded in  $G_+ \times G_-$
- G is defined in terms of  $\langle , \rangle \oplus \langle , \rangle$ , and  $G_{+,-}$  is canonically embedded inside G

These four groups play analogous roles to  $GU(V, \langle, \rangle)$ ,  $GU(V, -\langle, \rangle)$ ,  $G(U \times U)$ , and  $GU(W, \langle, \rangle_W)$ , respectively, from above. We choose compatible compact open subgroups  $\mathcal{K}_{\pm}$ ,  $\mathcal{K}_{+,-}$ ,  $\mathcal{K}$  inside the groups  $G_{\pm}$ ,  $G_{+,-}$ , G. We continue to use the subscripts here to refer to objects corresponding to these PEL data. Like in [EHLS20, Equation (38)], for each  $\mathcal{O}_{E,(p)}$ -scheme S (or each E-scheme S, depending on which moduli problem we are working with), this induces natural S-morphisms

(26) 
$$\mathcal{M}_{+,-,\mathcal{K}_{+,-}} \to \mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{K}}$$

(27) 
$$\mathcal{M}_{+,-,\mathcal{K}_{+,-}} \to \mathcal{M}_{+,\mathcal{K}_{+}} \times_{S} \mathcal{M}_{-,\mathcal{K}_{-}}.$$

Via the map (26), we can also pullback (i.e. restrict) automorphic forms, viewed as global sections of the vector bundle  $\mathcal{E}^{\rho}$ , on  $\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{K}}$  to obtain automorphic forms on  $\mathcal{M}_{+,-,\mathcal{K}_{+,-}}$ . Via the map (27), we can evaluate those automorphic forms on products of pairs of abelian varieties with PEL structure. As an exercise to check their understanding, the reader might write down the corresponding maps of abelian varieties with PEL structure induced by these two maps of moduli spaces.

This setup, together with the algebraicity of the Eisenstein series discussed in Section 4.5, enables us to view the doubling integral as a pairing between algebraic automorphic forms over the moduli space  $\mathcal{M}_{+,-,\mathcal{K}_{+,-}}$ .

4.5. Algebraicity of Eisenstein series. The strategy outlined above for studying rationality (or algebraicity) of values of automorphic L-functions relies on the rationality (or algebraicity) of the Eisenstein series that are input to the doubling method. Thanks to the algebraicity properties of the Maass–Shimura operators mentioned earlier that can be used to study Eisenstein series at points s where they might not be holomorphic, we focus our discussion here on holomorphic Eisenstein series. In the case of modular forms, the algebraic q-expansion principle tells you that modular forms f are determined by their q-expansions (i.e. value of f at the Tate curve with the canonical differential, as in [Kat73, Sections 1.1 and 1.2] or [Con]). More precisely, we have the following proposition.

**Proposition 4.5.1** (Corollary 1.6.2 of [Kat73]). Let f be a holomorphic modular form of level n, defined over a  $\mathbb{Z}[1/n]$ -algebra S. Suppose the q-expansion coefficients of f lie in a  $\mathbb{Z}[1/n]$ -subalgebra  $R \subseteq S$ . Then f is defined over R.

Because the algebraic q-expansions of a modular form f agree with the analytic qexpansions (i.e. Fourier expansions) of f (as noted in [Kat78, Equation (1.7.6)]), we can use the Fourier coefficients of a modular form to determine that it is defined over, say,  $\mathbb{Q}$  or some localization of a ring of integers. In other words, to determine that f is defined over some  $\mathbb{Z}[1/n]$ -algebra R, we can complete the following two steps:

- (1) Determine the Fourier expansion of f.
- (2) Observe that the coefficients of f are contained in R (and apply Proposition 4.5.1).

Fortunately, as noted in Remark 3.6.1, Lan has proved an analogous algebraic Fourier– Jacobi expansion principle for automorphic forms on unitary groups [Lan13, Proposition 7.1.2.14], and he has also shown that their analytically defined Fourier–Jacobi expansions also agree with algebraically defined Fourier–Jacobi expansions [Lan12]. (For unitary groups of signature (n, n) at each archimedean place, like in Section 3.6, we can write this in a variable q that makes it reasonable to call this a q-expansion principle again.) This takes care of Step (2) in our setting. Still, we are left with a potentially challenging problem: choosing an Eisenstein series and determining its Fourier cofficients. The choice of Eisenstein series is influenced by our use of the doubling method introduced in Section 4.3.

To assist with computing the Fourier coefficients, we have a convenient result of Shimura. Like above, we will work with Siegel Eisenstein series  $E_f := E_{f_{s,\chi}}$  associated to  $f := f_{s,\chi} \in I(s,\chi)$  factoring as  $f = \bigotimes_v f_v$ , with  $f_v \in I_v(s,\chi)$ . Recall that  $E_f$  is an automorphic form on a group that is of signature (n,n) at each real place, which can be identified with the matrices preserving  $\eta = \eta_n$  at each real place (as in Remark 2.1.4). In this case,  $E_f$  has an adelic Fourier expansion, similar to the one in Equation (15), whose Fourier coefficients each factor as a product of local Fourier coefficients. More precisely, we have the following result for  $E_f^*(x) := E_f(x\eta_f^{-1})$ , where  $\eta_f := \prod_{v \neq \infty} \eta$ . Theorem 4.5.2 (Section 18.10 of [Shi97]).

$$E_f^*(q) = \sum_{\beta \in \operatorname{Herm}_n(K)} c_\beta q^\beta,$$

with  $c_{\beta}$  complex numbers that factor as a precisely determined constant multiple of a product (over all places v of  $K^+$ ) of local Fourier coefficients  $c_{\beta,v}$  defined to be the Fourier transform of  $f_v$  at  $\beta$ .

Choosing a section f that factors over places of  $K^+$  not only played a role in producing the Euler product for our *L*-function, but also plays a crucial role in breaking our global Fourier coefficients into a product of local Fourier coefficients.

Remark 4.5.3. We stated Theorem 4.5.2 in such a way as to highlight the fact that each Fourier coefficient decomposes as a product local factors, at the cost of omitting the setup necessary to give more precise statements about adelic Fourier expansions. Since we do not need those details anywhere else in this manuscript, we simply refer the reader to [Eis15, Section 2.2.4] or [Eis14, Section 3.1] for the details specific to our situation here or to [Shi97, Section 18] for a more general and more detailed discussion of the adelic Fourier coefficients of Eisenstein series. In *loc. cit.* and [Shi82], Shimura also computed local Fourier coefficients for these Eisenstein series (for specific choices of  $f_v$ ), which one can use to determine the ring of definition of the Eisenstein series. For other purposes, such as constructing *p*-adic families of Eisenstein series and *p*-adic *L*-functions (like in [Eis15, Eis14, EHLS20]), one needs different choices at primes dividing *p* from those chosen by Shimura, and determining them constitutes a significant step in the *p*-adic situation. We also note that Shimura's rationality results for Eisenstein series were further extended by Harris in [Har08, Har84].

### 5. PROJECT: PRODUCING EXAMPLES OF AUTOMORPHIC FORMS ON UNITARY GROUPS

If someone asks you for examples of modular forms (for  $GL_2$ ), you can probably list some, for example Ramanujan's Delta function

$$\Delta(q) = q \prod_{n \ge 1} (1 - q^n)^{24},$$

which is a holomorphic cusp form of weight 12 and level 1. On the other hand, what if someone asks you for an explicit example of a modular form on a higher rank group? What about a vector-weight automorphic form?

**Goal 5.0.1.** Construct examples of vector-valued automorphic forms on unitary groups and investigate relationships between automorphic forms on unitary groups of different signatures (as well as modular forms, such as  $\Delta$ ).

5.1. Inspiration from Siegel modular forms. We will begin by adapting a method introduced by Fabien Cléry and Gerard van der Geer, which they used to construct vectorvalued Siegel modular forms from scalar-valued Siegel modular forms [CvdG15]. In brief, the procedure they introduced for Siegel modular forms goes as follows. Let f be a Siegel modular form of degree g, weight  $(\rho, X)$  (a representation of  $GL_g$ ), and level one, i.e. f is a holomorphic function

$$f:\mathfrak{H}_q\to X$$

of Siegel upper half space

$$\mathfrak{H}_{g} \coloneqq \{ Z \in \operatorname{Mat}_{g \times g}(\mathbb{C}) \mid Z = {}^{t}Z \text{ and } \operatorname{Im}(Z) > 0 \}$$

such that

$$f((AZ+B)(CZ+D)^{-1}) = \rho(CZ+D)f(Z)$$

for all

$$\begin{pmatrix} A & B \\ C & D \end{pmatrix} \in \operatorname{Sp}_{2g}(\mathbb{Z}) \coloneqq \left\{ h \in GL_{2g}(\mathbb{Z}) \mid {}^{t}h\eta_{g}h = \eta_{g} \right\}.$$

If we fix a positive integer j < g and restrict f to a product of symmetric spaces

(28) 
$$\mathfrak{H}_j \times \mathfrak{H}_{g-j} \hookrightarrow \mathfrak{H}_g$$

(29) 
$$(\tau', \tau'') \mapsto \operatorname{diag}(\tau', \tau''),$$

then we obtain an element in the tensor product of the space Siegel modular forms of degree j and those of degree g - j. If f is scalar-valued (i.e.  $\rho = \det^k$  for some integer k), then the resulting Siegel modular forms are also scalar-valued. This restriction also might vanish. (For example, if k is odd, j = 1, and g = 2, then the restriction of f from  $\mathfrak{H}_2$  to  $\mathfrak{h} \times \mathfrak{h}$  is a modular form in each of the two variables, so f must vanish on  $\mathfrak{h} \times \mathfrak{h}$ .) Nevertheless, we can form a vector-valued Siegel modular form by considering  $f\left(\begin{pmatrix} \tau' & z \\ t_z & \tau'' \end{pmatrix}\right)$  at a point  $(\tau', \tau'')$ 

as a function of  $z = (z_{ab})_{1 \le a \le j, 1 \le b \le g-j}$  and writing its Taylor series expansion in z as

$$f = t_0(f) + t_1(f) + t_2(f) + \cdots,$$

where  $t_r(f)$  is the sum of the terms of degree r (in the variables  $z_{ab}$ ,  $1 \le a \le j$ ,  $1 \le b \le g - j$ ) for each r. If  $t_i(f)$  vanishes on  $\mathfrak{H}_j \times \mathfrak{H}_{g-j}$  for  $i = 0, \ldots, r-1$ , then the pullback of  $t_r(f)$  can be used to define a vector-valued modular form. For example, if j = 1, then this procedure results in the tensor product of a nonzero modular form of weight k + r with a nonzero Siegel modular form of degree g - 1 and weight  $\det^k \otimes \text{Sym}^r$  (as you can verify yourself by considering that  $t_r(f)$  can be viewed as lying in a space of scalar-valued forms tensored with a symmetric power of the Hodge bundle, or you can read the short proof to [CvdG15, Proposition 2.1]).

5.2. Constructing vector-valued automorphic forms on unitary groups. As part of the doubling method in Section 4.3, we constructed an automorphic form on  $U \times U$  by restricting an automorphic form on  $U_W$  to  $U \times U \subseteq U_W$ , where the inclusion of  $U \times U$  is as in Section 4.3.1. In Section 4.4, we translated this inclusion into a morphism of moduli spaces corresponding to these unitary groups. In terms of the Hermitian symmetric spaces from Section 2.2.6, this induces an inclusion

$$\mathcal{H}_{a,b} \times \mathcal{H}_{a,b} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{H}_{a+b,a+b},$$

or, in the case where a = b,

$$\mathcal{H}_a \times \mathcal{H}_a \hookrightarrow \mathcal{H}_{2a},$$

which is similar to the inclusion (28) above, at least in the case 2j = g. In this project, we will also be considering other inclusions of symmetric spaces arising from inclusions of products of unitary groups into a larger unitary group. Four key pieces (or subprojects) are:

(1) Work out an analogue of the strategy of Cléry–van der Geer for unitary groups. Generalizing the embedding  $U \times U \to U_W \cong U(n, n)$  introduced in Section 4.3.1, we can consider a K-vector space V with nondegenerate Hermitian pairing  $\langle, \rangle$ 

and a K-vector space V' with nondegenerate Hermitian pairing  $\langle,\rangle'$ . Then  $V \oplus V'$  is a K-vector space with Hermitian pairing

$$\langle,\rangle\oplus\langle,\rangle'$$

defined by

$$((u, u'), (v, v')) \mapsto \langle u, v \rangle + \langle u', v' \rangle.$$

(Note that this is a direct extension of the notation introduced in a special case in (18).) We then obtain an inclusion

$$U(V,\langle,\rangle) \times U(V',\langle,\rangle') \hookrightarrow U(V \oplus V',\langle,\rangle \oplus \langle,\rangle').$$

This induces a corresponding map of symmetric spaces. Here is a suggested progression of steps for adapting the strategy of [CvdG15] to this setting:

- (a) First figure out everything for  $K^+ = \mathbb{Q}$ . Then, if you wish, move on to  $K^+$  of degree > 1 over  $\mathbb{Q}$ .
- (b) Start with the embedding of Hermitian upper half spaces  $\mathcal{H}_a \times \mathcal{H}_b \hookrightarrow \mathcal{H}_{a+b}$ , i.e. initially avoid signature (m, n) with  $m \neq n$ , since the setup here is particularly close to the above embedding of Siegel upper half spaces  $\mathfrak{H}_a \times \mathfrak{H}_b \hookrightarrow \mathfrak{H}_{a+b}$ , which will make it easier to see parallels between the symplectic and unitary cases. If you want to start with something simpler, you could start with the following simpler cases:
  - (i) a = b = 1, so the pullback is to a pair of modular forms, so might feel more familiar (although both will be scalar-valued, so you will not get vector-valued forms in this simple case)
  - (ii) a = 1, so the first form will be a modular form (and, in fact, is the case considered in [CvdG15] en route to removing this restriction on a)
  - (iii) a = b, so there is symmetry between the two forms (although, depending on your viewpoint, you might find that the symmetry obscures what is going on)
- (c) Extend your approach to other signatures.
- (d) Be sure to determine the weights of the forms you obtain, using the results and proofs in [CvdG15, Section 2] for inspiration.
- (e) In which directions might you further extend this recipe?
- (2) Work out explicit descriptions of forms for low rank (that can then be employed in the above recipe, in analogue with examples in [CvdG15, Sections 3 through 9]). Some natural sources for this are:
  - There are some low-rank examples in the literature, e.g., in the case of signature (2,2), we have [DK03, DK04, Wil21].
  - One possible approach to describing automorphic forms on higher rank groups in terms of forms on smaller groups is through certain liftings, such as (Duke– Imamoglu–)Ikeda lifts, which have recently been generalized in various directions, including to unitary groups [DI96, Ike01, Ike08, HK06]. (For example, a lift of Δ to Siegel modular forms of degree 4 is a particular form called the *Schottky form*, and it turns out to generate the space of Siegel cusp forms of degree 4, level 1, and weight 8 [PY96].)
  - More generally, there are also Hermitian analogs of Saito-Kurokawa and Maass lifts, such as [Koj82, Kur78, And79, Maa79a, Maa79b, Maa79c, Zag81, Vu19a, Vu19b].

#### E. E. EISCHEN

- (3) Work out explicit actions of Hecke operators in low degrees. As a step toward identifying forms of low degree, it can be useful to work out explicit actions of Hecke operators on q-expansions in low degrees (analogous to the action of  $T_{\ell}$  that you usually see in a first course in modular forms), at least for signature (2,2). For inspiration, see the appendices of [CvdG15] and [Ike08].
- (4) How does this procedure interact with or relate to other approaches to constructing vector-valued forms? For example, the following questions could be explored in any order, depending on participants' background and interests:
  - How does the form our procedure produces from a lift of a form relate to the original form?
  - How does this interact with other procedures, like applying Maass–Shimura operators and computing Rankin–Cohen brackets?
  - Which forms can be obtained in this way?
  - Which scalar-valued forms on  $\mathfrak{h}_g$  vanish on  $\mathfrak{h}_j \times \mathfrak{h}_{g-j}$ ? As noted in [CvdG15, Question 2.4], with just a few exceptions, this is an open question in the setting of Siegel modular forms.
  - How might you adapt this procedure if you start with a vector-valued form, instead of a scalar-valued form?

It will likely be helpful to try to answer these questions first in the setting of Siegel modular forms of low degree, before addressing the case of unitary groups.

# References

[AG91]	James Arthur and Stephen Gelbart, Lectures on automorphic L-functions, L-functions and
	arithmetic (Durham, 1989), London Math. Soc. Lecture Note Ser., vol. 153, Cambridge Univ.
	Press, Cambridge, 1991, pp. 1–59.
[And79]	Anatolii N. Andrianov, Modular descent and the Saito-Kurokawa conjecture, Invent. Math. 53
	(1979), no. 3, 267–280.
[aut]	Automorphic project, https://math.jhu.edu/~sakellar/automorphic-files/book.pdf.
[BCG20]	Nicolas Bergeron, Pierre Charollois, and Luis E. Garcia, Transgressions of the Euler class and
	Eisenstein cohomology of $\operatorname{GL}_N(\mathbf{Z})$ , Jpn. J. Math. <b>15</b> (2020), no. 2, 311–379.
[Bel09]	Joël Bellaïche, An introduction to Bloch and Kato's conjecture, Two lectures at the Clay Math-
	ematical Institute Summer School, Honolulu, Hawaii. https://www.claymath.org/sites/
	default/files/bellaiche.pdf.
[BG92]	Daniel Bump and David Ginzburg, Spin L-functions on symplectic groups, Internat. Math.
	Res. Notices (1992), no. 8, 153–160.
[BK90]	Spencer Bloch and Kazuya Kato, L-functions and Tamagawa numbers of motives, The
	Grothendieck Festschrift, Vol. I, Progr. Math., vol. 86, Birkhäuser Boston, Boston, MA, 1990,
	pp. 333–400.
[Bor79]	A. Borel, Automorphic L-functions, Automorphic forms, representations and L-functions
	(Proc. Sympos. Pure Math., Oregon State Univ., Corvallis, Ore., 1977), Part 2, Proc. Sympos.
	Pure Math., XXXIII, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, R.I., 1979, pp. 27–61.
[BP20]	Raphaël Beuzart-Plessis, A local trace formula for the Gan-Gross-Prasad conjecture for unitary
	groups: the Archimedean case, Astérisque (2020), no. 418, viii + 299.
[BPLZZ21]	Raphaël Beuzart-Plessis, Yifeng Liu, Wei Zhang, and Xinwen Zhu, Isolation of cuspidal spec-
	trum, with application to the Gan-Gross-Prasad conjecture, Ann. of Math. (2) 194 (2021),
	no. 2, 519–584.
[Bra49]	Hel Braun, Hermitian modular functions, Ann. of Math. (2) 50 (1949), 827–855.
[Bra50]	, Hermitian modular functions. II. Genus invariants of Hermitian forms, Ann. of Math.
	(2) <b>51</b> (1950), 92–104.
[Bra51]	, Hermitian modular functions. III, Ann. of Math. (2) <b>53</b> (1951), 143–160.

- [Bum97] Daniel Bump, Automorphic forms and representations, Cambridge Studies in Advanced Mathematics, vol. 55, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1997.
- [BvdGHZ08] Jan Hendrik Bruinier, Gerard van der Geer, Günter Harder, and Don Zagier, The 1-2-3 of modular forms, Universitext, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2008, Lectures from the Summer School on Modular Forms and their Applications held in Nordfjordeid, June 2004, Edited by Kristian Ranestad.
- [CEF<sup>+</sup>16] Ana Caraiani, Ellen Eischen, Jessica Fintzen, Elena Mantovan, and Ila Varma, p-adic qexpansion principles on unitary Shimura varieties, Directions in number theory, Assoc. Women Math. Ser., vol. 3, Springer, [Cham], 2016, pp. 197–243.
- [CFGK19] Yuanqing Cai, Solomon Friedberg, David Ginzburg, and Eyal Kaplan, Doubling constructions and tensor product L-functions: the linear case, Invent. Math. 217 (2019), no. 3, 985–1068.
- [CH13] Gaëtan Chenevier and Michael Harris, Construction of automorphic Galois representations, II, Camb. J. Math. 1 (2013), no. 1, 53–73.
- [Che04] Gaëtan Chenevier, Familles p-adiques de formes automorphes pour  $GL_n$ , J. Reine Angew. Math. **570** (2004), 143–217.
- [Che09] \_\_\_\_\_, Une application des variétés de Hecke des groupes unitaires, Part of Paris Book Project. http://gaetan.chenevier.perso.math.cnrs.fr/articles/famgal.pdf.
- [CHLN11] Laurent Clozel, Michael Harris, Jean-Pierre Labesse, and Bao-Châu Ngô (eds.), On the stabilization of the trace formula, Stabilization of the Trace Formula, Shimura Varieties, and Arithmetic Applications, vol. 1, International Press, Somerville, MA, 2011.
- [Clo91] Laurent Clozel, Représentations galoisiennes associées aux représentations automorphes autoduales de GL(n), Inst. Hautes Études Sci. Publ. Math. (1991), no. 73, 97–145.
- [Cog03] J. W. Cogdell, *Dual groups and Langlands functoriality*, An introduction to the Langlands program (Jerusalem, 2001), Birkhäuser Boston, Boston, MA, 2003, pp. 251–268.
- [Cog06] James Cogdell, Lectures on integral representation of L-functions, http://www.math.osu.edu/ ~cogdell/columbia-www.pdf, 2006.
- [Con] Brian Conrad, Algebraic theory of q-expansions, http://virtualmath1.stanford.edu/ ~conrad/248BPage/handouts/qexp.pdf.
- [CvdG15] Fabien Cléry and Gerard van der Geer, Constructing vector-valued Siegel modular forms from scalar-valued Siegel modular forms, Pure Appl. Math. Q. 11 (2015), no. 1, 21–47.
- [Del79] P. Deligne, Valeurs de fonctions L et périodes d'intégrales, Automorphic forms, representations and L-functions (Proc. Sympos. Pure Math., Oregon State Univ., Corvallis, Ore., 1977), Part 2, Proc. Sympos. Pure Math., XXXIII, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, R.I., 1979, With an appendix by N. Koblitz and A. Ogus. (English translation by J. Bieneke and E. Ghate available at http://www.math.tifr.res.in/~eghate/Deligne.pdf), pp. 313-346.
- [DI95] Fred Diamond and John Im, Modular forms and modular curves, Seminar on Fermat's Last Theorem (Toronto, ON, 1993–1994), CMS Conf. Proc., vol. 17, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1995, pp. 39–133.
- [DI96] W. Duke and Ö. Imamoğlu, A converse theorem and the Saito-Kurokawa lift, Internat. Math. Res. Notices (1996), no. 7, 347–355.
- [DK03] Tobias Dern and Aloys Krieg, Graded rings of Hermitian modular forms of degree 2, Manuscripta Math. 110 (2003), no. 2, 251–272.
- [DK04] \_\_\_\_\_, The graded ring of Hermitian modular forms of degree 2 over  $\mathbb{Q}(\sqrt{-2})$ , J. Number Theory **107** (2004), no. 2, 241–265.
- [DS05] Fred Diamond and Jerry Shurman, A first course in modular forms, Graduate Texts in Mathematics, vol. 228, Springer-Verlag, New York, 2005.
- [EFG<sup>+</sup>21] Ellen Eischen, Max Flander, Alexandru Ghitza, Elena Mantovan, and Angus McAndrew, Differential operators mod p: analytic continuation and consequences, Algebra Number Theory 15 (2021), no. 6, 1469–1504.
- [EFMV18] Ellen Eischen, Jessica Fintzen, Elena Mantovan, and Ila Varma, Differential operators and families of automorphic forms on unitary groups of arbitrary signature, Doc. Math. 23 (2018), 445–495.
- [EHLS20] Ellen Eischen, Michael Harris, Jianshu Li, and Christopher Skinner, p-adic L-functions for unitary groups, Forum Math. Pi 8 (2020), e9, 160.

52	E. E. EISCHEN
[Eis12]	Ellen E. Eischen, <i>p</i> -adic differential operators on automorphic forms on unitary groups, Ann. Inst. Fourier (Grenoble) <b>62</b> (2012), no. 1, 177–243.
[Eis14]	Ellen Eischen, A p-adic Eisenstein measure for vector-weight automorphic forms, Algebra Number Theory 8 (2014), no. 10, 2433–2469.
[Eis15]	Ellen E. Eischen, A p-adic Eisenstein measure for unitary groups, J. Reine Angew. Math. <b>699</b> (2015), 111–142.
[Eis20]	E. E. Eischen, Applications of nonarchimedean developments to archimedean nonvanishing results for twisted L-functions, Math. Res. Lett. <b>27</b> (2020), no. 4, 973–1002.
[Eis21]	Ellen Eischen, An introduction to Eisenstein measures, Journal de Théorie des Nombres de Bordeaux <b>33</b> (2021), no. 3.1, 779–808.
[EL21]	Ellen Eischen and Zheng Liu, Archimedean zeta integrals for unitary groups, Submitted. Preprint available at https://www.dropbox.com/s/daa1x4jjfbq6tm1/ UnitaryArchimedeanSeptember2021.pdf?dl=0.
[EM21a]	E Eischen and E Mantovan, <i>Entire Theta Operators at Unramified Primes</i> , International Mathematics Research Notices (2021), rnab190.
[EM21b]	E. Eischen and E. Mantovan, <i>p</i> -adic families of automorphic forms in the $\mu$ -ordinary setting, Amer. J. Math. <b>143</b> (2021), no. 1, 1–52.
[ERS22]	Ellen Eischen, Giovanni Rosso, and Shrenik Shah, Algebraicity and p-adic interpolation of spin $L$ -functions for $GSp_6$ , In preparation.
[EW16]	Ellen Eischen and Xin Wan, <i>p</i> -adic Eisenstein series and L-functions of certain cusp forms on definite unitary groups, J. Inst. Math. Jussieu <b>15</b> (2016), no. 3, 471–510.
[FC90]	Gerd Faltings and Ching-Li Chai, <i>Degeneration of abelian varieties</i> , Ergebnisse der Mathematik und ihrer Grenzgebiete (3) [Results in Mathematics and Related Areas (3)], vol. 22, Springer- Verlag, Berlin, 1990, With an appendix by David Mumford.
[FH91]	W. Fulton and J. Harris, <i>Representation theory</i> , Graduate Texts in Mathematics, vol. 129, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1991, A first course, Readings in Mathematics.
[Fla79]	D. Flath, <i>Decomposition of representations into tensor products</i> , Automorphic forms, representations and <i>L</i> -functions (Proc. Sympos. Pure Math., Oregon State Univ., Corvallis, Ore., 1977), Part 1, Proc. Sympos. Pure Math., XXXIII, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, R.I., 1979, pp. 179–183.
[Gar84]	Paul B. Garrett, <i>Pullbacks of Eisenstein series; applications</i> , Automorphic forms of several variables (Katata, 1983), Progr. Math., vol. 46, Birkhäuser Boston, Boston, MA, 1984, pp. 114–137.
[Gar08]	Paul Garrett, Values of Archimedean zeta integrals for unitary groups, Eisenstein series and applications, Progr. Math., vol. 258, Birkhäuser Boston, Boston, MA, 2008, pp. 125–148.
[Gel75]	Stephen S. Gelbart, <i>Automorphic forms on adèle groups</i> , Annals of Mathematics Studies, No. 83, Princeton University Press, Princeton, N.J.; University of Tokyo Press, Tokyo, 1975.
[Gel84]	Stephen Gelbart, An elementary introduction to the Langlands program, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. (N.S.) <b>10</b> (1984), no. 2, 177–219.
[Gel10]	Stephen S. Gelbart, <i>Class field theory, the Langlands program, and its application to number theory</i> , Automorphic forms and the Langlands program, Adv. Lect. Math. (ALM), vol. 9, Int. Press, Somerville, MA, 2010, pp. 21–67.
[GH19]	Jayce R Getz and Heekyoung Hahn, An introduction to automorphic representations, Available at website: https://www.math.duke.edu/~ hahn/GTM. pdf (2019).
[GJ72]	Roger Godement and Hervé Jacquet, Zeta functions of simple algebras, Lecture Notes in Mathematics, Vol. 260, Springer-Verlag, Berlin-New York, 1972.
[GL16]	Lucio Guerberoff and Jie Lin, Galois equivariance of critical values of L-functions for unitary groups, 2016.
[Gor02]	Eyal Z. Goren, <i>Lectures on Hilbert modular varieties and modular forms</i> , CRM Monograph Series, vol. 14, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2002, With the assistance of Marc-Hubert Nicole.
[Gre89]	Ralph Greenberg, <i>Iwasawa theory for p-adic representations</i> , Algebraic number theory, Adv. Stud. Pure Math., vol. 17, Academic Press, Boston, MA, 1989, pp. 97–137.

[Gre91]	, <i>Iwasawa theory for motives</i> , <i>L</i> -functions and arithmetic (Durham, 1989), London Math. Soc. Lecture Note Ser., vol. 153, Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 1991, pp. 211–233.
[Gre94]	, Iwasawa theory and p-adic deformations of motives, Motives (Seattle, WA, 1991),
[GS81]	Proc. Sympos. Pure Math., vol. 55, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1994, pp. 193–223. Catherine Goldstein and Norbert Schappacher, <i>Séries d'Eisenstein et fonctions L de courbes elliptiques à multiplication complexe</i> , J. Reine Angew. Math. <b>327</b> (1981), 184–218.
[GS83]	<u>, Conjecture de Deligne et <math>\Gamma</math>-hypothèse de Lichtenbaum sur les corps quadratiques imag-</u> inaires, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris Sér. I Math. <b>296</b> (1983), no. 15, 615–618.
[Gue16]	Lucio Guerberoff, Period relations for automorphic forms on unitary groups and critical values of L-functions, Doc. Math. <b>21</b> (2016), 1397–1458.
[Har81]	Michael Harris, Special values of zeta functions attached to Siegel modular forms, Ann. Sci. École Norm. Sup. (4) <b>14</b> (1981), no. 1, 77–120.
[Har84]	, Eisenstein series on Shimura varieties, Ann. of Math. (2) 119 (1984), no. 1, 59–94.
[Har86]	, Arithmetic vector bundles and automorphic forms on Shimura varieties. II, Compositio Math. <b>60</b> (1986), no. 3, 323–378.
[Har97]	, L-functions and periods of polarized regular motives, J. Reine Angew. Math. 483 (1997), 75–161.
[Har99]	, Cohomological automorphic forms on unitary groups. I. Rationality of the theta cor-
[]	<i>respondence</i> , Automorphic forms, automorphic representations, and arithmetic (Fort Worth, TX, 1996), Proc. Sympos. Pure Math., vol. 66, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1999, pp. 103–200.
[Har07a]	, Cohomological automorphic forms on unitary groups. II. Period relations and values
	of L-functions, Harmonic analysis, group representations, automorphic forms and invariant
	theory, Lect. Notes Ser. Inst. Math. Sci. Natl. Univ. Singap., vol. 12, World Sci. Publ., Hack-
	ensack, NJ, 2007, pp. 89–149.
[Har07b]	, Unitary groups and base change, https://webusers.imj-prg.fr/~michael.harris/
	SatoTate/notes/unitarygroups.pdf, 2007.
[Har08]	, A simple proof of rationality of Siegel-Weil Eisenstein series, Eisenstein series and
	applications, Progr. Math., vol. 258, Birkhäuser Boston, Boston, MA, 2008, pp. 149–185.
[Har10]	, Arithmetic applications of the Langlands program, Jpn. J. Math. 5 (2010), no. 1,
[IIIIII]	, <i>Interfactors of the Darighands program</i> , spin 5. Math. 6 (2010), no. 1, 1–71.
[11 01]	
[Har21]	, Shimura varieties for unitary groups and the doubling method, Relative Trace Formulas, Simons Symposia, Springer International Publishing, 2021, pp. 217–251.
[He17]	Hongyu He, On the Gan-Gross-Prasad conjecture for $U(p,q)$ , Invent. Math. <b>209</b> (2017), no. 3, 837–884.
[Hid85]	Haruzo Hida, A p-adic measure attached to the zeta functions associated with two elliptic
[111000]	modular forms. I, Invent. Math. <b>79</b> (1985), no. 1, 159–195.
[IIIZ0c]	
[HK06]	M. Hentschel and A. Krieg, A Hermitian analog of the Schottky form, Automorphic forms and
	zeta functions, World Sci. Publ., Hackensack, NJ, 2006, pp. 140–149.
[HL17]	Michael Harris and Jie Lin, Period relations and special values of Rankin-Selberg L-
	functions, Representation theory, number theory, and invariant theory, Progr. Math., vol.
	323, Birkhäuser/Springer, Cham, 2017, pp. 235–264.
[HLTT16]	Michael Harris, Kai-Wen Lan, Richard Taylor, and Jack Thorne, On the rigid cohomology of
L -1	certain Shimura varieties, Res. Math. Sci. 3 (2016), Paper No. 37, 308.
[11D 20]	
[HR20]	Günter Harder and A. Raghuram, Eisenstein cohomology for $GL_N$ and the special values of
	Rankin-Selberg L-functions, Annals of Mathematics Studies, vol. 203, Princeton University
	Press, Princeton, NJ, 2020.
[HS85]	G. Harder and N. Schappacher, Special values of Hecke L-functions and abelian integrals,
	Workshop Bonn 1984 (Bonn, 1984), Lecture Notes in Math., vol. 1111, Springer, Berlin, 1985,
	pp. 17–49.
[Ike01]	Tamotsu Ikeda, On the lifting of elliptic cusp forms to Siegel cusp forms of degree 2n, Ann. of
[INCOI]	
[ <b>T</b> ] 00]	Math. (2) <b>154</b> (2001), no. 3, 641–681.
[Ike08]	, On the lifting of Hermitian modular forms, Compos. Math. 144 (2008), no. 5, 1107–
	1154.

54	E. E. EISCHEN
[IO06]	Taku Ishii and Takayuki Oda, A short history on investigation of the special values of zeta and L-functions of totally real number fields, Automorphic forms and zeta functions, World Sci.
[Iwa69a]	<ul> <li>Publ., Hackensack, NJ, 2006, pp. 198–233.</li> <li>Kenkichi Iwasawa, Analogies between number fields and function fields, Some Recent Advances in the Basic Sciences, Vol. 2 (Proc. Annual Sci. Conf., Belfer Grad. School Sci., Yeshiva Univ., New York, 1965-1966), Belfer Graduate School of Science, Yeshiva Univ., New York, 1969, pp. 202–208</li> </ul>
[Iwa69b]	pp. 203–208. , On p-adic L-functions, Ann. of Math. (2) <b>89</b> (1969), 198–205.
[Jac79]	Hervé Jacquet, <i>Principal L-functions of the linear group</i> , Automorphic forms, representations and <i>L</i> -functions (Proc. Sympos. Pure Math., Oregon State Univ., Corvallis, Ore., 1977), Part 2, Proc. Sympos. Pure Math., XXXIII, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, R.I., 1979, pp. 63–86.
[Jan03]	Jens C. Jantzen, <i>Representations of algebraic groups</i> , second ed., Mathematical Surveys and Monographs, vol. 107, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2003.
[JZ20]	Dihua Jiang and Lei Zhang, Arthur parameters and cuspidal automorphic modules of classical groups, Ann. of Math. (2) <b>191</b> (2020), no. 3, 739–827.
[Kat73]	N. Katz, <i>p-adic properties of modular schemes and modular forms</i> , Modular functions of one variable, III (Proc. Internat. Summer School, Univ. Antwerp, Antwerp, 1972), Springer, Berlin, 1973, pp. 69–190. Lecture Notes in Mathematics, Vol. 350.
[Kat78]	Nicholas M. Katz, <i>p-adic L-functions for CM fields</i> , Invent. Math. <b>49</b> (1978), no. 3, 199–297.
[Kli62]	Helmut Klingen, Über die Werte der Dedekindschen Zetafunktion, Math. Ann. 145 (1961/62), 265–272.
[Klo09]	Krzysztof Klosin, Congruences among modular forms on $U(2,2)$ and the Bloch-Kato conjecture, Ann. Inst. Fourier (Grenoble) <b>59</b> (2009), no. 1, 81–166.
[Klo15]	<u>, The Maass space for <math>U(2,2)</math> and the Bloch-Kato conjecture for the symmetric square</u> motive of a modular form, J. Math. Soc. Japan <b>67</b> (2015), no. 2, 797–860.
[Kna97]	A. W. Knapp, <i>Introduction to the Langlands program</i> , Representation theory and automorphic forms (Edinburgh, 1996), Proc. Sympos. Pure Math., vol. 61, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1997, pp. 245–302.
[Kob93]	Neal Koblitz, Introduction to elliptic curves and modular forms, second ed., Graduate Texts in Mathematics, vol. 97, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1993.
[Koj82]	Hisashi Kojima, An arithmetic of Hermitian modular forms of degree two, Invent. Math. 69 (1982), no. 2, 217–227.
[Kot92]	Robert E. Kottwitz, <i>Points on some Shimura varieties over finite fields</i> , J. Amer. Math. Soc. <b>5</b> (1992), no. 2, 373–444.
[Kud03]	Stephen S. Kudla, <i>From modular forms to automorphic representations</i> , An introduction to the Langlands program (Jerusalem, 2001), Birkhäuser Boston, Boston, MA, 2003, pp. 133–151.
[Kum50a]	E. E. Kummer, Allgemeiner Beweis des Fermatschen Satzes, daßdie Gleichung $x^{\lambda} + y^{\lambda} = z^{\lambda}$ durch ganze Zahlen unlösbar ist, für alle diejenigen Potenz-Exponenten $\lambda$ welche ungerade Primzahlen sind und in den Zählern der ersten $1/2(\lambda)$ Bernoullischen zahlen als Factoren nicht vorkommen, J. Reine Angew. Math. <b>40</b> (1850), 130–138.
[Kum50b]	<u>,</u> Bestimmung der Anzahl nicht äquivalenter Classen für die aus $\lambda^{ten}$ Wurzeln der Einheit gebildeten complexen Zahlen und die idealen Factoren derselben, J. Reine Angew. Math. <b>40</b> (1850), 93–116.
[Kum51]	, Über eine allgemeine Eigenschaft der rationalen Entwickelungscoefficienten einer bes- timmten Gattung analytischer Functionen, J. Reine Angew. Math. <b>41</b> (1851), 368–372.
[Kur78]	Nobushige Kurokawa, Examples of eigenvalues of Hecke operators on Siegel cusp forms of degree two, Invent. Math. 49 (1978), no. 2, 149–165.
[Lab11]	JP. Labesse, <i>Changement de base CM et séries discrètes</i> , On the stabilization of the trace formula, Stab. Trace Formula Shimura Var. Arith. Appl., vol. 1, Int. Press, Somerville, MA, 2011, pp. 429–470.
[Lan80]	R. P. Langlands, <i>L</i> -functions and automorphic representations, Proceedings of the Inter- national Congress of Mathematicians (Helsinki, 1978), Acad. Sci. Fennica, Helsinki, 1980, pp. 165–175.
[Lan12]	Kai-Wen Lan, Comparison between analytic and algebraic constructions of toroidal compacti- fications of PEL-type Shimura varieties, J. Reine Angew. Math. <b>664</b> (2012), 163–228.

[Lan13]	, Arithmetic compactifications of PEL-type shimura varieties, London Mathematical Society Monographs, vol. 36, Princeton University Press, 2013.
[Lan16] [Lan20]	, Higher Koecher's principle, Math. Res. Lett. 23 (2016), no. 1, 163-199. , An example-based introduction to Shimura varieties, To appear in the proceedings of the ETHZ Summer School on Motives and Complex Multiplication. Preprint available at https://www-users.cse.umn.edu/~kwlan/articles/intro-sh-ex.pdf.
[Li92]	Jian-Shu Li, Nonvanishing theorems for the cohomology of certain arithmetic quotients, J. Reine Angew. Math. <b>428</b> (1992), 177–217.
[Liu14]	Yifeng Liu, Relative trace formulae toward Bessel and Fourier-Jacobi periods on unitary groups, Manuscripta Math. 145 (2014), no. 1-2, 1-69.
[Liu15]	Dongwen Liu, Archimedean zeta integrals on $U(2,1)$ , J. Funct. Anal. <b>269</b> (2015), no. 1, 229–270.
[Liu19]	Zheng Liu, Nearly overconvergent Siegel modular forms, Annales de l'Institut Fourier <b>69</b> (2019), no. 6, 2439–2506.
[Liu20]	, p-adic L-functions for ordinary families on symplectic groups, J. Inst. Math. Jussieu <b>19</b> (2020), no. 4, 1287–1347.
[Liu21]	, The doubling archimedean zeta integrals for p-adic interpolation, Math. Res. Lett. 28 (2021), no. 1, 145–173.
[LL16]	Bingchen Lin and Dongwen Liu, Archimedean zeta integrals on $U(n,1)$ , J. Number Theory <b>169</b> (2016), 62–78.
[Loe08]	David Loeffler, <i>Explicit calculations of automorphic forms for definite unitary groups</i> , LMS J. Comput. Math. <b>11</b> (2008), 326–342.
[Maa79a]	Hans Maass, Über eine Spezialschar von Modulformen zweiten Grades, Invent. Math. <b>52</b> (1979), no. 1, 95–104.
[Maa79b]	, Über eine Spezialschar von Modulformen zweiten Grades. II, Invent. Math. 53 (1979), no. 3, 249–253.
[Maa79c]	<u>, Über eine Spezialschar von Modulformen zweiten Grades. III</u> , Invent. Math. <b>53</b> (1979), no. 3, 255–265.
[Mil92] [Miy06]	James S. Milne, <i>The points on a Shimura variety modulo a prime of good reduction</i> , The zeta functions of Picard modular surfaces, Univ. Montréal, Montreal, QC, 1992, pp. 151–253. Toshitsune Miyake, <i>Modular forms</i> , english ed., Springer Monographs in Mathematics,
[ ] - ]	Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2006, Translated from the 1976 Japanese original by Yoshitaka Maeda.
[Pol17]	Aaron Pollack, The spin L-function on $GSp_6$ for Siegel modular forms, Compositio Mathematica <b>153</b> (2017), no. 7, 1391–1432.
[PSR87]	I. Piatetski-Shapiro and S. Rallis, <i>L-functions for the classical groups</i> , pp. 1–52, Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg, 1987.
[PY96]	Cris Poor and David S. Yuen, Dimensions of spaces of Siegel modular forms of low weight in degree four, Bull. Austral. Math. Soc. 54 (1996), no. 2, 309–315.
[Ran52]	R. A. Rankin, The scalar product of modular forms, Proc. London Math. Soc. (3) 2 (1952), 198–217.
[RS17]	Kenneth Ribet and William Stein, <i>Lectures on modular forms and Hecke operators</i> , 2017, https://wstein.org/books/ribet-stein/main.pdf.
[RSZ21]	M. Rapoport, B. Smithling, and W. Zhang, On Shimura varieties for unitary groups, Pure Appl. Math. Q. 17 (2021), no. 2, 773–837.
[Sat63]	Ichirô Satake, Theory of spherical functions on reductive algebraic groups over p-adic fields, Inst. Hautes Études Sci. Publ. Math. (1963), no. 18, 5–69.
[Sch15]	Peter Scholze, On torsion in the cohomology of locally symmetric varieties, Ann. of Math. (2) <b>182</b> (2015), no. 3, 945–1066.
[Ser73a]	JP. Serre, A course in arithmetic, Graduate Texts in Mathematics, No. 7, Springer-Verlag, New York-Heidelberg, 1973, Translated from the French.
[Ser73b]	Jean-Pierre Serre, <i>Formes modulaires et fonctions zêta p-adiques</i> , Modular functions of one variable, III (Proc. Internat. Summer School, Univ. Antwerp, 1972), Springer, Berlin, 1973, pp. 191–268. Lecture Notes in Math., Vol. 350.

E. E. EISCHI
--------------

[Sha80]	Freydoon Shahidi, On nonvanishing of L-functions, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. (N.S.) 2 (1980), no. 3, 462–464.
[Sha10]	, Eisenstein series and automorphic L-functions, American Mathematical Society Col- loquium Publications, vol. 58, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2010.
[Shi75]	Goro Shimura, On some arithmetic properties of modular forms of one and several variables, Ann. of Math. (2) <b>102</b> (1975), no. 3, 491–515.
[Shi76]	, The special values of the zeta functions associated with cusp forms, Comm. Pure Appl. Math. <b>29</b> (1976), no. 6, 783–804.
[Shi78]	, The special values of the zeta functions associated with Hilbert modular forms, Duke Math. J. <b>45</b> (1978), no. 3, 637–679.
[Shi82]	, Confluent hypergeometric functions on tube domains, Math. Ann. <b>260</b> (1982), no. 3, 269–302.
[Shi84]	, On differential operators attached to certain representations of classical groups, Invent. Math. <b>77</b> (1984), no. 3, 463–488.
[Shi86]	, On a class of nearly holomorphic automorphic forms, Ann. of Math. (2) <b>123</b> (1986), no. 2, 347–406.
[Shi97]	, Euler products and Eisenstein series, CBMS Regional Conference Series in Mathemat- ics, vol. 93, Published for the Conference Board of the Mathematical Sciences, Washington, DC, 1997.
[Shi00]	, Arithmeticity in the theory of automorphic forms, Mathematical Surveys and Mono- graphs, vol. 82, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2000.
[Shi11]	Sug Woo Shin, Galois representations arising from some compact Shimura varieties, Ann. of Math. (2) <b>173</b> (2011), no. 3, 1645–1741.
[Sie69]	Carl Ludwig Siegel, <i>Berechnung von Zetafunktionen an ganzzahligen Stellen</i> , Nachr. Akad. Wiss. Göttingen MathPhys. Kl. II <b>1969</b> (1969), 87–102.
[Sie70]	, Über die Fourierschen Koeffizienten von Modulformen, Nachr. Akad. Wiss. Göttingen MathPhys. Kl. II <b>1970</b> (1970), 15–56.
[Ski12]	Christopher Skinner, Galois representations associated with unitary groups over $\mathbb{Q}$ , Algebra Number Theory <b>6</b> (2012), no. 8, 1697–1717.
[Ste07]	William Stein, <i>Modular forms, a computational approach</i> , Graduate Studies in Mathematics, vol. 79, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2007, With an appendix by Paul E. Gunnells.
[Stu81]	Jacob Sturm, The critical values of zeta functions associated to the symplectic group, Duke Math. J. 48 (1981), no. 2, 327–350.
[SU06]	Christopher Skinner and Eric Urban, Vanishing of L-functions and ranks of Selmer groups, International Congress of Mathematicians. Vol. II, Eur. Math. Soc., Zürich, 2006, pp. 473– 500.
[SU14]	, The Iwasawa main conjectures for GL <sub>2</sub> , Invent. Math. <b>195</b> (2014), no. 1, 1–277.
[Tit79]	J. Tits, <i>Reductive groups over local fields</i> , Automorphic forms, representations and <i>L</i> -functions (Proc. Sympos. Pure Math., Oregon State Univ., Corvallis, Ore., 1977), Part 1, Proc. Sympos. Pure Math., XXXIII, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, R.I., 1979, pp. 29–69.
[Vu19a]	An Hoa Vu, Hermitian Maass lift for general level, J. Number Theory 198 (2019), 250–292.
[Vu19b]	, <i>Hermitian Maass Lift for General Level</i> , ProQuest LLC, Ann Arbor, MI, 2019, Thesis (Ph.D.)–City University of New York.
[Wan19]	Xin Wan, Iwasawa theory for $U(r, s)$ , bloch-kato conjecture and functional equation, 2019.
[Wei99]	André Weil, <i>Elliptic functions according to Eisenstein and Kronecker</i> , Classics in Mathematics, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1999, Reprint of the 1976 original.
[Wil21]	Brandon Williams, <i>Two graded rings of Hermitian modular forms</i> , Preprint available at https: //btw-47.github.io/hermitian7.pdf.
[Xue14]	Hang Xue, The Gan-Gross-Prasad conjecture for $U(n) \times U(n)$ , Adv. Math. <b>262</b> (2014), 1130–1191.
[Xue19]	, On the global Gan-Gross-Prasad conjecture for unitary groups: approximating smooth transfer of Jacquet-Rallis, J. Reine Angew. Math. <b>756</b> (2019), 65–100.
[Yun11]	Zhiwei Yun, <i>The fundamental lemma of Jacquet and Rallis</i> , Duke Math. J. <b>156</b> (2011), no. 2, 167–227, With an appendix by Julia Gordon.

# AUTOMORPHIC FORMS ON UNITARY GROUPS

- [Zag81] D. Zagier, Sur la conjecture de Saito-Kurokawa (d'après H. Maass), Seminar on Number Theory, Paris 1979–80, Progr. Math., vol. 12, Birkhäuser, Boston, Mass., 1981, pp. 371–394.
- [Zha14] Wei Zhang, Fourier transform and the global Gan-Gross-Prasad conjecture for unitary groups, Ann. of Math. (2) **180** (2014), no. 3, 971–1049.

#### INDEX

> 0 means positive definite, 16 C, 12D, 10 $E_{f_{s,\chi}}, 38$ G, 11 $GU(V,\langle,\rangle), 8$ GU(a,b), 9 $GU_W, 44$  $GU_{a,b}(\mathbb{R}), 9$  $GU_{a,b}^{+}, 19$  $G_1, 12$  $I(s, \chi), 38$  $I_v(s, \chi), 39$  $I_{a,b}, 9$  $M(s,\chi), 38$  $M_{q}(z) = M(q, z), 20$ P Siegel parabolic subgroup of  $U_W$ , 37  $SU(V, \langle, \rangle), 8$ SU(a,b), 9 $SU_{a,b}(\mathbb{R}), 9$ U, 8U(A) where A denotes a matrix, 9  $U(V,\langle,\rangle), 8$ U(a, b), 9 $U_W, 37$  $U_{a,b}(\mathbb{R}), 9$ V. 11 $V^{\Delta}, 37$  $V_1, 11$  $V_2, 11$  $V_{\Delta}, 37$  $V_{\mathbb{C}}, 11$  $V_{\mathbb{R}}, 11$  $X^+, 18$  $X^*, 18$  $X_{\mathcal{K}}, 16$  $Z(\varphi, \varphi', f_{s,\chi})$  the doubling integral, 38  $[U \times U], 38$ [h], 16 $B, \, 18$  $\mathcal{A}, 24$  $\mathcal{E}^{\kappa}, 25$  $\mathcal{O}_D, 11$  $\mathcal{O}_L$  the ring of integers in a number field L, 13 Gal in the superscript of a number field denotes the Galois closure of a number field, 13  $\Gamma_i, 16$  $\Gamma_{\mathcal{K}}, 17$ H, 18 $Mat_{a \times b}, 16$  $N_B, 18$  $\operatorname{Res}_{K^+/\mathbb{O}}, 9$  $Sh_{\mathcal{K}}, 15$ 

 $\Sigma_K, 12$ A, 14  $\mathbb{A}^{\times}, 33$  $\mathbb{A}^{p,\infty}, 15$  $\mathbb{A}_L$  the ring of adeles for a number field L, 28  $\mathbb{A}_L^{\times}$  ideles of a number field  $L,\,2$  $\mathbb{A}_f, 14$ \*, 11 K, 10 $\mathcal{K}, 14$  $\mathcal{K}^c_{\infty}, 26$  $\mathcal{K}_{\infty}, 15$  $\eta = \eta_a, 9$  $\operatorname{Herm}_n$ , 30  $\lambda_g(z) = \lambda(g, z), 19$  $\langle,\rangle,11$  $\langle , \rangle$  unique U-invariant pairing, 39  $\langle,\rangle \oplus -\langle,\rangle, 37$  $\mathbb{G}_m, 10$  $\mathbb{S}_{\kappa}, 18$  $\mathcal{E} = \mathcal{E}_{\mathcal{K}}, 24$  $\mathcal{E}^{\pm}, 24$  $\mathcal{H}_n, 17$  $\mathcal{H}_{a,b}, 16$  $\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{K},S}, 23$  $\mathcal{A}(G), 29$  $\mathcal{A}(G)_{\chi}, 29$  $A_0(G), 29$  $\mathcal{A}_0(G)_{\chi}, 29$  $\mathcal{H}^+, 16$  $\mathcal{T}_L$  where L denotes a number field, 12 **D**, 10  $\mathfrak{H}_g, 47$  $\mathfrak{g}, 28$  $M_{\mathcal{K}}, 14$  $\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{K}}, 15$  $\mu_{g,z} = \mu(g,z), 19$  $\nu, 12$  $\pi$ , 24  $K^+, 11$ E, 11 $\rho_{\kappa} = \rho_{\kappa,R}, \ 18$  $\tau^*,\,12$  $\underline{\Omega}_{A/S}, 23$  $\underline{\omega}^{\overline{\kappa}}, 25$ \* in the righthand superscript of a matrix denotes the transpose conjugate of that matrix, i.e.  $A^* = {}^{\bar{t}}\bar{A}$  for a matrix A, 9 $a_{\tau}, 12$  $b_{\tau}, 12$  $f \parallel_{\rho} g, 20$  $f|_{\rho} g, 20$  $f_{s,\chi}, 38$ 

h, 11  $j_g(z) = j(g, z), 20$ n, 11  $p_z, 17$ <sup>t</sup> superscript on lefthand side of matrix denotes

transpose of that matrix, i.e.  ${}^{t}A$  denotes the transpose of a matrix A, 9